SOUTH AUSTRALIAN
CRICKET ASSOCIATION INC.

ANNUAL REPORT 2015/16

The 145th Annual and Financial Report
for the year ended 30 June 2016 is to be
presented at the Annual General Meeting
(AGM) of the South Australian Cricket
Association Inc. (SACA) which will be
held in the William Magarey Room, Level
3, Riverbank Stand at Adelaide Oval on
Wednesday 21 September 2016 at 6pm.
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Front cover: Two historic moments from the 2015/16 summer – the world-first
Day-Night Test match at Adelaide Oval and the Breezair SA Scorpions win the
Women’s National Cricket League title.

VISION STATEMENT
To be South Australia’s
favourite sport

PRESIDENT’S REPORT
“... SACA is investing more into the
game and key community and club
projects than ever before.”

After another recordbreaking and historic
summer of cricket,
the South Australian
Cricket Association
moves into the
2016/17 season in
a strong financial
position with our
game in great shape.
Outside of the
2014/15 summer,
which included the Cricket World Cup 2015, we
had more fans attend cricket at Adelaide Oval
than ever before.
It has perhaps been an enlightening 12
months - who would have thought the
Adelaide Oval would host a Test Match lasting
only three days (and nights), yet be such a
resounding success. Ultimately what we want
to produce is a contest between bat and ball,
which is what unfolded.
We achieved the ultimate on-field success in
women’s cricket as the Breezair SA Scorpions
won the Women’s National Cricket League,
breaking a 21-year drought.
The West End Redbacks made the final in both
the Matador One-Day Cup and Sheffield Shield,
whilst Travis Head and Adam Zampa both
made their Australian debuts.
Cricket participation in South Australia has
risen to more than 112,000 and significantly,
SACA is investing more into the game and key
community and club projects than ever before.
SACA MEMBERSHIP
SACA Membership numbers for the 2015/16
summer were solid and consistent. However,
the SACA Board remains focused on providing
improved value for your membership
subscription.
The Village Green proved to be as popular as
ever, with many of you enjoying the added
entertainment options at the day-night Test last
November.
SACA
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Just prior to the Test match, SACA launched
the Avenue of Honour and unveiled the Lynn
Fullston Lawns. This was a significant event for
SACA and heralded the inaugural recognition
of a female athlete at Adelaide Oval.

SACA staff worked behind the scenes on the
Lyn Fullston Lawns and the Avenue of Honour
for over a year. We wanted to recognise some
of South Australia’s cricketing greats, both men
and women, who have served our State with
pride over many years.
As you walk through the SACA Avenue of
Honour, you are taking a stroll through our
history. Recognition of history is a continuing
task for the SACA with more on our agenda.
PREMIER CRICKET REVIEW
There are numerous reasons for the SACA to
review Grade (now Premier) cricket, amongst
which is that SACA has long been criticized for
not providing Sheffield Shield ready cricketers.
Our last Shield win was in 1995/96. Throughout
that last 20 year period we have hardly
saturated the Australian team with South
Australians.
The Board of SACA, in my view, has a duty to
address this poor performance. After all, I hear
and read about these failings regularly from
the SACA Members and other concerned
South Australians.
For too long South Australian Premier Cricket
has had a bye. Many if not most of our
community cricketers don’t have a bye, yet
they are not striving to play for the State nor
country. However, for some reason, those that
have such aspirations have a holiday weekend
(or weekends) through the summer. Potentially,
our State cricketers could be dropped and
then have two weeks absence before they
play a Premier game. Is this satisfactory or just
convenient to leave it as is?
In June 2016 we confirmed that the West
Torrens District Cricket Club and Port Adelaide
Cricket Club have been granted additional
time to work through merger discussions. As a
result, both clubs have been advised that they
will compete in the West End Premier Cricket
First Grade competition for the 2016/17 season.
The SACA Board had previously communicated
to these two clubs that its preferred position is
for them to merge. Therefore, the Board expects
to see genuine efforts in that regard.
In my view, it is a duty of the SACA Board
to provide a Premier competition that most
effectively provides Sheffield Shield quality
players. This is one of numerous reasons that
we look to provide a 12 team Premier Cricket
competition commencing in 2017/18.

SACA has used Park 25 for about 30 years
and none of the buildings there has been
upgraded through that entire period. We use
this area for many of our game development
and female programs while we also train our
umpires there.

John was driving various SACA cricket history
and museum initiatives. These will come to
fruition, albeit unfortunately without John in
person, but he'll be there in spirit and in the
hearts of many SACA Members. The Board has
strong resolve to continue John's legacy.
I would also like to acknowledge the retirement
of Lauren Ebsary, who across 13 seasons made
a great contribution to women’s cricket in
South Australia. It is fitting that Lauren was able
to hold aloft the WNCL trophy as a winning
captain in her final season.

The facilities are not at all suitable for families
and they're definitely not at all suitable for
female sports persons.

Her leadership was crucial in ending the
21-year drought for the Scorpions and we
wish her all the best for the future.

Once the project is completed in 2018, we will
have a quality facility for community use that
will benefit multiple stakeholders and the longterm sustainability of cricket.

We have also seen changes at Board
level too during the recent period. I want
to acknowledge Andrew Sincock's, Sam
Parkinson's and Kevin Griffith’s service as
longstanding Board Members.

PARK 25
As highlighted last year, we have started to
invest into the Park 25 project. Significantly, this
is the largest investment into cricket outside of
Adelaide Oval.

FINANCIAL RESULTS
A successful and stable 2015/16 financial
year has enabled the Association to use these
funds to benefit cricket in a targeted and
strategic manner. With that in mind, we are now
heading into ‘a new domain’ and investment
into securing cricket content at Adelaide Oval
is crucial.
The return of the Australia Day One Day
International has a significant financial impact
and it allows investment back into the Village
Green for SACA Members to enjoy.
We also need to be mindful of the fact that we
need to continue to grow the investment into
the game itself.
While projects such as Park 25 are important,
we want to continue to invest in high
performance and game development
programs and we have recently seen the
results of that.
TRIBUTES AND MILESTONES
In December 2015 we were deeply saddened
at the passing of long-serving Board Member,
Dr. The Hon John Bannon AO. John made
a massive contribution to South Australian
cricket, Australian cricket and the recent
redevelopment of Adelaide Oval.
Through negotiations of the Adelaide Oval
redevelopment and Australian cricket
governance reforms, he was always a voice of
reason: calm and considered.
His unmatched understanding of history will
be sorely missed, for no sport can reflect on
its current position without knowing what
went before. He had enormous knowledge of
Australian history, whether from cricket
to politics.

They have all made very significant
contributions to cricket in this State and are all
well known throughout cricket circles in South
Australia and Australia. Andrew Sincock and
Sam Parkinson are former South Australian
Sheffield Shield winning players, a terrific
achievement in itself. Furthermore, the three
of them have won Premier Cricket’s highest
individual award, the Bradman Medal. They
have provided many years of service and
passion for South Australian cricketing success.
As for Andrew Sincock, he will be long
remembered as the inaugural, colourful
Chairman of the Adelaide Strikers in his
inimitable fashion.
SUMMARY
In closing, I would like to thank Keith Bradshaw
for his outstanding leadership as Chief
Executive of the Association.
He is supported by a driven team of staff who
continue to deliver outstanding results for
cricket and the SACA Members.
Finally, thank you again to our SACA Members
for your continued support of the game.
We are fortunate to have a large and
passionate membership base, the envy of
many other Associations. We are probably the
largest purely cricket Association in the world,
so we have a lot to maintain let alone build
upon.
Andrew Sinclair
SACA President

CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S REPORT
“I am lucky to have an extremely
talented and hard-working
team, on and off the field.”

In reflecting on the
past 12 months, I am
filled with a great
sense of pride in what
SACA’s players, staff,
volunteers and all
who are associated
with South Australian
cricket have achieved.
Their passion and
sheer hard work has
brought enjoyment
to our many fans and participants, not only in
South Australia but also across the world.

The Adelaide Strikers’ New Year’s Eve fixture will
also remain at Adelaide Oval for the next five
years which has now also become one of the
iconic games in our sporting calendar.

There are some key strategic priorities I would
like to share and celebrate the success of the
2015/16 summer:

We were also excited to secure an additional
T20 International double-header in February
2017 at Adelaide Oval, featuring Australia’s
men’s and women’s teams taking on Sri Lanka
and New Zealand respectively.

DAY–NIGHT TEST CRICKET
We were thrilled in November to host the
world’s first Day–Night Test match and what a
success it was.
A total of 123,736 people attended the
Commonwealth Bank Day–Night Test match
between Australia and New Zealand over just
three days which was a fantastic result.
The fans voted with their feet and showed what
they want to see and with an overwhelming
number of people who travelled to Adelaide
from both interstate and overseas, it was a
great result for South Australia.
We saw a thrilling contest between bat and
ball and there is no doubt Adelaide Oval will
again prove to be a fantastic venue to host
day–night cricket as we prepare for South
Africa this season.
I believe we are going to see more and more
day-night Test cricket and there is no better
place to host day–night Test cricket than
Adelaide Oval.
MORE CRICKET CONTENT FOR ADELAIDE OVAL
SACA has been in discussions with Cricket
Australia for the past 18 months regarding a
long-term deal to secure cricket content at
Adelaide Oval.
SACA
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Cricket on Australia Day at Adelaide Oval
is iconic and part of our DNA. To have
secured this fixture for another five years
is incredibly exciting.

Attendance numbers not only last summer but
also historically have showed that the South
Australian public attends cricket better than
any other state per capita.
The return of the Australia Day ODI was a
significant win for SACA Members and cricket
fans and we will continue to work hard to
ensure we secure the best international
content for the future.

In my view, our content is unparalleled in
the country.
WOMEN’S CRICKET
It has been a landmark 12 months for women’s
cricket and one of great success for our state.
I was lucky enough to be in Sydney last
November for the Breezair SA Scorpions’
maiden WNCL title victory, ending New South
Wales’ 10-year dominance of the competition.
Led by coach, Andrea McCauley, and captain,
Lauren Ebsary, it was fantastic to see SACA’s
increased investment into women’s cricket
come to fruition and I can honestly say it was
one of the most enjoyable days I have ever
experienced in cricket.
The rise of the Women’s Big Bash League
heralded a new era for women’s cricket with
double-headers attracting big crowds and
unprecedented TV ratings. The WBBL will only
get bigger, showcasing the world’s best female
cricketers and providing a visible pathway for
young girls to aspire to.
RESURGENCE OF THE REDBACKS
Under the leadership of Head Coach, Jamie
Siddons and Captain, Travis Head, the West
End Redbacks qualified for both the Matador
Cup and Sheffield Shield Finals – something we
have not achieved in 20 years.

While the team fell at the final hurdle, our
young Redbacks team produced an exciting
brand of cricket in what proved to be a hardfought and entertaining Shield final on a
fantastic pitch at Gliderol Stadium.
The emergence of players such as Travis Head
and Adam Zampa into the Australian team,
along with Jake Lehmann, Joe Mennie and
Daniel Worrall gaining an opportunity with
Australia A, shows we are developing talent
and achieving results.
General Manager High Performance, Tim
Nielsen, has brought together an outstanding
High Performance department, including what
I believe is the best support staff team
in Australia.
The players’ fitness levels under Physical
Performance Manager Stephen Schwerdt were
evident with our on-field results. John Porter
heads our sports science and sports medicine
program while Rob Cassell as our bowling
coach has developed some of Australia’s
finest talent.
Shaun Williams and Shane McDermott head a
development program that is now promoting
more local talent through the South Australian
pathways – our depth in talent has never been
in better shape.
GRASSROOTS AND PARTICIPATIONS
Each season SACA drives cricket participation
as part of the commitment to Australian
Cricket’s vision of cricket being Australia’s
favourite sport.
SACA has a deep understanding of the
market and is well placed to build on cricket’s
popularity to ensure that cricket is a sport
for all and the sport choice for all South
Australians.
I am very proud of our Game Development
department staff who have worked tirelessly to
promote our game. With 105,471 playing the
game in some form in South Australia and an
additional 7,066 playing indoor cricket, cricket
participation rates have never been healthier
and continue to grow.
ADELAIDE STRIKERS
The Adelaide Strikers are the talk of the town
during the summer months. In BBL|05, we
dominated the league in a number of key
areas including:
• No.1 in average attendance (42,437)
• No.1 in total attendance (169,748)
• No.1 average TV audience (1.164 million).

Incredibly, 31% of all BBL|05 attendances
involved an Adelaide Strikers match and
Adelaide Oval boasted four of the top five
match attendances.
The BBL is bringing new audiences to the
game and is now on average the 8th highest
attended league in the world (ahead of the
Major Baseball League in the USA).
I know that ‘Dizzy’ Gillespie is already looking
forward to coming back to Adelaide for BBL|06
and taking the team that one step further.
A SUCCESSFUL FINANCIAL YEAR
The financial success of 2015/16, an operating
cash surplus of $9.1 million ($7.4 million in
2015), has been underpinned by the utilisation
of Adelaide Oval and our record attendances
during the summer.
Excluding the Cricket World Cup 2015, we
saw the greatest number of cricket attendees
during the 2015/16 summer than we have ever
had at Adelaide Oval in 140 years.
The challenge of what has been an
enormously successful summer of international
fixtures and Strikers matches and filling
Adelaide Oval, is that we need to continue
to generate the financial results we have
this summer.
Moving forward, we need to remain cognisant
of the fact we have the best oval in the world
and for want of a better term, we need to
‘sweat the asset’ for all South Australians. While
cricket will remain our priority, the stadium must
continue to attract major international events.
PEOPLE
I have always said that the key to a good
organisation is to surround yourself with good
people. I am lucky to have an extremely
talented and hard-working team, on and
off the field.
With the support I am given at Board level, to
my executive team and staff of more than 80
strong, our members should know that SACA is
in a strong and viable position as we move into
an exciting era for cricket in this state.
Thank you again to all our SACA Members
and cricket fans for your continued support
of our Association.
Keith Bradshaw
SACA Chief Executive

HIGH PERFORMANCE

‘We are excited with what we have achieved
this year and there is no doubt that we have
laid the foundation for an exciting future of
cricket in South Australia.’
SCORPIONS REACH THE
SUMMIT AND REDBACKS
IMPROVING FAST
Season 2015/16 represented a big summer
of cricket for South Australia with our women
achieving some long-awaited success in the
Women’s National Cricket League (WNCL) and
our men’s teams showing big improvements in
both the Matador One-Day Cup and Sheffield
Shield competitions.
After rocketing up the ladder to claim a spot
in the WNCL final last year, the Breezair SA
Scorpions went one better, bringing home their
first title in 21 years. Led by captain, Lauren
Ebsary, and coach, Andrea McCauley, it was a
massive moment for our women who, on the
back of a century from Sarah Taylor and gritty
half-century from Bridget Patterson, broke New
South Wales’ 10-year reign as title holders. It’s a
credit to the hard work put in by Andrea and
everyone involved in the women’s programs
and fantastic to see some reward after
Andrea’s appointment as the Scorpions first
full-time coach last year.

HIGH
PERFORMANCE
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Perhaps the biggest influence on the team’s
success was the positive culture developed by
the players and staff, exemplified by Australian
all-rounder Sarah Coyte joining our side from
New South Wales. That reputation was also
further strengthened post-season as our
women were awarded the Benaud Spirit of
Cricket Award for playing their cricket in the
spirit of the game. With four internationally
contracted players in the side, including
Sarah Coyte, Megan Schutt, Sarah Taylor and
Sophie Devine, we can pride ourselves on how
our star players have aided that supportive
learning environment. Their professionalism
and experience has clearly rubbed off on our
younger players as well, with four Scorpions
recognised for their outstanding summer with
a position in Australia’s Commonwealth Bank
Shooting Stars squad that toured Sri Lanka in
March and April.

It was also a big year for the West End
Redbacks, who climbed from bottom of the
table last season to contest in the Matador
One-Day Cup and Sheffield Shield finals.
Despite falling just short in both matches, it is a
positive sign that we are on the right track and
with a bit more consistency and experience
we are confident the team can go all the way.
With a new coach and captain, a ‘world’s best’
mentality has been firmly engraved in our
young group and we can rest assured they’re
already hard at work looking to go one step
further next year.
Several players also enjoyed breakout
summers, defining themselves against
some of the more experienced opposition
in the competition. The team’s success and
impressive individual efforts caught the eyes
of cricketing pundits, with Travis Head named
Sheffield Shield Player of the Year and Alex
Ross receiving the Bradman Young Cricketer
of the Year award. Australian selectors also
took notice with Travis and Adam Zampa both
making their national debuts in the games’
shorter formats. Kane Richardson announced
his recall to the Australian ODI team with a
man-of-the-match performance against India
in Canberra, while Chadd Sayers was named
in the Australian Test squad that toured New
Zealand in what was one of our strongest years
representing the country in recent times.
Change was also on the cards for our Adelaide
Strikers, but the result was the same as our
team was again the side to beat this summer.
Finishing top of the table for the second year
running, the Strikers had a fantastic season
under new coach Jason Gillespie and new
captain Brad Hodge. Although we were
eliminated in the semi-final, the team flourished
under fresh leadership and we’re sure they’ll
learn a lot from another finals appearance
this summer. Our fans also confirmed their
reputation as the best in the league as they
turned out in full force to fill Adelaide Oval.

Above: West End Redbacks’ captain Travis Head poses with Victorian captain Matthew Wade ahead of the Sheffield Shield Final.

This year also marked a big change in
women’s cricket, with the inaugural Rebel
Women’s Big Bash League launched in
December. Although our WBBL Strikers fell
short of a finals berth, it was a successful
first year in the competition as the women
recovered from a slow start to force their
way back in to finals contention late on. It’s
clear that Andrea has been able to carry
over the fighting spirit she developed with
the Scorpions and we look forward to a big
second year in the competition. In total we had
four representatives from the Strikers taking
part in the ICC Women’s World T20, which is a
testament to their efforts throughout the season
and the work being done with our women. We
have no doubt that this platform will continue
to grow and is another exciting foundation that
will inspire active participation from younger
women across the country.
Our underage teams also saw a number of
individuals shine this year after varying levels
of success in national competitions. Michael
Cormack was again influential for South
Australia at the U19 National Championships,
finishing the tournament as leading wickettaker, while Patrick Page Jnr was our highest
run scorer for the second consecutive year.
It was an outstanding effort by our U19 team,
which went all the way to this year’s semi-final.

As a result we had four players named in
Australia’s U19 Cricket World Cup squad that
pulled out of the tournament in Bangladesh.
Although it’s been one of our most successful
years at SACA, we won’t be resting on our
laurels. Having tasted success once now, our
women will be confident knowing they have
the talent and leadership to back it up next
season. Our men will also continue to build
on their successful summer with their eyes still
firmly locked on the ultimate prize. After the
Sheffield Shield Final our captain stated to the
media that he was ‘proud, but not satisfied’
with what was achieved this season, which
perfectly summarises how ambitious our group
is and what they’ll be striving toward next
summer.
We are certainly excited with what we have
achieved this year and there is no doubt that
we have laid the foundation for an exciting
future of cricket in South Australia.
Tim Nielsen
General Manager High Performance

NEIL DANSIE MEDAL
Mennie wins his first as
Taylor goes back-to-back

Joe Mennie and Sarah Taylor were the two
major winners at this year’s Neil Dansie Medal
night at Adelaide Oval, rewarded for standout
summers with ball and bat respectively.
In his fifth season for South Australia after
moving from NSW in 2011, Mennie enjoyed
an outstanding Sheffield Shield season. With
51 wickets to his name, the right-arm quick
finished the season as the Shield’s leading
wicket-taker and was influential in leading
South Australia to the first Shield final in
20 years.
Mennie also was awarded the Lord Hampden
Trophy after he was voted the best first-class
player of the season. Surpassing his previous
best season by 18 wickets, the paceman was
consistently amongst the wicket-takers in every
match and is the only player in Shield history
to claim over 40 wickets in one season without
taking a five-wicket haul.
English import Sarah Taylor was the big winner
in the women’s awards, taking home the
Andrea McCauley Trophy for the second year
running. Awarded to the most outstanding
cricketer in the Women’s National Cricket
League, Taylor played a pivotal role in her
second season with the Breezair SA Scorpions.
The English international scored 323 runs
for the year, including a match-winning 110
against New South Wales to guide South
Australia to their first WNCL title since the
1994/95 season. Taylor was also recognised
for an outstanding season with the Adelaide
Strikers in the inaugural Women’s Big Bash
League tournament, receiving the Strikers’ MVP
award. With 393 runs at an average of 32.75,
Taylor was the Strikers’ leading run scorer and
was crucial behind the stumps as she finished
the season with 11 stumpings.

It was a good night for the bowlers, with Kane
Richardson rewarded for his strong One-Day
form earlier in the summer, being named the
Matador Cup Player of the Year. Taking 15
wickets at an average of 22.73, Richardson’s
variation frustrated some of the competition’s
top batsman and he was rewarded for his
display with a place in the Australian ODI
squad that faced India in January.
Leg-spinner Adil Rashid was also
acknowledged for his outstanding debut
KFC Big Bash League season, receiving the
Adelaide Strikers’ MVP award. The England
international featured in every match and
finished as the tournament’s leading wickettaker, taking 16 wickets at an average of 14.12.
Cameron Valente was named the winner of the
Barry ‘Nugget’ Rees Award, which recognises
the Redbacks player who exemplifies passion,
humility, integrity, teamwork and respect for the
game. Making his first-class debut this season,
Valente was a positive and contributing
member of the squad and was also an integral
member of South Australia’s Futures League
side. Playing five matches, the young pace
bowler took 22 wickets in the tournament and
had best bowling figures of 6/29 in his second
innings against Tasmania.
The Peter Wang award for a youth squad
cricketer who displays excellent cricket
ability, high work ethic, admirable team
loyalty, distinguished character and respect
for the spirit of the game was awarded to
18-year old Michael Cormack. Named South
Australia’s vice-captain at the U19 National
Championships, Cormack was the leading
wicket-taker of the tournament with 21 wickets
in eight matches at an average of 16.57 and
was subsequently named in Australia’s U19
Cricket World Cup squad that pulled out of the
tournament in Bangladesh.
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STATE INDIGENOUS PLAYER
OF THE YEAR
Tyrell Sinclair
Awarded to the most
outstanding Indigenous South
Australian cricketer.

SHELLEY NITSCHKE TROPHY
Tabatha Saville
Awarded to the most
outstanding South
Australian cricketer of the
Under-18 Female National
Championships.

MAJOR GENERAL SYMES
TROPHY FOR BATTING
Patrick Page Jnr
Awarded to the South
Australian cricketer with the
highest batting aggregate
in the Under-19 Male
Championships.

MAJOR GENERAL SYMES
TROPHY FOR BOWLING

ANDREA MCCAULEY TROPHY

THE JAMES IRWIN TROPHY

Sarah Taylor

Travis Head

Michael Cormack

Awarded to the most
outstanding cricketer in the
Women’s National Cricket
League.

Awarded to the South
Australian cricketer with the
highest batting aggregate in
all First-Class matches.

WH HAYES TROPHY FOR
BATTING

THE WL BRIDGLAND TROPHY

Awarded to the South
Australian cricketer with the
highest bowling aggregate
in the Under-19 Male
Championships.
AE SMITH TROPHY
FOR BATTING
Alex Reardon
Awarded to the South
Australian cricketer with the
highest batting aggregate in
the Under-17 Male National
Championships.
AE SMITH TROPHY FOR
BOWLING
Cameron Fatchen
Awarded to the South
Australian cricketer with the
highest bowling aggregate in
the Under-17 Male National
Championships.
PETER WANG PERPETUAL
MEMORIAL AWARD
Michael Cormack
Recognises a youth squad
cricketer who displays
excellent cricket ability,
high work ethic, admirable
team loyalty, distinguished
character and respect for the
spirit of the game.
BATTING TROPHY WOMEN’S
NATIONAL CRICKET LEAGUE
Sarah Taylor
Awarded to the South
Australian cricketer with the
highest batting aggregate in
the Women’s National Cricket
League.
BOWLING TROPHY WOMEN’S
NATIONAL CRICKET LEAGUE
Megan Schutt and Amanda
Wellington
Awarded to the South
Australian cricketer with the
highest bowling aggregate in
the Women’s National Cricket
League.
MOST IMPROVED TROPHY
SCORPION SQUAD
Bridget Patterson
Awarded to the South
Australian cricketer under
25 years of age, who
has displayed significant
improvement in their cricket
ability, a high work ethic,
team loyalty, distinguished
character and respect for
the game during the past 12
months.

Alex Carey
Awarded to the South
Australian cricketer with the
highest batting aggregate
in the Futures League
competition.
WH HAYES TROPHY FOR
BOWLING
Cameron Valente
Awarded to the South
Australian cricketer with the
highest bowling aggregate
in the Futures League
competition.
BBL ADELAIDE STRIKERS MVP
Adil Rashid
Awarded to the most
outstanding cricketer for the
Adelaide Strikers in the Big
Bash League competition this
season.
WBBL ADELAIDE STRIKERS MVP
Sarah Taylor
Awarded to the most
outstanding cricketer for
the Adelaide Strikers in the
Women’s Big Bash League
competition this season.
MATADOR ONE-DAY CUP
BATTING TROPHY
Callum Ferguson
Awarded to the South
Australian cricketer with the
highest batting aggregate in
the Matador One-Day Cup
competition.
MATADOR ONE-DAY CUP
BOWLING TROPHY
Kane Richardson
Awarded to the South
Australian cricketer with the
highest bowling aggregate
in the Matador One-Day Cup
competition.
MATADOR ONE-DAY CUP
PLAYER OF THE YEAR
Kane Richardson
Awarded to the most
outstanding South Australian
cricketer in the one-day
domestic competition this
season.

Joe Mennie
Awarded to the South
Australian cricketer with the
highest bowling aggregate in
all First-Class matches.
THE LORD HAMPDEN TROPHY
Joe Mennie
Awarded to the player who
accumulates the most votes
for all matches during the
First-Class season.
BARRY “NUGGET” REES AWARD
Cameron Valente
Awarded to the player who
annually displays passion
for South Australia and
South Australian cricket,
humility, honesty and integrity,
teamwork and respect for the
game of cricket.
BARRY JARMAN MOST
IMPROVED TROPHY
Daniel Worrall
Awarded to the South
Australian cricketer under
25 years of age, who
has displayed significant
improvement in their cricket
ability, a high work ethic,
team loyalty, distinguished
character and respect for
the game during the past 12
months.
NEIL DANSIE MEDAL
Joe Mennie
Awarded to the most
outstanding South Australian
male cricketer across all
forms of the game taking
into account performance,
competitiveness, team spirit
and work ethic. It is named
after the patriarch of South
Australian cricket, Neil Dansie
OAM. Affectionately known as
‘Nodder’, Neil has made an
immeasurable contribution to
sport in South Australia and
has been involved in cricket
in this State for more than 65
years.

SACA EMERGING
REDBACKS PROGRAM
Program contributed strongly to
SA success this year

The Emerging Redbacks program once
again has proven its vital importance in the
continued development and preparation of
South Australian players who are outside the
current contract list. It provided immediate
depth to the Redbacks Squad and created an
environment for young players to be exposed
to the training habits and expectations
demanded of professionals. It also contributed
to South Australia’s success at a First-Class level
this year.
Specific focus areas will continue to drive the
program’s future next season.
1. Identify and develop potential players who
can impact long term for South Australia
and ideally Australia.
2. Fast-track young up-and-coming players to
be ‘First Class ready’ at the earliest possible
time to ensure that SA has quality depth in
its system to enhance the chances of longterm sustainable success at the domestic
level in all forms of the game.
3. Mirror the culture of the Redbacks squad,
ensuring that players strive to be “World’s
Best”, put the “Team First” and “have fun”.
The squad for the 2015/16 season included:
Luke Robins (East Torrens)
Ben Turley (Woodville)
Alex Carey (Glenelg)
Joel Logan (University)
Jake Weatherald (University)
Elliott Opie (Kensington)
Akash Patel (Glenelg)
Phil Neate (Adelaide)
Daniel Drew (West Torrens)
Ben Williams (West Torrens)
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Spencer Johnson (West Torrens)
Michael Cranmer (East Torrens)
Greg West (Prospect)
Alex Keath (Prospect)
John Dalton (Kensington)

The Emerging Redbacks squad is reviewed
a number of times throughout the season,
especially after the SACA Premier League
(October) and National U19 Championships
(December).
Additional players included in the squad
across the year based on their exceptional
performances included:
Damon Kerr (Port Adelaide)
Patrick Page (Tea Tree Gully)
Jake Winter (Glenelg)
Wesley Agar (University)
David Grant (Kensington)
Michael Cormack (Adelaide)
Jacob Dickman (Prospect)
Josh Barrett (Southern Districts)
Brad Davis (Sturt)
Jordan Thomas (Port Adelaide)
There were a number of notable achievements
this season. Alex Carey, Elliott Opie and Jake
Weatherald were given opportunities late
in the season and were invaluable to our
Sheffield Shield side and its success, playing
in our first Sheffield Shield final for 20 years.
Congratulations to both Elliott and Jake who
made their First-Class debuts.
The Cricket Australia Futures League
competition this year expanded to a sixgame competition in which South Australia
(SA) played the other states and the
Australian Capital Territory. A total of 14 of
the 24 Emerging Redbacks squad members
had the opportunity to represent SA at this
level. Congratulations to Phillip Neate, Jake
Weatherald, Wesley Agar, Michael Cormack,
David Grant and Alex Keath who all made their
Futures League debut.
Players were heavily involved in the Premier
League at the start of the season. It proved
beneficial towards their development,
allowing them to compete at a level above
Grade cricket.

Further recognition goes to Josh Barrett, Alex
Carey, Alex Keath and Luke Robins for their
consistent performances in Premier Grade
cricket this season, being selected in the SACA
Grade Cricket Team of the Year. Greg West
had a good first year with the Prospect CC.
He was awarded the Jason Gillespie Medal
recognising the competition’s rising star as well
as playing his debut with the Adelaide Strikers.
Across the season the squad was exposed
to some of South Australia’s best coaches,
including Jamie Siddons, Rob Cassell, Shaun
Williams, Luke Williams, Brad Young, Cameron
Borgas and Andrew Zessers. John Palmer was
appointed assistant coach of both the U19
and Emerging Redbacks squads. John
continues to demonstrate his passion for
the game, exceeding expectations in his
coaching, organisation, leadership and
encouraging a general fun culture for our
High Performance groups.
Shane McDermott
Emerging Redbacks Head Coach

Above: Alex Carey was one member of the Emerging
Redbacks squad who gained a Sheffield Shield opportunity
last summer.

SOUTH AUSTRALIAN DEBUTS

LES FAVELL FOUNDATION

WEST END REDBACKS – BUPA SHEFFIELD SHIELD

PROSPECTS GOOD FOR PROSPECT
ALL-ROUNDER

Tom Andrews
Elliot Opie
Cameron Valente
Jake Weatherald
WEST END REDBACKS – MATADOR ONE-DAY CUP
Tom Andrews
Sam Raphael
BREEZAIR SA SCORPIONS
Sarah Coyte

BASIL SELLERS SCHOLARSHIP
PROGRAM
TALENTED LEFT-HANDER SUCCESSFUL RECIPIENT
With the continued support from Basil Sellers,
the Basil Sellers Scholarship Program continued
in the 2015/2016 season with Patrick Page Jnr
this year’s successful recipient.

In 2015/2016 Izaac Boylan was the successful
recipient of the ‘Les Favell Cricket Foundation
Trust – Basil Sellers Initiative’.
Izaac is a promising all-rounder who represents
the Prospect District Cricket Club in the SACA
Premier Cricket Competition. He played in 11
First Grade matches for Prospect in 2015/2016.
A highlight was a score of 91 made against
Kensington in round 8.
Izaac has previously represented South
Australia and Australia at U19 level and has a
bright future in the game. Izaac’s scholarship
meant he worked full-time in the SACA Cricket
Operations Department in the North East
region. He contributed enormously to the
Game Development and Grounds teams and
was able to gain valuable experience. He
also continued his university studies in Clinical
Exercise Physiology while working at the SACA.
Izaac has spent winter 2016 representing the
Tracy Village Cricket Club in the Darwin and
District Premier Grade Cricket Competition to
develop his cricketing skills.

A talented left-handed batsman from the
Tea Tree Gully District Cricket Club, Patrick
has progressed through SACA and Cricket
Australia’s Youth High Performance Programs.
As part of this scholarship, Patrick was
employed as a SACA High Performance Trainee
whilst also undertaking a Certificate III in Sport
and Recreation and completing training with
the West End Redbacks.
During his scholarship, Patrick was selected in
the Australian U19 team that played against
New Zealand and Pakistan in Dubai in January
2016, as well as playing several Futures League
matches for South Australia.
Working in the High Performance Department
and undertaking a Certificate III in Sport and
Recreation has taught him many new skills
which will hopefully greatly assist him in both
his on- and off-field endeavours.
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Top right: Sarah Coyte is presented with her Breezair
Scorpions cap by Megan Schutt.
Bottom right: Tom Andrews performed in the Matador
On-Day Cup.

BREEZAIR
SA SCORPIONS

Team turns back the clock with
drought-breaking victory
In contesting their ‘underdog’ status by
powering into last season’s Women National
Cricket League (WNCL) final, this season the
Breezair SA Scorpions went one better.
After falling to WNCL powerhouse New South
Wales in last year’s final, the Scorpions set out
for revenge in 2015/16 and were immediately
faced with a tough road trip to Perth to face
NSW and Western Australia.
Taking on NSW, a side that had won 17 of the
last 19 WNCL titles since the competition’s
inception in 1996, the Scorpions made an
early statement as opening bat Bridget
Patterson (72) and England’s Sarah Taylor
(101) combined for a 138-run partnership.
An impressive 72 from 61 balls from captain
Lauren Ebsary helped boost the total and
helped the Scorpions post a formidable 5/281.
Fellow captain, Alex Blackwell, then posted a
game-high 118 to keep her side in what proved
to be a nail-biting contest. With NSW needing
14 runs from the last three overs, Megan Schutt
held her nerve to claim two wickets in the last
two balls of the 48th over before completing
the first ever hat trick by a Scorpion with her
first ball of the last over as the Scorpions held
on for a one-run win.
It was a more comprehensive win in round 2,
as the Scorpions made it two-out-of-two with
a 90-run win against the Alcohol. Think Again
Western Fury. The win was set up by a brilliant
all-round performance from Sophie Devine, the
New Zealand international compiling her first
half-century of the season as well as claiming
tidy figures of 4/16. Schutt again proved her
worth with the ball, taking three wickets to finish
with seven for the weekend.
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Entering the halfway mark of the season
undefeated, the Scorpions were outclassed
in their round 4 encounter against the ACT
Meteors. The conditions appeared to have
favoured the spin bowlers on both sides, with
Scorpions Amanda Wellington and Alex Price
combing to claim eight wickets. Taylor did her
best with a run-a-ball 42, but it was enough
with the Meteors’ total of 169 proving 18 runs
too much for the Scorpions.
The Scorpions’ ability to win key moments was
on show yet again, this time in their round 5
clash with the Konica Minolta Queensland
Fire. Another classy bowling performance by
Megan Schutt earned her three wickets, while
Wellington also claimed three wickets with her
damaging leg spin. Chasing the Fire’s total of
145, the Scorpions stumbled, falling to 8/138
before tailenders Wellington and Katelyn
Pope finished off the game to secure a
one-wicket win.
Needing a victory against the Tasmanian
Roar to secure their second finals berth in as
many seasons, the Scorpions were powered
by Tahlia McGrath’s first ever domestic halfcentury. McGrath’s patient innings, combined
with 45 from Sarah Coyte and 32 from Tegan
McPharlin, helped the Scorpions post a solid
total of 8/191. Defending their total of 191,
the Scorpions broke through early thanks to
Megan Schutt (2/46). Erin Burns looked to
be the key, the hard-hitter adding 40 runs to
the total before she was clean bowled by
Schutt. Captain Veronica Pyke provided some
valuable runs but it wasn’t enough, the Roar all
out for 160.

The Scorpions’ round 3 match against the
Commonwealth Bank VicSpirit was another
close encounter, with South Australia’s sharp
fielding proving the difference. After posting
190 thanks largely to 71 runs from Patterson,
the Scorpions had to work hard for their
wickets with runs coming with ease for the
home side. A brilliant spell of bowling from
opener Samantha Betts turned the game on
its head and back in the Scorpions' favour,
the youngster claiming 3/39 to help her side
secure victory.
Top right: The Breezair SA Scorpions celebrate winning the WNCL title.
Bottom right: Lauren Ebsary raises the bat during an outstanding career
for South Australia.

END OF AN ERA AS EBSARY
CALLS IT A DAY
Having led Breezair SA Scorpions to their first
national title in 21 years, Lauren Ebsary has
called it stumps on her domestic 50-over
career.
Ebsary, 33, made her debut in 2000 against
New South Wales and has since gone on to
play 93 Women’s National Cricket League
matches for South Australia and 26 for Western
Australia. In October 2013, she became the
second South Australian to reach the
100-game milestone after Karen Rolton.
With the bat she has compiled 2426 runs,
including two centuries and 12 half centuries,
as well as claiming 56 wickets with best figures
of 4/46. Ebsary has also represented Australia
across all three formats, playing one Test
Match, 19 ODIs and 14 T20 Internationals.
Ebsary’s leadership credentials earned her the
Scorpions' captaincy in 2012, taking over the
reins from retiring legend Shelley Nitschke.
In a post-Rolton-and-Nitschke era, Ebsary often
led from the front with both bat and ball as
she steered a ship full of incredibly talented
youngsters. With an infectious passion and love
for the game, Ebsary’s reign reached its peak in
2014/15 when the Scorpions secured their first
finals berth since the 2007/08 season.
Despite leaving that final in Sydney without the
trophy, Ebsary’s side had learned a lesson that
was evident in their upset of reigning premiers,
the NSW Breakers in this season’s final. The
win was a coming of age for the Scorpions
who have promised so much for so long and,
for one of the state’s finest female cricketers,
became the cherry on the top of her
career cake.

MATADOR
ONE DAY CUP

Redbacks’ improved form sets
sights on next season success

After a difficult campaign in season 2014/15,
the 2015/16 season represented a huge
turnaround for South Australia as the West End
Redbacks fired all the way to the Matador
One-Day Cup Final under new head coach,
Jamie Siddons.
It was the perfect start to the tournament
for Travis Head in his first One-Day match as
captain, launching his summer in style as he
guided the Redbacks to an eight-wicket victory
against the Western Warriors with a spectacular
double century. Together with Callum Ferguson,
the two top-order batsmen combined for a
278-run third wicket partnership to secure an
important early win for the Redbacks.
Despite suffering some inconsistencies
throughout the tournament, the team
recovered from a couple of disappointing
losses with resilience. It quickly became a
characteristic of the group’s success. A loss
to a full-strength New South Wales team was
followed by a dramatic one-wicket win against
Queensland courtesy of a damaging bowling
performance by Kane Richardson, as well as a
fearless effort with the bat from Alex Ross and
Adam Zampa.

A tough elimination final with Victoria then
loomed, but the Redbacks proved they were
up to the task, showing their defiance to again
recover from batting collapses and long
periods without wickets to eventually frustrate
the Bushrangers at Drummoyne Oval. Ross
was again inspiring, narrowly missing out on
a century and putting the Redbacks back on
track. After a big first-wicket partnership from
the Victorians, the Redbacks’ bowlers fought
hard to wrestle momentum back and help
book a place in their first one-day final in
four years.
While a brilliant 154-run partnership between
Tom Cooper and Callum Ferguson wasn’t
enough to guide the Redbacks to victory in
that final, the 2015 Matador Cup campaign
marked a fantastic 12-month turnaround for
the Redbacks who will be looking to go one
better next season.

The never-give-up attitude was then again on
display against Victoria, with South Australia
bouncing back from a loss against Tasmania
to secure a 17-run win against the Bushrangers.
Another one of the state’s bright stars led the
way with the bat on a tricky wicket, as Jake
Lehmann announced himself in his first match
of the summer with a patient half-century to
guide the Redbacks to a respectable total.
An equally impressive effort with the ball from
Richardson, Joe Mennie and Daniel Worrall
then had the Victorians all out for 181 as the
Redbacks defended their lowest total in a
limited-overs match since the 1975/76 summer.
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The Redbacks’ depth was then highlighted
in a do-or-die final fixture against the CA
XI, with both senior players and younger
talent combining to put their younger
opposition under pressure. Strong displays
from experienced duo Tom Cooper and Tim
Ludeman set up the match, navigating the
difficult conditions and bringing up quick half
centuries. Spin twins Zampa and Tom Andrews
then dismantled the young CA XI batting
attack, taking four wickets each to cement the
side’s spot in third position on the Matador
Cup table.

Above: Alex Ross is congratulated by his West End
Redbacks team mates after hitting the winning runs
against Queensland.

SHEFFIELD
SHIELD

An outstanding improvement
by a young Redbacks side

After a fantastic showing in the Matador Cup,
the West End Redbacks continued their form
in the Sheffield Shield, contesting their first
Shield final in 20 years. Despite falling just short
against the Victorian Bushrangers, it was a
hugely successful year for the young side.
Facing a full-strength New South Wales Blues
side featuring some Test stars, the Redbacks fell
short early before bouncing back under the
guidance of captain Travis Head and boosted
by the return of swing-bowling ace, Chadd
Sayers. Chasing 316 runs to win against the
Alcohol.Think Again Western Warriors, Head set
the tone on the final day with his maiden firstclass ton, before Joe Mennie became the hero
and secured a one-wicket victory.
A comprehensive loss to the myFootDr
Queensland Bulls at the Gabba followed,
briefly putting the Redbacks on the back foot
and forcing some changes at the selection
table. In his first match of the season, Jake
Lehmann confirmed his reputation for seizing
the moment in a coming-of-age display at
Blundstone Arena against the Tasmanian
Tigers. The young left-hander combined with
Callum Ferguson in one of the Redbacks’
biggest partnerships in history, with both
players recorded their maiden double tons
whilst adding 378-runs for the fourth wicket.
The partnership was the third highest first-class
partnership on record for South Australia and
elevated the Redbacks into second position on
the Shield table.
The match against Tasmania also was the
first time a dangerous pace trident featuring
Mennie, Sayers and Daniel Worrall featured in
the 2015/16 season. After taking 16 wickets
between them against the Tigers, the trio was
again lethal in their clash with the Bushrangers,
claiming all 20 wickets to put pressure on the
top placed Victorians. Tom Cooper then set up
the run-chase for the Redbacks to put South
Australia within half a point of Victoria at the
top of the table heading into the BBL break.
The Redbacks made a stuttering start to the
second half of the season with consecutive
losses to the Bulls and Bushrangers at Adelaide
Oval. Despite falling short in their run chases,
there were positive signs as Lehmann recorded
his second Shield century against the Bulls and
both Cameron Valente and Tom Andrews took
their first Shield wickets in promising debuts.

An up and down affair at Coffs Harbour
followed as Lehmann again led the way with
the bat, notching up his third century of the
summer to put South Australia in good stead
on day 1. Well supported by returning wicketkeeper Alex Carey and debutant opening
batsman Jake Weatherald, the Redbacks
looked impressive early but eventually fell to
the Blues on the final day. With six wickets in
the match, Mennie extended his lead at the
top of the wicket-takers’ board.
In desperate need of a win, it was another
thrilling display against the Warriors that
earned the Redbacks their first victory of 2016.
Needing 274 runs to win after Worrall and
Mennie dismantled the Warriors, Head was
again Western Australia’s nemesis, storming to
his second Shield century of the summer as
he and Joe Mennie added 76 runs off just 48
balls. A late collapse eventually made for a
dramatic finish with Nick Benton courageously
securing the winning runs with a dislocated
shoulder.
The nail-biting win launched the Redbacks
back into finals contention as they continued
their momentum with a big win over Tasmania
at Gliderol Stadium. Outstanding match figures
of 10/77, including a first innings haul of 7/46
from Sayers put South Australia on top early,
before an explosive knock from Travis Head
(192 off just 176 deliveries) gave the Redbacks
an unassailable lead. Mennie, Worrall and
Sayers then secured the emphatic victory in
under two days to book a home final.
Contesting their first Sheffield Shield final
since the 1995/96 summer, the Redbacks fell
short despite strong displays from Alex Ross,
Weatherald and Worrall in the season decider.
Weatherald was explosive early, scoring a
quick-fire 66 and falling just shy of a welldeserved century in the second innings. Ross
was also composed, scoring knocks of 72
and 71 to extend South Australia’s lead, while
Worrall proved to be decisive in the first innings
with career-best figures of 6/96.
It was an outstanding improvement by a
young Redbacks side in a 12-month period,
jumping from a bottom place finish last season
to host the Shield final at Gliderol Stadium and
showcasing the potential of the young team.

STRIKERS – TOP-OFTABLE, SECOND TIME
RUNNING
Under the guidance of new
head coach and South
Australian favourite son,
Jason Gillespie, the Adelaide Strikers dropped
only one of their regular season matches,
finishing top of the ladder for the second
consecutive year.
Opening match heroics from Alex Ross and
new captain Brad Hodge helped launch the
Strikers’ season in style. The two combined for
a BBL-record 115-run fifth wicket stand. Ben
Laughlin then became the first player to take
50 wickets in the BBL, before Kane Richardson
tore through the Melbourne Stars’ middle order
to secure the win.

Patiently seeing his way past 50, the young
top-order batsman then smashed his next 56runs off just 15 balls, including 27 in one over, to
secure an unforgettable win and bring up his
century in the last over of the game.
There were plenty more heroes throughout the
year, including Jake Lehmann’s last ball thriller
against the Hobart Hurricanes at Adelaide
Oval. Needing four runs to win and facing his
first ever BBL delivery and the last ball of the
match, the youngster launched the ball over
extra cover to secure one of the team’s most
famous victories in its short history. With top
place locked away, the Strikers then made the
trip to Etihad Stadium to face the Melbourne
Renegades. Tim Ludeman and Jono Dean fired
early before Head showed off his all-round
capabilities to tear through the Renegades’ top
order and set up the win.

The Strikers faced reigning champions the
Perth Scorchers on their home soil as two big
performances from the side’s international stars
made light work of the Scorchers. Adil Rashid
(2/21) And Mahela Jayawardena (42) did
the damage as the Strikers left Perth with an
important win.

It was also another standout year in the stands
with Strikers fans again proving why they are
the best in the league as they flocked in for a
do-or-die semi-final clash against the Sydney
Thunder. Despite a disappointing exit at the
hands of some Usman Khawaja heroics, it was
another memorable season for the Strikers
in BBL|05.

After suffering their first loss of the season
away to the Thunder, the Strikers recovered in
spectacular fashion on New Year’s Eve against
the Sydney Sixers. Chasing 177 to win, the
Strikers fell to 5/126 at the end of the 17th over
with the game seemingly slipping away, before
Travis Head exploded onto the scene.

Right: A century to savour – Travis Head lights up Adelaide
Oval on New Year’s Eve with an innings to remember.

ADELAIDE STRIKERS #1
42,437 – Biggest average attendance (regular season) in the BBL
43,889 – Biggest average attendance (including finals) in the BBL
169,748 – Biggest ever club total attendance (regular season)
218,447 Strikers fans through the gate at Adelaide Oval (including semi-final)
1 in 5 people who attended a BBL match came to watch the Adelaide Strikers at Adelaide Oval
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31% of all BBL|05 attendances involved an Adelaide Strikers match

Above: Megan Schutt poses with a young Strikers fan. Right: Shelley Nitschke winds back the clock at the Gabba.

WOMEN’S BIG
BASH LEAGUE
The launch of the Rebel
Women’s Big Bash League
(WBBL) marked a new
era for women’s cricket,
providing a clear pathway from grassroots
cricket to the elite level and promoting positive
female role models for young players and fans.
The WBBL’s first season featured eight new
teams, aligned to each of the current KFC Big
Bash League clubs, nearly a dozen televised
fixtures, and with hordes of new fans turning
out to witness an action packed and exciting
brand of cricket.
The Adelaide Strikers welcomed their new side
with open arms, signing South Australia fastbowler Megan Schutt as their marquee player,
followed by national representative Sarah
Coyte and internationals Sophie Devine, Sarah
Taylor and Stacy-Ann King as well as former
Australian and South Australian legendary allrounder, Shelley Nitschke.
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With 14 games to play, two against each of
the other seven sides, the Strikers headed
south to Launceston for their first WBBL match.
But there was no fairy-tale ending as the
Hobart Hurricanes proved too good in both
encounters.
Two more losses had the Strikers on the back
foot before a Sarah Taylor-inspired six-wicket
win over the Sydney Thunder got their season
off the ground. Taylor backed up her unbeaten
71 with a classy 48 on New Year’s Eve as the

Strikers rang in the new year with a 35-run win
over the Perth Scorchers. Megan Schutt and
Sarah Coyte put in yet another impressive
performance against the Scorchers at
Adelaide Oval to make it three wins in a row
for the Strikers.
A tough road trip to Melbourne resulted in
defeat at the hands of the Sydney Sixers and
Melbourne Stars and left the Strikers needing to
produce something special to finish in the top
four and secure an inaugural finals berth.
A brilliant all-round effort from Coyte produced
71 runs and figures of 3/12 with the ball, and
only bettered by a blistering innings from New
Zealand’s Devine. Devine blasted 47 runs off 16
balls, including 26 off the last over to power her
side back into finals contention.
The Strikers proved they had plenty of fight
left, holding their nerve in a nail-biting Super
Over against the Melbourne Renegades. But it
wasn’t to be, as the talented Strikers suffered a
15-run defeat in their final match, leaving them
to rue early losses and finish just one victory
away from a semi-final berth. While the Strikers
fell short on the field, there were plenty of offfield wins.
In its inaugural season, the WBBL surpassed all
expectations, with the Strikers twice featuring
on Channel Ten’s ONE HD, one coverage of
which saw a convincing win against the Perth
Scorchers in front of 10,000 fans at Adelaide
Oval. The platform has been laid for a bigger
and better WBBL|02.

ADELAIDE STRIKERS’
COMMERCIAL
PARTNERSHIPS
WEST END
West End continued their support
of the Adelaide Strikers as Principal
Partner in BBL|05. Key joint activities
included the Strikers' season fixture
featuring on over six million West End
cans and the introduction of the
West End VIP platform to Adelaide
Oval’s northern mound. Competition
entrants showed ‘Why it pays to be
a local’ by sharing pictures of their
favourite SA spots, for a chance to
win platform tickets.
JEEP
Jeep re-joined the Strikers as their
major sponsor in BBL|05. As well as
rewarding one lucky winner with a
Jeep Renegade at game 4, Jeep also
handed out thousands of 4 and 6
cards to fans throughout the season,
helping turn the team’s home ground
into a ‘sea of blue’.
WEBSTERS LAWYERS
In their inaugural season, the WBBL
Strikers were proudly supported by
principal sponsor Websters Lawyers.
Websters Lawyers proudly support
women’s sport and were right behind
the progressive WBBL competition in
its first year.
WIRRA WIRRA
A new partner in 2015/16, Wirra Wirra
launched the cellar door style Wirra
Wirra Bar in the Oval’s Western Stand,
a welcome new facility for SACA
Members. The ‘Six for 6’ competition
rewarded winners with six bottles of
Church Block for every ‘6’ hit by the
Strikers at home games.
THIRSTY CAMEL
Thirsty Camel helped those new to
the game via their Thirsty Camel
Compact Guide to the Adelaide
Strikers. The user friendly guide
explained the rules of the BBL and
what new fans should expect
at a game.
LEUKAEMIA FOUNDATION – CHARITY
PARTNER OF THE ADELAIDE STRIKERS
The Leukaemia Foundation’s major
fundraising campaign ‘The World’s
Greatest Shave’ was launched by
the team, with the Strikers charity
partner then ‘blue-ing’ up the crowd
at game 4, where they sprayed fans'
heads blue.
Thanks to all other official sponsors
of the Adelaide Strikers for their
support in season 2015/16 including
Nova, FIVEaa, Comwire IT, U-Install-It
Kitchens, Golden North and Oaks
Hotels and Resorts.

WEST END
PREMIER LEAGUE

Eastern Edge maintain their dominance

The Eastern Edge maintained their perfect
2015/16 run in the West End Premier League,
winning their third title since the competition’s
inception three years ago.
This year’s Premier League saw highlights
by some fantastic efforts with bat and ball.
Callum Ferguson announced his summer in
spectacular fashion with three centuries in
just three innings. Although he only featured
in four matches, the experienced right-hander
finished the tournament as the leading run
scorer, including a high score of 164 and two
unbeaten efforts. Michael Cramner of the
Eastern Edge (370 at 46.25) and Assad Vala of
Papua New Guinea (363 at 45.38) also were
impressive, leading their respective sides.

In the end it came down to a final-round thriller
to confirm the champions as the Edge fell short
to the Southern Force and gave the Western
Grit a glimpse at the title. Chasing an outright
win to launch themselves into first place, the
Grit seemed to have the better of the Northern
Mavericks early on, but a late rally from the
Mavericks batting attack frustrated them out
of the match and handed the Edge their third
successive title.
WEST END PREMIER LEAGUE – FINAL STANDINGS
Rank

Team

Points

%

1

Eastern Edge

41

1.3784

2

Western Grit

41

1.2380

3

Papua New Guinea

26

1.0246

4

Northern Territory

25

0.7255

5

Southern Force

16

0.9373

6

Northern Mavericks

12

0.8209

The season favoured the bowlers, with more
wickets taken and fewer runs scored on
average per match compared to last year’s
Premier League. The pacemen did the damage
with the ball with Jake Haberfield leading the
way for the Edge, taking 19 wickets for the
League winning side at an average of 18.89
in his eight matches. Jack Pudney and Stuart
Claring-Bould also formed a dangerous twopronged pace attack for the Southern Force
with the duo taking 37 wickets between them
as the Force finished the competition with the
most wickets.
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Papua New Guinea continued their strong
development and were the most improved
team in the competition, rising from a bottomplace finish last year to third on the final
table. Led by the experience of Assad Vala
and buoyed by the emergence of young star
Nosaina Pokana, the PNG Digicel Barramundis
finished the season with four wins and
upset table toppers Eastern Edge late in the
competition to set up a thrilling finish.
There was also big improvement shown by
the Northern Territory as their young stars
helped the team double its wins on last year.
Redbacks-contracted player Tom Andrews was
the pick of the Strike’s batsman, the young
all-rounder finishing with 204 runs in just four
innings, while 21-year-old Joel Logan led the
bowling attack with his 12 wickets.

Above: Papua New Guinea captain, Jack Vare.

PREMIER LEAGUE
JUNIORS
U16 & U14 Competitions

SACA UNDER-16 JUNIOR
PREMIER LEAGUE

SACA JUNIOR COUNTRY
CARNIVALS – U16 AND U14 CUPS

Western Grit crowned the champions

McCullum scores U16 Batting, Wicketkeeping and Player of the Carnival
trophies

An April 2016 clash for top honours saw
Southern Force pipped to the post by Western
Grit at the inaugural U16 Junior Premier
League. Four metropolitan squads competed,
building on the success of the U14 Junior
Premier League. As the U14 Junior Premier
League competition is organised, the 12 junior
grade teams are aligned with one of four
squads: Eastern Edge, Northern Mavericks,
Southern Force and Western Grit.
Players competed in 50-over, one-day matches
at Park 25 on days 1 and 2. On day 3 they
participated in a high-performance coaching
and fitness testing session run by SACA’s High
Performance team. On the final day, Southern
Force led the premiership ladder by one point,
but a loss to Western Grit resulted in them
losing top spot to Grit – crowned the inaugural
champions.
Western Grit captain, Bailey Capel, won the
Batting Trophy, compiling 118 runs with an
average of 39.33, while the Southern Force’s
Charlie Morgan won the Bowling Trophy, taking
six wickets at an average of 9.33. The Wicketkeeping Trophy was decided by the four team
coaches, and was shared between Sean
McCullum (Eastern Edge) and Daniel Kerber
(Western Grit).

Sean McCullum’s wins were among
many carnival highlights when about
245 participants competed in two SACA
junior country carnivals held in December
and January. Each reflected an important
progressive step for country cricketers within
the Australian Cricket Pathway.
The first country carnival of the season, the U16
Country Cup, was played between 7 and 10
December 2015.
Yorke Peninsula showed its dominance,
undefeated throughout the competition, while
teams from South East, Barossa and Light and
Fleurieu Central each won three matches.
Fleurieu Central’s Sean McCullum enjoyed an
outstanding tournament, winning the Batting,
Wicket-keeping and Player of the Carnival
trophies.
In the first week of January 2016, the U14
Country Cup competition was held at Park
25 and at Premier Club grounds. It saw some
excellent performances resulting in a very
close premiership ladder at the end of the
week. South East were favourites going into
the last day with three wins, while Mid North,
Fleurieu North, Barossa and Light and Yorke
Peninsula were in contention for the top spot.
Eventually, South East took home the
Premiership trophy and their batsman Luke
Pedlar was named Player of the Carnival. After
the competition, players were selected to
represent the state in domestic events as well
as in SACA U14 Junior Premier League.
The SACA is extremely grateful for the ongoing
support of the Country Cricket Committee,
coaches, parents and volunteers in making
these carnivals an unforgettable experience for
the young South Australian country cricketers.

HIGH PERFORMANCE
UMPIRING
Darwin, PNG umpire exchanges
a feature as 16 benefit

The West End Premier League continued to
highlight an important season beginning for
our umpires. Sixteen SACA and CA umpires
benefited from the experience umpiring in the
Premier League, including umpire exchanges
from Darwin and Papua New Guinea.
SACA umpires were well represented in
national tournaments such as the U17
National Championships, Australian Country
Championships, National Indigenous
Championships and the 15 and Under
Schoolboys competition.
Our state panel comprised Luke Uthenwoldt,
Craig Thomas, Cain Kemp and Cory Black and
they did an outstanding job in the WNCL, WBBL
and Futures League competitions. The highlight
of the season was Luke Uthenwoldt standing
in his first televised match at Adelaide Oval in
the WBBL.
Simon Fry continued to lead the national
umpire panel while also representing his
country and the ICC at international level,
including the T20 World Cup. Fry also achieved
the greatest umpiring accolade when he
umpired his first Test Match, Sri Lanka v West
Indies at Colombo.
SACA continues to grow umpiring across the
state, nurturing umpires through the pathway
and supporting umpires holding higher
aspirations.
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Right: Simon Fry, umpire.

HIGH PERFORMANCE
COACHING

SACA linked closely with Cricket Australia
to provide extra development opportunities
for High Performance coaches. All coaches
from the SACA High Performance Department
attended an Elite Coaching Seminar at the
National BUPA Cricket Centre in Brisbane with
other elite coaches around the country.
An opportunity for three coaches to attend
the High Performance (Level 3) coaches’
course was offered, and the applicants are
currently completing their requirements over
a 12-month process.
Shelley Nitschke was provided the opportunity
to coach the first National Indigenous Women’s
team, which toured India in May. This was in
addition to Nitschke playing a key role on
and off the field during the inaugural WBBL
as an assistant coach to Strikers’ Coach
Andrea McCauley. Shelley also worked
alongside former Australian fast-bowler Ryan
Harris as Assistant Coach of the Australian XI
that competed at the Cricket Australian U19
Male National Championships in Adelaide in
December.

The annual Elite Coach Development Program
was delivered by Cricket Australia in Brisbane.
This program is a professional development
activity for all coaches working in High
Performance cricket across South Australia
and the country, highlighting our commitment
to developing the best coaches, teams and
players in the world.
In conjunction with the National
Championships, coach mentoring and specific
coaching forums were offered and held at the
Under 15s boys and girls, Under 17s and Under
19s boys, Under 18s girls, National Indigenous
Championships and the Australian Country
Cricket Championships. These coaching forums
provided further opportunities for our coaches
to connect to share philosophies and continue
their development.

Shaun Williams has been selected to travel to
the USA to attend a Talent Combine in June
with other Talent Managers from around the
country and Cricket Australia.

SACA in conjunction with the ICC Academy
has produced a program to provide emerging
coaches with a unique experience, which will
deliver hands-on development and mentoring
from some of the world’s best coaches. The
Intern Coach Development Program aims to
develop an individual’s coaching expertise
through a four-week stay at the ICC Academy
in Dubai. Candidates will travel to Dubai in
September and will be mentored by the ICC’s
Coaching and Coach Development Team
and will perform hands-on coaching duties.
Successful candidates will be assigned to
SACA junior or senior squads as an assistant
or specialised coach for the remainder of the
cricket season to continue their education and
development.

Rob Cassell and Andrea McCauley also
attended the 2015 ‘Spin Week’ in Brisbane
along with former Redback and Striker,
Brad Young.

Above: West End Redbacks coach Jamie Siddons speaks
to captain, Travis Head.

Former West End Redback and recently
accredited Level 3 coach, Cameron
Borgas continued his development through
appointment as the Head Coach of the
Northern Territory U19 Male team in the
National Championships.

EVENTS
RECORDS TUMBLE DURING
INAUGURAL DAY–NIGHT TEST
“The total match attendance of 123,736
people over three days made it the
highest non-Ashes attendance in
Adelaide Oval’s history…”
Fans voted with their feet and cricket entered
a new and exciting era when day-night Test
cricket hit Adelaide Oval in late November, 2015.

BBL|05
Strikers continue to dominate
attendance figures
It was another record-breaking summer for the
Adelaide Strikers, topping the Big Bash League
in all attendance records for BBL|05 including:
• No.1 in average attendance (42,437)
• No.1 in total attendance (169,748).

In scenes not seen since World Series Cricket
was played under lights at VFL Park in
Melbourne in 1978, Test cricket reached a new
frontier with the pink kookaburra changing the
landscape of the game.

Incredibly, 31% of all BBL|05 attendances
involved an Adelaide Strikers match and
Adelaide Oval boasted four of the top five
match attendances.

Australia defeated New Zealand in an
absorbing contest by three wickets as an
injured Mitchell Starc and Peter Siddle held
their nerve against a fast-finish New Zealand
pace attack.

Friday 18 December 2014

The total match attendance of 123,736 people
over three days made it the highest non-Ashes
attendance in Adelaide Oval’s history, beating
the mark of 113,009 set in last summer’s Test
against India.
The attendance figure was also higher than
the sum of the previous 10 days of Test cricket
between Australia and New Zealand
in Adelaide.

KFC T20 BIG BASH LEAGUE
Strikers v Melbourne Stars

27,611

Thursday 31 December 2014
Strikers v Sydney Sixers

46,389

Tuesday 5 January 2016
Strikers v Perth Scorchers

46,633

Wednesday 13 January 2016
Strikers v Hobart Hurricanes

49,115

SEMI FINAL
Thursday 21 January 2015
Strikers v Sydney Thunder

COMMONWEALTH BANK ASHES TEST –
AUSTRALIA V NEW ZEALAND

48,699

Friday 27 to Sunday 29 December 2015
Day 1

47,441

Day 2

42,372

Day 3

33,923

Total

123,736

KFC TWENTY20 INTERNATIONAL –
AUSTRALIA V INDIA
Tuesday 26 January 2016

44,745
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Top right: The pink ball is held aloft during the
Commonwealth Bank Day-Night Test.
Bottom right: The Adelaide Strikers once again entertained
on New Year’s Eve.

MEMBERSHIP

SACA membership numbers
remain consistent

The number of SACA Members for the 2015/16
season totalled 26,123 compared to 26,655
the previous year highlighting consistency
in our membership numbers. We welcomed
a total of 999 new financial SACA Members
during the year whilst maintaining a healthy
94% retention rate.
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Members of SACA’s 50-Year Members Club
were once again invited to attend SACA’s
annual 50-Year Members’ Luncheon, held in
the Ian McLachlan Room at Adelaide Oval in
February 2016.

The transferable card uptake from members
was 33.4%, slightly higher than the last season’s
uptake of 32.3%. The SACA waitlist remains
strong at over 5,000.

Sixteen members were inducted into the
50-year membership club with Patrick Forbes
and Doug Munro receiving Honorary Tenured
Membership reflecting their 65 years of
continuous membership.

MATCH DAY ATTENDANCE

MEMBERSHIP EVENTS

SACA Members supported the first ever
Commonwealth Bank day–night Test match
and made up 63,183 of the total match
attendance of 123,726. This consisted of
44,490 members and 18,693 transferable
card-holders. This was the second largest Test
match attendance at Adelaide Oval, only
being surpassed by the bodyline series match
in January 1933.

MEMBERSHIP

MEMBERS 50+ YEARS

Member attendances at the KFC Big Bash
League matches was once again very
strong. During the four Adelaide Strikers’
home matches and one Semi-Final, 38,634
members and 19,362 transferable cardholders
attended, up from 33,108 members and 15,925
transferable cardholders the previous year. The
members’ support of the Adelaide Strikers plays
a major part in the Strikers being the most
attended games in the BBL.

SUMMER OF DINING 2015/16
The Summer of Dining calendar for season
2015/16 continued to be popular amongst
SACA Members, with exclusive member
offerings during the T20 International match
and Adelaide Strikers’ home matches.
Over 2,200 members enjoyed daily luncheons
and dinners at the inaugural Australia v New
Zealand day/night Test match, with dining
options offered in the Ian McLachlan Room
during the three days of play. Being the first
ever day/night format, the plan to run both
lunch and dinner options proved to be popular
with all seats selling out quickly.
SACA’s dining offers throughout the Sheffield
Shield matches were moved to the SACA
Committee Room and were well supported
by members.

YOUNG MEMBERS EVENT DURING DAY/ NIGHT
SHIELD MATCH
Our young members took advantage of a
Friday night during the day–night Sheffield
Shield match at Adelaide Oval in October
2015. Members were able to bring a guest
to introduce them to the SACA Members
experience and were entertained in the Phil
Ridings Bar, with live music and the best seat in
the house to watch the on-field action.
SACA MEMBER EVENTS AT AFL MATCHES
SACA members were again given the
opportunity to book hospitality in the SACA
Committee Room and Gil Langley Room for
all Port Adelaide and Adelaide Crows home
games this season.
Both room offers were well received by
members, with most matches sold out. The
rooms were hosted by SACA Board Members
with Redbacks and Scorpions players and
coaches attending where possible.
For Rounds 19 through 23 (not including the
Showdown), it was made possible for members
to purchase a total of four tickets, instead of
two. This resulted in healthy sales in all of the
above rounds.

DERBY DAY RACES
SACA Members were given the opportunity to
attend the inaugural SACA Members Derby
Day Races function in May 2016.
Redbacks’ batsman, Callum Ferguson, hosted
the event attended by over 80 SACA Members,
with a guest appearance by legendary South
Australian race caller, Terry McAuliffe. The event
included a three-course meal and beverages,
the opportunity to take part in a ‘punters club’
run by Redbacks players Callum Ferguson,
Jake Lehmann and Alex Carey with the
opportunity to win prizes.
LUNCH WITH THE SACA CHIEF EXECUTIVE AND
SACA PRESIDENT
SACA continued with regular member forum
luncheons, hosted by SACA President, Andrew
Sinclair, and Chief Executive, Keith Bradshaw.
The balloted lunches were an opportunity for
Keith and Andrew to hear direct feedback from
our members and have an informal chat about
all things cricket and SACA.

Above, left: Members inside the Gil Langley Room during the AFL.
Above: The Village Green lights up during the Commonwealth Bank Day-Night Test.

MEMBERSHIP

SACA Members enjoyed exclusive events
during the summer and winter

1

2

3
This spread:
1: Stephen and Jill Hains.
2: Rosie McBoun and Georgina
Akkpimans.
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7: SACA Members wear their
Crows colours at a SACA
Member event.

3: Nikki Duffield, Jesse Aish,
Monique Bulding and
Brett Harland.

8: Andrew and Megan Smart.

4: Kane Richardson speaks with
MC Tom Rehn at the 50-Year
SACA Members luncheon.

10: R
 edbacks players Tim
Ludeman (left) and Gary
Putland (right) with SACA
Board Member, Andrea
Slattery.

5: T he Village Green lights up
during the Commonwealth
Bank Day-Night Test.
6: Erin Depuebye and Alice
Cradford.

9: G
 il Langley Room during a
SACA Member AFL function.
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MILO in2CRICKET
‘Sample-first’ strategy sees big
growth in participation
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MILO in2CRICKET grew by 22.4 per cent in
South Australia during the 2015/16 season.
The growth can be attributed to the SACA’s
focus on providing families the opportunity to
sample the program prior to registering, as well
as improved online registration systems. Other
significant factors included the successful
Cricket World Cup (CWC) in 2014/15 and
awareness and enthusiasm surrounding the
KFC Big Bash League and Rebel Women’s Big
Bash League.

girls stood side-by-side with the Australian
cricket team during the national anthem
ceremony before the commencement of the
Commonwealth Bank Test Match.

The SACA conducted 15 ‘Come and Try’
sessions across metropolitan and regional
South Australia to provide an opportunity for
new participants to sample cricket. Testament
to the quality of the introductory program was
that approximately 85 per cent of attendees
registered for the MILO in2CRICKET program.

It’s fun, fast and active for the
five to eights

‘On Ground Entertainment’ (OGE) opportunities
at Adelaide Oval provided an opportunity for
young boys and girls to represent their local
MILO in2CRICKET centres during the tea break
of each day of the Third Commonwealth Bank
Test Match and meet elite cricketers.
Participants from 40 MILO in2CRICKET centres
were given the opportunity to take part in
the OGE activities, including 25 centres from
regional South Australia. A total of 125 girls
registered in the MILO in2CRICKET program
also participated. In addition 12 boys and

The SACA will maintain its focus on growing
the MILO in2CRICKET program further in
2016/17 and foster the transition of families to
the next stage of the National Player Pathway,
MILO T20 BLAST.

MORE ABOUT MILO IN2CRICKET

The MILO in2CRICKET program is an
eight-week program designed for boys and
girls from five to eight years old. It’s a fast,
fun and active program that emphasises
maximum participation. It’s experience-based
and builds its foundations on the essentials
for lifelong involvement in physical activity
and sport. MILO in2CRICKET Skills is a fourweek, entry level program aimed at primary
school-aged children and has a high focus
on motor skills and skill development through
basic cricket skills and game sense activities.
The program is delivered in metropolitan and
regional areas to ensure access as wide
as possible.

MILO T20 BLAST
Growth blasts off – up 691 in one year
The SACA has directed significant focus on
growing participation in the MILO T20 Blast
program. During 2015/16, 1923 boys and girls
registered for the program, increasing from
1232 participants in 2014/15. MILO T20 Blast
provides the link between MILO in2CRICKET
and traditional junior club cricket in the
Australian Cricket Pathway (ACP). The program
grew from two associations adopting the
program as part of their pathway in 2014/15, to
eight associations in 2015/16.
The SACA gained traction with MILO T20 Blast
in regional areas for the first time, including
a particularly successful program in Mount
Gambier. Further regional growth will be a
focus in 2016/17.
The MILO T20 Blast Strikers Holiday Clinic
program continued to grow in popularity on
the back of the link with the BBL and WBBL.
More than 700 girls and boys took part in
19 two-day clinics in the January school
holidays, including strong numbers in regional
areas setting the foundation for sustainable
programs this season.

MORE ABOUT MILO T20 BLAST
Social and safe – for those who’ve
mastered the basics
MILO T20 Blast is a super fun, social, safe cricket
program for boys and girls. It’s an eight-week
program featuring 90-minute games designed
for children who have mastered the basic skills
of cricket. The game is held on a small pitch
with eight players per side, with each player
getting to bat, bowl, wicket-keep and field.
While waiting to bat, a Skills Zone is available to
ensure active participation and opportunities
for skill development.

JUNIOR CLUB CRICKET
(METROPOLITAN AND COUNTRY)
Underage teams up 75 on last season
The SACA worked closely with association and
club volunteers and facilitated junior club
cricket across five metropolitan and 29 country
cricket associations.
Age groups across all associations range
between U9 and U17 and, pleasingly, there was
growth in both metropolitan and country junior
club cricket in 2015/16.
Overall there was an increase of 75 underage
teams in 2015/16.
This is a direct result of increased participation
across SACA’s National Entry Level programs
(MILO in2CRICKET and MILO T20Blast) from
the previous seasons as well as the adoption
of the Australian Cricket Pathway (ACP) in
some of our key associations. This uniform
and consistent pathway for junior cricketers
is essential for the future growth and
development of cricket in South Australia.

SENIOR CLUB CRICKET
(METROPOLITAN AND COUNTRY)
Roadshow meetings showcase the
Australian Cricket Pathway
The SACA worked closely with association and
club volunteers to facilitate senior club cricket
across four metropolitan and 43 country
associations.
Key initiatives during the 2015/16 season
were six Roadshow meetings in regional South
Australia, which showcased the Australian
Cricket Pathway.
Senior club cricket was offered in both turf
and hard wicket formats and continues to be
the backbone of cricket in both metropolitan
Adelaide and country South Australia. SACA
continued to closely collaborate with all
associations with the aim of supporting
volunteers, helping to grow the game and
ensuring that the highest administrative
standards are adhered to.
The SACA acknowledges the tireless efforts of
volunteers at club and association level who
are integral to the strength of cricket in South
Australia. The SACA continues to focus on
supporting volunteers by developing strong
associations and clubs and helping provide
an opportunity for all South Australians to
participate in cricket.

SCHOOL CRICKET
PROGRAMS CONTINUE TO
IMPROVE
Two programs received positive feedback
and will continue in 2016/17 to assist SACA
staff engage with a wider audience than was
previously possible through school clinics.
The SACA School Visit Program (SVP) reached
about 50,000 children across metropolitan
and regional South Australia during 2015/16.
The visit promotes cricket as a sport of choice
and provides an opportunity for participants
to sample National Entry Level Programs, MILO
in2CRICKET and MILO T20 Blast.
The SVP delivers traditional clinics providing
school children with the opportunity to
participate in fun cricket activities. In 2015/16
the SACA also introduced a School Assembly
Visit program to further enhance the number
of students we see. It provides children with the
opportunity to experience the excitement of
the BBL and meet the Strikers’ mascot, Smash.
Information was also provided about SACA’s
participation programs.
SACA maintains strong relationships with
schools by providing a SVP that connects
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participants to our national entry level
programs as well as meeting the needs of
school communities.

MILO T20 BLAST SCHOOL
CUPS PROGRAM ATTRACTS
THOUSANDS
A major focus of cricket in schools has been
the national MILO T20 Blast School Cup
program. SACA delivered one-day carnivals for
boys and girls teams at schools in a regional
competition format across metropolitan
and country South Australia. A total of 7,232
participants took part in the competition.
A stronger link with primary-school sporting
body SAPSASA has been developed
over the past few seasons, as well as
further engagement with our multicultural
communities, to provide opportunities to a
wider variety of participants.
The traditional year 6 and 7 statewide carnivals
culminated in a state final at the Adelaide
Oval. The South Australian MILO T20 Blast
School Cup competition was won by Eastern
Fleurieu (Strathalbyn) in the Boys Division and
Stirling East in the Girls Division.

Each winning school represented South
Australia in the National Final on the MCG in
December 2015.

11,000 STUDENTS IN 12 ZONES
SET SCENE FOR CRICKET
FUTURES
The SACA’s primary school cricket competition
was played across 12 metropolitan zones
in 2015/16. More than 11,000 students
participated in competitions run in terms 1 and
4 of the school year.
The SACA administered each competition
and worked closely with physical education
coordinators at schools, volunteer team
coaches and managers to deliver quality
competitions. Exciting Lightning Carnival
formats were also offered for some age groups,
typically years 4 and 5, once per term.
The primary school competition runs in parallel
with SACA’s entry level programs and junior
club cricket. This format continues to fill an
important niche for young cricketers across
metropolitan Adelaide.

ANNUAL
CRICKET
CENSUS

CRICKET PATHWAY THE KEY
TO STRONG PARTICIPATION
Each season SACA monitors cricket
participation as part of the commitment to
Australian Cricket’s vision of cricket being
Australia’s favourite sport. SACA has a deep
understanding of the market and is well
placed to build on cricket’s popularity to
ensure that cricket is a sport for all and the
sport of choice for all South Australians.
Format

2015/16 Actual

Club Competitions

30,483

School Competitions

20,675

Entry Level Programs

54,632

Total Outdoor Participation
Indoor Cricket
Total Participation

105,790
7,033
112,823

A key initiative in conjunction with Cricket
Australia was the launch of the Australian
Cricket Pathway (ACP) with cricket
stakeholders across South Australia leading
up to the 2015/16 season. The ACP is
designed to ensure all cricketers have every
chance to maximise their cricketing skills,
enjoy the experience and have a defined
path to pursue a successful career.
SACA Cricket Department staff worked
collaboratively with Cricket Australia
representatives to deliver a series of
Roadshow meetings in metropolitan and
regional areas with cricket stakeholders
across clubs and associations to educate
and align pathways for positive outcomes.

CLUB DEVELOPMENT
CRICKET PARTNERSHIP
PROGRAM
More volunteers and new cricket
pathway set future direction
The SACA’s 2015/16 Cricket Partnership
Program led to a closer working relationship
with an increasing number of volunteer
administrators.
The program adopted improved planning
based on the new Australian Cricket Pathway,
and introduced a strategic planning
framework for clubs and associations, with
volunteers and administrators demonstrating
ongoing support to local community cricket.
The SACA’s Cricket Partnership Program
provides a step-by-step process to ensure
volunteer administrators are provided with
access to the National Insurance Program,
online risk management and best-practice
member protection and child-safe policies and
procedures. SACA metropolitan and country
development staff worked with associations
to raise awareness in child-safe environments.
Free police checks for club volunteers in junior
competitions were also provided to ensure
legislative compliance, as well as discounted
national coaching accreditation and umpiring
courses.
All cricket clubs and associations across
South Australia are now annually affiliated
with SACA. The benefits of partnering have
flowed to community clubs and their governing
associations, achieving wider improvements in
shared community facilities.
The provision of the MyCricket online
competition management platform expanded
and included improved use of the system
in regional areas leading to improved
competition administration and increased
opportunities for talent identification. West End
Redbacks and Adelaide Strikers memorabilia
items were provided to affiliated associations.
Clubs involved in participation programs and
special events were also rewarded with unique
offers to attend international and domestic
matches and received promotional items.
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The SACA aims to partner Cricket Partnership
Program affiliated associations and clubs with
external organisations including the Office for
Recreation and Sport. Over 95% of clubs are
registered in the STARCLUB Club Development
Program and were provided with additional
resources. Additionally, affiliated clubs receive
policies and subsidised responsible-serviceof-alcohol training through the Australian
Drug Foundation’s Good Sports Alcohol
Management Program.

Overall, affiliated organisations are offering
safer, family friendly environments, and the
club’s more inclusive environments are helping
grow participation levels for everyone’s
enjoyment of the game.

REGIONAL COMMUNITY
CRICKET AWARDS
Volunteer finalists get important
recognition
The SACA provides a range of volunteer
recognition activities, via the Cricket
Partnership Program, which acknowledge the
extraordinary contribution of volunteers to the
success of our state’s cricket community.
During the pre-season, SACA and Cricket
Australia worked with volunteers at local
cricket associations conducting planning
and information sessions that covered
the new Australian Cricket Pathway and
training volunteers in A Sport for All sessions.
Volunteering has increased in line with rising
participation levels to ensure growth and
sustainability of community cricket.
The New Year’s Eve WBBL/BBL double-header
at Adelaide Oval rewarded volunteers as the
SACA held the third Regional Community
Cricket Awards. Many outstanding volunteers
from various cricket formats were recognised
with five finalists chosen from each of the
seven regional zones. The 35 finalists from both
metropolitan and country regions attended the
Adelaide Oval’s Cathedral Room function and
were presented with certificates from SACA
Chief Executive, Keith Bradshaw. Each region
acknowledged a winning finalist, with one
of the seven regional winners being slected
as the South Australian Community Cricket
Volunteer of the Year.
Mr Sunyl Vogt was the 2015/16 South Australian
Community Cricket Volunteer of the Year. Mr
Vogt was invited to attend a Cricket Australia
hospitality event to represent South Australia.
He visited the Sydney Cricket Ground with his
family for the International T20 match.
Mr Vogt is an integral part of the Pinnaroo
Border Cricket Association and Pinnaroo
Cricket Club. He assisted running the
region’s new U12 competition, is a Cricket
Australia School Ambassador at Pinnaroo
Primary School, facilitated the school’s MILO
in2CRICKET Skills program, and fielded teams in
the MILO T20 Blast School Cup.
In March, volunteers were invited to attend the
annual SACA Volunteer Recognition Ceremony
at the Adelaide Oval. More than 180 guests
attended during the final of the Country Living
Homes State-wide T20 Champions Cup.

Above: Regional Volunteer of the Year recepient (south central) Bob Fradd is presented with his award by Keith Bradshaw.

A total of 25 recipients were awarded the
SACA’s 25-Year Service Medal, presented by
SACA President, Andrew Sinclair. Seven longserving volunteers also were acknowledged,
receiving the Cricket Australia 50 Years
Service Pin.

COMMUNITY CLUB
FACILITY GRANTS
‘... new turf wicket squares, new artificial
surfaces and wicket replacements,
new training facilities and upgrades to
existing infrastructure...’
MANY CLUBS SCORE VITAL GRANTS FOR LOCAL
PROJECTS
The SACA Club Facility Grant Program for
2015/16 saw 61 cricket clubs and associations
receive funding up to $5,000 each towards
their local facility projects.
Associations worked with SACA, member clubs,
local councils and other sporting bodies to
strategically prioritise projects, which provide
benefits to their association and regional zone.
The SACA’s ongoing financial commitment to
improve community facilities is recognised
in the community and allowed many clubs
to plan facilities upgrades with their local
governments.

Several regions also secured valuable funding
from the Office for Recreation and Sport.
The SACA also works collaboratively with
Cricket Australia to access the National
Community Facility Funding Scheme, and this
year helped a further 20 clubs access funds to
complete their projects.
Over the past three seasons more than 190
clubs have received SACA funding which
has delivered more than $2.7m in completed
projects, including new turf wicket squares, new
artificial surfaces and wicket replacements,
new training facilities and upgrades to existing
infrastructure. This was the fourth season
of SACA’s investment into Community Club
Facility funding. The value of improvements to
cricket facilities during 2015/16 is in excess
of $900,000 and with several large projects
planned to commence shortly, the total values
of facility improvements is expected to exceed
$1.1 million dollars.
By providing funding to community clubs, and
by partnering with local associations and
local government, SACA’S Club Facility Grant
program is supporting volunteers to realise
their facility goals, while providing better
experiences for the growing number of cricket
participants in their regions.

A SPORT FOR ALL

Above: Adelaide High School MILO T20 Blast Secondary School Cup Winners.

GIRLS AND WOMENS CRICKET
20,000-plus attracted to schools-based
program
The ongoing growth in girls and womens
cricket is a key focus of the SACA in ensuring
that cricket is a sport for all.
During 2015/16 SACA engaged more than
20,000 girls in the four-week, schools-based,
MILO in2CRICKET Skills program. In addition,
566 girls registered in the 10-week MILO
in2CRICKET programs across the state.
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Girls’ participation in the MILO T20 Blast
programs continued to grow. More than 3,000
girls from primary and secondary schools
participated in competitive modified games
through MILO T20 Blast School Cups. State
finalists have the opportunity to play against
other states at the MCG. A further 165 girls
registered in the MILO T20 Blast program in
South Australia.

SACA’s staff partnered with the Smith Family
to offer 20 girls the opportunity to participate
in the MILO T20 Blast Strikers’ Holiday Clinics.
Participants previously had limited cricket
engagement and were able to participate
in the skills-based program, meeting WBBL
Strikers players, prompting a number of these
participants to transition into MILO T20 Blast
programs.
A new initiative in 2015/16 was the Strikers Girls
Cricket League. SACA identified a gap in the
female cricket pathway for girls aged 12 to
17 following the MILO T20 Blast program. The
league is aligned to the WBBL and features
modified games to allow girls to further
develop their cricket skills in a competitive
environment. Plans are in place to expand this
program further.
The Women in Cricket Development Program
offered club volunteers and youth squad
members the opportunity to learn and
develop their skills in SACA’s Women in Cricket
Leadership Day. This program will be offered
once again in 2016/17.

Above: Friendship Cup – Team India.

COMMUNITIES: FRIENDSHIP CUP
India triumphs as diverse communities
come together
The SACA was delighted to host the second
annual Friendship Cup in March at Park 25.
The event celebrated the South Australian
communities of two of the world’s biggest
cricketing nations, India and Pakistan. India
was once again the victors in a closely fought
finals match.
Teams from members of the Nepalese
community, a team comprising international
students, as well as teams from the SA Police
and Australian Army also competed on
the day.
SACA was also able to engage diverse
communities through cricket, and supported
several community events including Indian
Mela, Diwali, One Mitcham and On the Same
Wave. Cricket activities for children were SACA’s
key focus activities at the events.

DISABLED PLAYERS INCLUDED
AND EMBRACED
More than 1100 join via skills program
The SACA provided cricket opportunities for
more than 1100 participants with a disability
in season 2015/16 via the MILO in2CRICKET
Skills program.
The Reynella MILO in2CRICKET centre provides
a fantastic environment for children with a
disability and participation numbers in this
program increased from the previous season.
This centre will be run again late in 2016.
As a pathway progression from MILO
in2CRICKET programs, SACA conducted
MILO T20 Blast in partnership with Novita. The
partnership offers a specialist program for
children with a disability. SACA’s relationship
with Novita continues to grow.
In partnership with Secondary School Sports
South Australia, SACA staff delivered a MILO T20
Blast School Cup.

Above: Caption

Above: South Australian Deaf Cricket Team at the 2016 National Championships.

This relationship is seen as key initiative in
engaging secondary school students with
a disability in cricket and will be further
developed in 2016/17.
SACA staff helped celebrate International Day
of People with Disability by running a gala
cricket day. Disability providers and schools
took part in the day, which involved modified
cricket games and skills stations that provided
many participants their first opportunity to
participate in cricket.
Highlighting SACA’s commitment to cricket
being a sport for all, we partnered with key
disability support organisations, including
a partnership with Down Syndrome SA. The
SACA assisted Down Syndrome SA to deliver
cricket as part of the annual Step UP! For Down
Syndrome event and “T21 Bash”. SACA also
continued to support Special Olympics
South Australia.
The Australian Deaf Games was held in
Adelaide in January 2016 with SACA staff
helping to run the event. South Australia lost to
Western Australia in the bronze medal match.
Adelaide also played host to the Lord’s
Taverners International Blind Cricket Series
between Australia and England, with SACA
assisting with the coordination of this event.
England won the series against Australia.
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The SACA continued to work with the South
Australian Blind Cricket Club, many of whose
members were part of the successful South
Australian team that competed in the 34th
Blind Cricket Championships.

ABORIGINAL AND
TORRES STRAIT ISLANDER
PARTICIPATION
Five-year plan delivers on expectations
This season SACA provided more cricket
opportunities for Aboriginal and Torres Strait
Islanders. With the continued support of
the Office for Recreation and Sport, SACA’s
Regional and Remote Five-Year Aboriginal
Engagement Plan has been the driving
factor. It was developed to grow participation
of Aboriginal people in all areas of cricket
throughout South Australia. The following
programs were delivered:
• MILO in2CRICKET Skills – in conjunction
with Murray Mallee Community Health
Service Country Health SA, this program
was delivered to the students of Raukkan
Aboriginal School in August 2015. This
program was part of a stop-smoking, physical
activity and nutrition program.
• With engagement from the SANFL, SACA
and the APY Lands, in August 2015 MILO
in2CRICKET Skills and introductory clinics
were delivered to students at Amata Anangu
School, Murputja Anangu School and
Pipalyatjara Anangu School.
• With SACA engagement, the South Australian
Aboriginal Sports Training Academy (SAASTA)
provided cricket opportunities as part of
the 2015 SAASTA Shield (in conjunction with
netball and basketball). For many students,
this was their first cricket experience.
• With assistance from SACA, a five-week
cricket-training program for 14 schools with
Aboriginal children was developed. The
program was designed to allow for the school
to deliver the first four weeks with SACA
staff delivering the fifth week. All SAASTA
Academies also received a visit from
SACA staff.

conducting four competitions, with each
competition running six weeks and engaging
a total of 126 participants. The Multicultural
Cricket League is designed to engage
men and women from a variety of cultural
backgrounds in cricket.
The SACA also worked collaboratively with
the Australian Refugee Association to run a
cricket skills program with a direct link to the
Multicultural Cricket League to provide further
participation opportunities for people from a
multicultural background. A number of players
who participated in the Multicultural
Cricket League have since transitioned
into local clubs.

SA SENIORS SEASON 2015/16
First winter cricket trial a success
Winter cricket and National Championships
were the key features of the 2015/16 SA Seniors
Cricket Association (SASCA) season.

Above: Senior’s batsman, Greg Quinn.

MULTICULTURAL CRICKET
PROGRAMS
School cup attracts 25 teams – three
ovals required
SACA offered MILO in2CRICKET Skills
sessions to schools with a high multicultural
population and through this process
developed strong relationships with Pinnacle
College, Roma Mitchell Secondary College
and St Patrick’s school.
This program provided a valuable lead-in to
the MILO T20 Blast Harmony Day School Cup
held at Park 25 in March. It featured 25 teams,
ranging from primary students to year 8s and
9s. All three ovals at Park 25 were used which
created a great atmosphere and promoted a
competitive spirit.
The SACA, in contribution with funding from
the Office of Recreation and Sport, also
worked with the Kilburn Cricket Club to deliver
MILO in2CRICKET Skills programs to more
than 250 students from St Gabriel’s and St
Brigid’s Primary Schools. The first three sessions
were delivered at the respective schools
and the final session was held at the Kilburn
Cricket Club. The final session included a
cricket session and a tour of the club. The
Office of Recreation and Sport also funded
the Multicultural Indoor Cricket League. This
successful program was held at Action Indoor
Sports Centre and engaged 126 participants.

INDOOR CRICKET
Four competitions attract 126 participants
In addition to supporting indoor cricket
tournaments SACA also undertakes
programs that demonstrate indoor cricket
as a sport for all.
The SACA facilitated the Multicultural Cricket
League at Action Indoor Sports Salisbury,

Winter cricket was trialled for the first time by
SA seniors cricket. Games were held mid-week
on the hard wickets on Barton Terrace (North
Adelaide) and at Marion No. 2 ground as the
season progressed.
The National Championships were held in
Hobart from 16 to 20 November and South
Australia entered five teams – four in the Over
60s section and one in the Over 70s. The
SASCA-1 and SASCA-2 teams were runners-up
in the finals to Queensland and Victoria.
The Zone competition was extremely close
with percentage deciding the finalists. The East
Rangers finished on top, winning four of their
six games. Fleurieu and the South-West Eagles
won three games. With a better percentage
Fleurieu played East in the final for the Don
Tanner Shield. Fleurieu (4 for 133 after 36 overs;
G. Bilney 33 no and N. Akmens 28) defeated
East (3 for 133 after 40 overs; Grove 31 rtd,
Emmel, Reid, McKinnon 30 rtd) to win back-toback titles.
Graeme Fielke was the SASCA Club Champion
for 2015/16 with 81.40 points gained from 21
games and topping the batting with 444 runs
at an average of 49.33.
The annual interstate game against Victoria
took place on 13 March at Brighton No.1 and
No. 2 grounds. SASCA-1 (9 for 77 after 45 overs;
Reid 30) lost to VIC-1 in the 43rd over (9 for 78;
Field 2 for 10 and Stagg 2 for 23).
SASCA O70s (7 for 124 after 40 overs; Ashby 27)
were victorious over the VIC O70s (9 for 93 after
40 overs; Shepley 3 for 4 and Wass 2 for 12.
The Australian Over-60s Tour of England in
2015 saw Australia win the Ashes series 2–1
the first win in many years. South Australian
representative, Greg Quinn, performed well in a
competitive series.
England is touring Australia this year from
19 November to 16 December, playing three
games in South Australia against SASCA1s (Mt. Gambier, 11 Dec.), Aust Invitational
XI (Adelaide, 13 Dec.) and a ODI against
Australia (Adelaide, 15 Dec).

UMPIRING AND
COACHING
MORE ASPIRING COACHES
IN PIPELINE AS 249 TAKE
FIRST STEP
‘Community coaches have a significant
impact on players in skills development,
helping make their dreams come true,
from backyard to baggy green.’
This season the coach development team
worked hard to boost participation in
accredited coaching courses. The national
coaching philosophy the “Australian Way” of
coaching was also introduced. This provides a
clear, attractive and aligned coach pathway
with learning environments that are fun, safe
and high quality.
Community Coaching (Level 1) continued to
be the high volume program with more than
249 new and aspiring coaches taking their first
step in 2015/16 along the pathway. Community
coaches have a significant impact on players
in skills development, helping make their
dreams come true, from backyard to baggy
green. The community coaching courses are
critical to providing coaches with the support
and knowledge to assist them further develop
participants at their club or school.
Three new High Performance (Level 3) coaches
completed requirements – Luke Williams, Paul
Pasculli and Stewart Smith. At Representative
Level (Level 2) the SACA again led the way,
with 35 coaches attending. The course has
seen some talented coaches come through
and has provided a pathway to extend skills,
teaching coaches how to progress players to
enhance their skills and achieve their goals.
This year SACA’s Coaching Development
Framework detailing various programs and
opportunities available to coaches was
produced and distributed to every club as a
resource for new and existing coaches to use
in planning their season.
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The SACA partnered with Cricket Australia in
rolling out the new Cricket Coaches Australia
website for coaches. It has been established
to support coaches through the provision of
ongoing development opportunities.

The website is a major source of coach
education and recognition, which provides
coaches with access to seminars, workshops
and blogs, as well as video resources and
information to assist coaches with their
training sessions.
In specialist coaching programs SACA
delivered two women-only community
coaching courses.
The coach development team also attended
a number of Premier Cricket Women’s
sessions with Andrea McCauley and Sarah
Taylor, as well as a delivering a number of
other workshops focusing on: bowl fast with
movement; batting and game sense; skill
development and performance; mental side of
cricket. It also held a nutrition seminar.

SACA SHOULDERS MORE
CRICKET UMPIRING
RESPONSIBILITIES
‘SACA achieved its strategic goal of 176
new accredited umpires throughout SA,
65 of whom were new umpires to senior
metropolitan cricket.’
This year SACA progressed in its goal to
consolidate and manage umpire resources
throughout metropolitan cricket. Already
managing and coordinating umpires for the
Adelaide Turf Cricket Association (ATCA),
SACA also took on responsibility for the Para
Districts Cricket Association (PDCA), Adelaide
and Suburban Cricket Association (ASCA)
and the South Australian Metropolitan Cricket
Association (SAMCA).
Expanding the base and continuing to grow
umpiring by establishing a strong pathway
link for umpiring from Community Cricket
to Premier Cricket and beyond is crucial to
maintaining the SACA’s excellent track record
in producing world-class umpires whilst
providing great support for all levels of cricket.
This season SACA made 5,100 individual
umpire appointments to over 90 grades
of competition, using 274 umpires in the
metropolitan area.

Above: Umpires – Malcolm Green and Colin Shearing.

Additionally, aggressive targets were met to
recruit and train new umpires, building the
base for metropolitan cricket. SACA achieved
its strategic goal of 176 new accredited
umpires throughout South Australia, 65 of
whom were new umpires to senior metropolitan
cricket. There were 13 new representative
umpires and over 600 participants attended 28
umpire training sessions.

The performance of all umpires across Premier
Cricket, ATCA, ASCA and PDCA was continually
measured throughout the season, from team
captains to SACA’s umpire coaches. The result
was pleasing with a satisfaction rating which
exceeded any previous years.

COMPETITIONS

Above: Tea Tree Gully celebrate a wicket.

PREMIER CRICKET REVIEW
As flagged in the SACA Annual Report for
2014/15, one of the key decisions to come out
of the review into Premier cricket was to reduce
the number of teams in the men’s First Grade
Premier cricket competition from 13 to 12. This
recommendation was to be implemented in
the 2016/17 season.
In an effort to allow our Premier cricket clubs
the opportunity to control this process, clubs
and relevant committees were provided with
time to determine how best to get the first
grade competition into a 12-team format.
When this had not occurred by November
2015, the SACA Board determined that it would
need to control the process in its entirety and
determined that select clubs would need to
present to the Board, prior to the end of the
2015/16 season.
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In line with recommendations in the report
titled ‘A review of the current Adelaide Grade
Cricket Competition’ compiled by respected
South Australian cricket stakeholder, Rob
Zadow, the Board identified that the Port
Adelaide Cricket Club, West Torrens District
Cricket Club and Woodville District Cricket
Club would need to present in late February
2016. The decision to identify these three
clubs was not taken lightly, with the SACA
Board considering all clubs as part of the
process. Current participation and population

demographics were also reviewed which
further supported the decision to identify these
three clubs as those that needed to present
their strategy for the future.
Following the presentations, and taking into
account the further information presented by
each club, the SACA Board determined that
the preferred outcome was for Port Adelaide
Cricket Club and West Torrens District Cricket
Club to enter merger discussions. The SACA
Board fully understand the emotional and
complex nature of these discussions. However,
the Board is confident that the decision to
encourage a merger between the two clubs
is in the best interests of the Premier cricket
competition and cricket in South Australia.
SACA has also offered significant financial
support to the two clubs should a merger be
successful.
Given the time required to undertake the
complex process of a merger, Port Adelaide
Cricket Club and West Torrens District Cricket
Club sought an extension to allow them time
to communicate with their members and
schedule discussions between the two clubs.
SACA’s Board agreed to this request and whilst
agreeing that both clubs could compete in
the first grade competition in 2016/17, also
sought assurances that merger discussions
would continue. This request was agreed to by
both clubs and at the time of writing, SACA is
hopeful that merger negotiations between the

two clubs will be successful. SACA continues to
offer the two clubs any support they require in
this process.
The West End Premier Cricket competition is an
important component of the cricket pathway
in South Australia and SACA continues to
contribute significant financial support to each
of the 13 clubs. During past seasons, the grants
have increasingly been tied to outcomes in line
with SACA’s strategy and the strategic initiatives
of the Australian Cricket Pathway. This process
of aligning funding to strategic, operational
and performance based initiatives will remain
in 2016/17, as SACA continues to strive for the
West End Premier Cricket competition to be
the elite club competition in South Australia
and the nexus between community and
first-class cricket.

AUSTRALIAN COUNTRY CRICKET
CHAMPIONSHIPS
SA Outbacks men’s clinches first title
in 32 years

In another history-making achievement, the
championship’s inaugural women’s division
was won by a team comprising the best
female players from the International Cricket
Council’s East Asia-Pacific (EAP) region. The
EAP side defeated South Australia by eight
wickets. Breezair SA Scorpion Brittany Perry
claimed the ‘Player of the Championships’
in the women’s division with 223 runs at an
average of 44.6, and was joined in the Female
Australian Country XI by teammate Emma
Faint. Cricket Australia’s Executive General
Manager, Game and Market Development,
Andrew Ingleton, said the championships were
a great representation of country cricket. “The
country championships are a great showcase
of cricketing talent from regional Australia. A
staggering 45 per cent of Australia’s cricketers
start their careers in remote Australia and we
want to continue to increase their opportunities
to play at an elite level,” he said.
“We were also proud to introduce a women’s
division for the first time this year. The level
of talent in this new division demonstrates
the strength of women’s cricket across
the country and the game’s increasing
popularity amongst girls and women. “These
championships demonstrate that country
cricket is an integral part of the Australian
Cricket Pathway. “We’d like to thank the South
Australian Cricket Association, as well as the
City of Mount Gambier for its support in hosting
this important event on the Australian cricket
calendar.” The closing ceremony also saw the
launch of the ACCC Hall of Fame, honouring
the founders of the competition and some of
Australia’s best regional cricketers, an initiative
that Cricket Australia will continue in future
tournaments.
AUSTRALIAN COUNTRY XI (MEN)
Ben Smith (SA, c), Michael Arblaster (NSW),
Nathan Walsh (VIC), Kaden Dickfos (QLD), Ben
Parish (SA), Tony Hampson (QLD), Ben Boyd
(VIC), Shayne Bidwell (WA), Adam Ward (QLD),
Scott Burkinshaw (NSW), Sean Nottle (SA),
Patrick Butler (WA).
AUSTRALIAN COUNTRY XI (WOMEN)

Above: SA Outbacks captain Andrew Frick and coach Paul
Pasculli with the ACCC trophy.

The SA Outbacks men’s team claimed
their first national title with a four-wicket
victory over Western Australia at the annual
Commonwealth Bank Australian Country
Cricket Championships (ACCC) held in Mount
Gambier. The breakthrough victory was the
team’s first title in the competition’s 32-year
history.
South Australia’s Ben Smith claimed the ‘Player
of the Championships’ in the men’s division
after registering 232 runs at an average of 58,
including an unbeaten century against East
Asia-Pacific and four catches. Smith was also
rewarded with selection as captain of the Male
Australian Country XI, which also features SA’s
Ben Parish and Sean Nottle.

Norma Ovasuru (EAP, c), Brittany Perry (SA),
Tess Cooper (QLD), Jane Neil (VIC), Tabatha
Saville (NT), Lauren Mainwaring (WA), Chelsea
Moscript (VIC), Hannah Clarke (QLD),
Anna Paton (QLD), Emma Faint (SA), Emma
Gallagher (VIC), Lexi Muller (NT).
*Each team names a 12th player.

SACA JUNIOR STATEWIDE
CARNIVALS
Opportunity to vie for state SAPSASA
team selection
Two junior Statewide Carnivals were played
during the 2015/16 season, the U12 Statewide
Cup and the U17 Shield. The U12 Statewide
Cup comprised two country representative
teams and a team from each of the 12 Premier
Cricket clubs, while the U17 Shield included
two country representative teams, a team from
each of the 12 Premier Cricket clubs, a SACA
U15 State team and a team from the South
Australian Metropolitan Cricket Association.

Above: Under 17 Shield team members – Back row: Connor Lock (Southern Districts), Evan Fletcher (Kensington);
Front Row: Bailey Capel (West Torrens), Connor Dudley (Sturt), Krutarth Suthar (Prospect).

The U12 Statewide Cup was played in
December 2015. The teams played four
Twenty20 matches and two One-Day matches,
with finals being played on the last day. The
carnival provided opportunities for players
to display their ability in an attempt to gain
selection in the state SAPSASA team. Extreme
heat conditions affected the last day of the
competition resulting in Woodville and Tea Tree
Gully sharing the premiership trophy with 75
points each.

The scores were crucial in reaching the total
of 10/229 despite Murray Districts/Barriers’
Matthew Hanberg taking four wickets in the first
innings. In return, South East’s Alex Hentschke
tore through the Murray Districts/Barriers’
batting line up with 6/33.
South Australia Outback’s representative
Matthew McInerney won his second
consecutive Player of the Carnival trophy,
scoring 143 runs with an average of 47.67.

The 69th edition of the U17 Shield was held in
January 2016. The tournament hosted the best
U17 talent in the State, comprising teams from
Premier Cricket, Country, Community and U15
teams in one competition.
It provided a great opportunity for players
to represent their Premier Clubs outside of
weekend competitions. The carnival consisted
of seven One-Day matches. A grand final was
played at Railways Oval at Park 25 between
Kensington and Adelaide, the top two teams
on the ladder. Kensington proved too strong for
their opposition.

91ST SACA SENIOR COUNTRY
CARNIVAL
South East and Murray Districts/Barrier
fight it out
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Representative teams from eight country
regions in South Australia travelled to Adelaide
in early February to take part in the 91st Senior
Country Carnival. Eight country teams are split
into two pools of four, playing three games
each, before a cross-over final to decide the
premier.
South East and Murray Districts/Barrier
competed in the grand final, at Railways Oval,
Park 25. South East won the toss and elected to
bat with Matthew McInerney and Dylan Clough
each making 42 runs.
Above: SCC – Player of the carnival – Matt McInerney.

COUNTRY LIVING HOMES
TWENTY20 CHAMPIONS CUP
South Augusta and Langhorne Creek
show winning skills
In its sixth year, the Country Living Homes
Country Twenty20 Champions Cup gave teams
the opportunity to be named the best country
Twenty20 team in regional South Australia.
The competition was played in a 32-team
format and provided an opportunity for new
teams to enter the competition for the first time.
Qualifying finals and semi-finals were held at
Port Augusta and Langhorne Creek on Sunday,
17 January 2016.
Teams from Angaston, Wallaroo, Southern
Eyre South and South Augusta played their
qualifying finals at ETSA Oval at Port Augusta.
South Augusta proved to be the strongest team
that day and went on to defeat Angaston and
proceed to the Country Living Homes Country
Twenty20 Champions Cup.
In the other half of the draw teams from
Langhorne Creek, Millicent Footballers, Loxton
and Monarto played at Langhorne Creek, with
the home team beating Loxton to go through
to the Country Living Champions Cup final.
It was held at Adelaide Oval on Sunday 6
March 2016. Langhorne Creek won the toss
and elected to bat with Ben Warren top scoring
with 71 runs towards a total of 6/159. South
Augusta was no match for the Langhorne
Creek bowlers and they were dismissed for
52 within 11 overs. It was the first time that
Langhorne Creek had won the competition.
Country Living Homes also continued to
support the sixth edition of the South Australian
Metropolitan Cricket Association (SAMCA)
Metropolitan Twenty20 Champions Cup. The
grand final was played at Adelaide Oval
between Virginia and Keswick Cricket Clubs
and was followed by the Country Living
Twenty20 final. The Metropolitan final saw
Keswick dismissed for 38 in 13.3 overs, chasing
Virginia’s total of 7/111.
Heavy rain throughout the afternoon caused
the Country Living Homes Statewide Twenty20
Champions Cup, between Langhorne Creek
and Virginia, to be abandoned.
The Statewide Cup is played between the
winners of the Country and Metropolitan Cups
with the winner crowned the best community
team in the State.

SAMCA CUPS
Community cricket profile builds as
seventh season ends
Concluding a seventh season, the South
Australian Metropolitan Cricket Association
(SAMCA) continued to work closely with
the SACA to coordinate metropolitan senior
and junior representative carnivals, as well
as provide a forum for metropolitan cricket
associations to increase the profile of
community cricket.
In the first two weeks of January, junior
representative competitions between the

Adelaide Turf Cricket Association, Para Districts
Cricket Association and the South Central,
Western Suburbs and North Eastern Junior
Cricket Associations were held at community
club grounds.
In the U11s, the undefeated team representing
North Eastern defeated the team representing
Para Districts and, after an exciting one-run
victory in their last minor round game, South
Central went on to defeat Western Suburbs to
claim the U13 championship.
The following week, hot weather affected
the competition, although some matches
were played. Adelaide Turf North took out the
U15 title, defeating Adelaide Turf South in an
exciting match.
In the U21 competition, round robin matches
were played between the Adelaide Turf,
Adelaide and Suburban and Para Districts
Cricket Associations. Adelaide Turf reversed
the grand final result from the previous year
to defeat Para Districts in the grand final and
claim the 2015/16 SAMCA U21 Cup.
The four senior associations also competed
in the annual knockout rounds of the SAMCA
Shield. Adelaide Suburban was too strong
for the Churches and Community team,
while Para Districts fell narrowly to the
reigning champions, Adelaide Turf. In the
grand final played at Cove Sports and
Community Club, Adelaide Suburban
completed a shock upset by defending their
157, bowling out Adelaide Turf for just 108
and claiming the SAMCA Shield.
As winners of the SAMCA Senior Shield, the
Adelaide Suburban team qualified to play in
the final of the SAMCA Cup against the winner
of the Senior Country Cup, the team from the
South East Zone. In the final, South East was too
strong for the Adelaide Suburban team in what
was an excellent match between two very
high-standard teams. Participants enjoyed the
excellent facilities that were provided by the
Woodville District Cricket Club for the match.
The SACA appreciates the support provided
by the hard working SAMCA volunteers and,
with their ongoing assistance, looks forward to
continuing to grow the profile of metropolitan
community cricket.

INDOOR CRICKET
Spiders’ good form sees selection to
Australian sides
The 2015/16 season was a great one for the
Southern Spiders with teams and individuals
reaching success in various championships.
The season commenced with the Australian
Indoor Masters Championships played in
Ultimo, New South Wales with South Australia
represented by the Over-45 Men’s team. After
a week of mixed results the Spiders worked
their way into a finals position, finishing fourth.
The Over-45’s gallant campaign came to an
end on the Friday night of the finals, falling to
a strong North Queensland side. Darren Gow
was rewarded for his outstanding tournament
with selection into the All-Star side named by
Cricket Australia.

Above: Southern Boomerangs.

The Australian Indoor Junior Championships
were next and four teams represented South
Australia. The tournament was played in
Toombul, Queensland, with high hopes for all
sides. The U13 Boys side was inexperienced but
developed well as the week progressed. They
finished second to bottom but showed just
how good they could be when they almost
beat the benchmark Queensland team in
a last-ball thriller.
The U15 Boys were South Australia’s bestperformed team, progressing to the Grand
Final after finishing third in the group stages.
The Spiders came up against Victoria in the
Grand Final where they were narrowly beaten.
SA’s U17 Boys side were at the wrong end
of some close matches, which left them
finishing in second-last position. The team’s
highlight was their come-from-behind victory
against Victoria.
SA’s U17 Girls team got off to a flying start
before narrowly missing the finals, finishing in
fifth position after the group stages.
The Spiders’ season finished with the Australian
Indoor Open Championships which were
held at the Toombul Indoor Sports Centre,
Queensland. South Australia was represented
by our Open Men’s, Ladies and Lord’s Taverners
sides in the tournament.
The Lord’s Taverners continued their tradition
of success progressing to the finals series
after defeating New South Wales to qualify.
The Spiders were not able to get past a very
strong Victorian team, which beat them in the
Preliminary Stage of the tournament.
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The Open Mens were strong throughout the
tournament. After finishing in third position
in the group stages they beat Victoria in the
elimination final before they fell agonisingly
short to Queensland, missing out on a welldeserved Grand Final berth.
The Open Ladies side shocked the competition
when they defeated heavy favourites
Queensland in the Preliminary Final to earn a
spot in the Grand Final. A youthful Spiders side
were beaten by Victoria, finishing second best
after what was a fantastic week for them.

The Southern Spiders had plenty of individual
success throughout the championships with a
number of players selected in Australian sides.
Riki Boschma, Euan Fletcher, Sean McCullum,
Tyson Miller, Cameron Bullard, Lachlan
Ferguson, Zachary Schwarz and Zach Reekie
were selected for the Australian Junior team.
Mitch Thomas was named player of the series
in the Open Men’s tournament whilst Peter
Kerin and Matthew Bell were name All-Stars
in the Lord’s Taverners division. Kylie Rattray,
Neisha Iles, Stacey Oates and Jessica O’Reilly
were all named in the Cricket Australia High
Performance Squad, which competed in an
International Series.

NATIONAL INDIGENOUS
CHAMPIONSHIPS – IMPARJA CUP
Skilled players emerging as Boomerangs
sharpen their form
The South Australian team, the Southern
Boomerangs, unveiled talented players
at this year’s National Indigenous Cricket
Championships (NICC), formerly known as the
Imparja Cup.
In his second year of coaching the
Boomerangs, Stewart Smith planned a
thorough preparation for the team including
lead-up games against state U19 teams in
strong trials for the championship.
The trials prepared the team for the standards
required at a national championship level.
Whilst the Boomerangs did not win a game
in the NICC, up and coming players have
emerged from the squad and the squad
as a whole has gained further tournament
experience.
Two young standouts were Dylan McGregorBaptista and Dean Miller. McGregor-Baptista
had his best game against a strong New
South Wales team and continued his good
form in the middle order throughout the
championships. Miller received a late call up
to the championships and showed leadership
and maturity both on and off the field. With
further development he could be one to watch
in future state teams.

Above: Southern Boomerangs U20 side.

With a young and relatively inexperienced
squad, Russell Coulthard joined to provide
leadership and experience. After losing
Jeremy Johncock to family duties, Coulthard
was a vital member of the playing group and
his fielding and leadership throughout the
competition further illustrated this.
Coulthard’s best performance was 3/33 from
10 overs against the Northern Territory in a
match where Tyrell Sinclair top scored with
61 runs for South Australia. Both performances
were not enough for the Boomerangs to
claim the win.
Sinclair was crowned the SA Indigenous Player
of the Year with stats of 137 runs at an average
of 20.83 and his left arm orthodox bowling
claiming four wickets with an economy of 5.64
for the championships.

LORD’S TAVERNERS STATEWIDE
INDIGENOUS CARNIVAL
Jimmy Gepp scores Vince Copley
medal, averaging 79.5 with the bat
The Lord’s Taverners Statewide Indigenous
Carnival was run in November 2015 in Port
Augusta and Quorn. Seven teams competed
with plenty of talented Indigenous cricketers on
display across the two days.
Each team played three games over four
rounds. Port Augusta and Murraylands were
tied at the top of the ladder with Murraylands
edging out their undefeated rivals Port Augusta
by a mere two per cent.
Port Augusta’s Jimmy Gepp had an excellent
all-round carnival and was awarded the Vince
Copley medal as the player of the tournament.
He averaged 79.5 with the bat and an
economy rate of 5.75 with the ball.

REID/CONWILLAN TROPHY
Boomerangs U20 side retains trophy
The Southern Boomerangs U20 side retained
the Reid/Conwillan Trophy after the annual
match against the St Peters College XI was
washed out. In preparation for the Reid/
Conwillan Trophy match the Boomerangs
competed against Prince Alfred College (PAC)
for the first time.

The team competed well and was ably led by
Ayden McGregor-Baptista. The Boomerangs
batted first and two of the team’s most
experienced players, Mitchell Seekamp and
Charlie Holmes opened the batting.
Seekamp batted patiently and both openers
were able to make use of the field having to
be up early in the innings. The pair found the
boundary on several occasions before they fell
for 22 and 21 respectively. Tyrell Sinclair’s time
at the crease was short, losing his wicket just
after having launched a massive six. Captain
Ayden McGregor also had a short innings
falling leg before wicket for 13.
Younger squad members Dylan McGregorBaptista and Aaron Halloway nudged the ball
around and put on a 16-run partnership before
both were dismissed. The next few batters
weren’t able to resist PAC bowling and Felix
Holmes was left stranded as the not-out batter
on three and the innings ended on 99.
Charlie Holmes and Tyrell Sinclair opened the
bowling with Holmes taking a wicket in his first
over. Brother to Charlie, Felix then showed his
form and finished with 1/5 off his two overs.
Dylan McGregor picked up two key wickets
and the Boomerangs seemed to be in a strong
position, restricting PAC to 5/73 after 11 overs.
Another quick wicket from Josh Thomas wasn’t
enough to get the Boomerangs across the
line as Prince Alfred College won the game,
finishing at 6/109. Aaron Holloway was a game
changer in the field, taking three brilliant
outfield catches.
The Boomerangs’ depth is building with many
players having also played in the Senior
Boomerangs team. They are now joined by
promising members of the development squad,
which include Felix Holmes, Jordan Thomas,
Josh Thomas, Jaylen Sinclair, Aaron Holloway
and Jack Kuhndt.
Next summer the Southern Boomerangs U20
side will compete in the Statewide Carnival.
This will assist in aligning the pathway U20’s
development squad, transitioning to senior
Boomerangs selection.

PREMIER CRICKET

JUNIORS AND SENIORS
GRAB CHANCE TO SHOW
THEIR TALENTS
The SACA Premier Cricket competition is an
important component of the Australian Cricket
Pathway as it continues to provide junior
and senior players with the opportunity to
showcase their talent across all three formats
of the game.
The West End Senior Men’s competition
comprises the four grades (first through to
fourth), as well as the West End One-Day Cup
and the West End Twenty20 Cup. The Senior
Women’s competition comprises the first and
second grades, and is played as both a OneDay and Twenty20 format. The junior boys area
consists of four competitions (U16/U14 Red
and White grades), while the Ray Sutton Shield,
U12 Statewide Cup and U17 Shield provide
additional carnival formats of the game.
After 22 seasons in the West End Men’s first
grade competition, Southern District won their
maiden premiership title with a five-wicket
win over defending champions Tea Tree Gully.
A fantastic bowling display by the Stingrays
restricted the Bulls to 216 runs on day 1. Aided
by the excellent performance of David Hookes
Medalist Brendan McCormack (78), the
Stingrays chased down the required score on
day 2, with captain Shaun Tanner hitting the
winning six to take out the premiership.
In the West End One-Day Cup final played at
Adelaide Oval, Glenelg made 6/275 before
bowling out Tea Tree Gully for 10/196 in 45.5
overs. Top run-scorer for the day, Seahorse
wicket-keeper and skipper, Alex Carey, was
awarded the Rob Zadow Medal for Player of
the Match.
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Contesting their first final of the season, Tea
Tree Gully played fantastic cricket to defeat
Adelaide University at Pertaringa Oval in the
West End Twenty20 competition. Patrick Page
Jnr made a stellar 73 runs off of 52 balls, whilst
on the bowling end Tim Davey and Sean Nottle
each took two wickets.
In the Women’s First Grade competition,
Northern Districts successfully defended their
premiership with a win over Kensington at Park
25 No. 1. Chasing 121 to win the match, Brittany
Perry’s and Hannah Perry’s 67-run partnership
was crucial to the Jets’ win on the day.

In the Women’s First Grade Twenty20
competition, Kensington showcased their
bowling strength, restricting Sturt to a total
of 77, with Shae Daly and Monique Draycott
taking two and three wickets respectively.
Kensington reached the winning total in 15.5
overs with captain Sarah Lowe leading the
scoring with 31 runs.
The season-ending 58th Bradman Medal
Presentation saw Sturt take home both the
top awards. Leading Sturt wicket-taker, Simon
Roberts, won his first Bradman Medal, whilst
Alex Price was awarded the Karen Rolton
Medal as the season’s outstanding Women’s
first grade cricketer.
SACA wishes to acknowledge and thank Lion
for its steadfast support of the Premier Cricket
Competition, through its flagship brand
West End.

PREMIER CRICKET
COUNTRY ROUND
Port Pirie, Port Lincoln and Langhorne Creek
each hosted matches in the Men’s First Grade
Premier Cricket competition in the 2015/16
Country Round.
Port Adelaide travelled to its country zone to
play Southern District at Centenary Oval, Port
Lincoln. The Stingrays won the One-Day fixture
whilst players from Port Adelaide, including
Redbacks’ Tim Ludeman and Nick Benton,
showcased support for their country zone by
taking part in a coaching clinic at Ravendale
Oval. The players then attended several PLCA
matches being played during the weekend.
At home in their country zone, Woodville
took on Tea Tree Gully at Port Pirie Oval. The
Bulls proved too strong for the Peckers, with
Redbacks captain Travis Head (86), Tim Evans
(82) and Matthew Weaver (50) contributing
to the 5/298 total. The Bulls then dismissed the
home side for 222 in 47 overs. Players from both
teams participated in a post-match function
organised by the Port Pirie Cricket Association,
while players from Woodville additionally
participated in a kids coaching clinic at Port
Pirie Oval.
The third country round match was held at
Langhorne Creek Oval between Sturt and
West Torrens. Sturt, as the home team, batted
first and finished their innings with a score of
8/159. This score was enough to ensure a win,
as the Eagles were restricted to 10/128 in 37.3
overs. Redbacks Kelvin Smith, Callum Ferguson
and Alex Gregory treated locals at Langhorne
Creek to an exciting display of cricket.

1

2

3

4

1: S
 turt players: Connor Dudley, Simon Roberts
(Winner), Stuart Claring-Bould.
2: K
 eith Bradshaw, Alex Price (Winner) , Bridget
Patterson, Jordan Doecke.
3: Tea Tree Gully - West End Twenty20 winners.
4: N
 orthern Districts Jets – Women’s First
Grade winners.
5: M
 att Weaver – Tea Tree Gully.
6: Alex Carey – Glenelg District Cricket Club
– West End One Day Cup Winners.
5

6

FeBLUary
The SACA continued its partnership with
beyondblue and its FeBLUary campaign.
FeBLUary is in its seventh year and was
originally established in 2008 by the Southern
District Cricket Club.
A FeBLUary round is played each season in
February with the aim of raising awareness
about depression, anxiety and related mental
health disorders.
As has occurred in previous seasons, the
Premier Cricket Competition celebrated this
initiative with a special FeBLUary round across
all grades. Each team appointed a FeBLUary
ambassador who wore a special FeBLUary cap,
and at the end of the match, umpires awarded
a FeBLUary medal to the most outstanding
player of the match.
This season FeBLUary was held in Round 11 for
Senior Men’s grades, Round 7 for Women’s first
grade, Round 5 for the Women’s second grade
and Round 10 for all the junior grades.

COMMUNICATIONS
Premier Cricket continued its strong
partnerships with The Advertiser and
Messenger newspapers and is grateful to these
publications for their continuing coverage
of the competition. This season also saw the
Sunday Mail produce a dedicated Premier
Cricket article each week, which detailed
the results and provided a summary of the
previous day’s play.
A new Premier Cricket website was introduced
which also provided in-depth coverage, weekly
updates and important notifications of the
competition. In addition, the Cricket in SA
Facebook page and the SACA Competitions
Twitter account provided coverage of the
competition across different digital platforms.

58th BRADMAN MEDAL
PRESENTATION
The 58th edition of the Bradman Medal was
awarded at the Ian McLachlan Room at
Adelaide Oval in March.
In front of current grade players and
distinguished guests the Sturt District Cricket
Club was the big winner on the night winning
both of Premier Cricket’s top awards. Simon
Roberts won the Bradman Medal and Alex
Price won the Karen Rolton Medal.
Roberts finished the season as the leading
wicket-taker in the West End First Grade,
claiming 38 wickets, with best figures of
7/65 coming in Round 10. He also showed
outstanding skill with the bat, compiling 480
runs at an average of 48.
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His best innings was an unbeaten 125 runs
in round 8.
Recognising the cricketer who polls the highest
number of votes cast by umpires in the West
End First Grade competition, Roberts’ win is
the first by a Sturt player since Tim Haysman in
2001/02 and he is the club’s sixth individual
winner of the award.

Roberts (39 votes) finished nine votes ahead
of Glenelg’s wicketkeeper-batsman, Alex Carey
(30 votes) and Prospect’s captain Sam Miller
(28 votes).
There were further accolades for Sturt with Alex
Price winning her maiden Karen Rolton Medal.
In nine matches, Price claimed 20 wickets to
finish as the leading wicket taker in the SACA
Women’s First Grade, including outstanding
figures of 6/15. Her right-arm off-spin was
complemented by her ability with the bat, the
right-hander compiling 184 runs at an average
of 23 and a season high score of 76. Price (23
votes) finished just one vote ahead of Northern
Districts’ Hannah Perry (22 votes) and last
year’s winner, Tahlia McGrath, (22 votes).

WEST END MEN’S FIRST
GRADE FINAL
The West End Men’s First Grade Final featured a
battle between the two youngest clubs in the
Premier Cricket competition, with the Southern
Stingrays taking on Tea Tree Gully – the
favourites. The Southern Stingrays defied the
odds and produced a brilliant performance to
beat Tea Tree Gully in comfortable fashion at
Woodville Oval.
After winning the toss, Tea Tree Gully captain
Matthew Weaver elected to bat first. The
Stingrays’ Gary Putland (2/38) made an early
breakthrough when he caught the edge of Tea
Tree Gully’s Tim Evans (23). Huw Stone (3/51)
and Rhys Barrett (2/32) reduced Tea Tree Gully
to 3/64 before a solid 39-run partnership from
Tim Davey (35) and Patrick Page Jnr (38)
seemed to put the Bulls back into the contest.
Despite patient batting by Tea Tree Gully
captain Matthew Weaver (18), Southern District
remained on top with Andrew Staunton (2/60)
claiming the big wickets of Weaver and Adam
Somerfield (19). Ben Hutchinson (22) and Nick
Winter (27*) put up a fight late in the innings
for the Bulls, but the Stingrays bowled them out
for 216 before the end of play on day 1. Having
to bat 12 overs, the Stingrays played aggressive
cricket and finished with 51 runs. The Bulls did
manage to claim the wicket of Nick Bowen
(7) when he was caught behind off Jake
Haberfield’s bowling (2/60).
Day 2 saw Southern District recommence at
1/51 and needing a further 166 runs for victory.
Joshua Barrett (49) picked up where he left
off the night before, pairing up with Brendan
McCormack (78) for a 68-run, second-wicket
stand before Barrett was trapped in front
of his stumps by Matthew Weaver (1/25).
McCormack then partnered with Justin Ifould
(41) to put the Stingrays within distance of
the premiership. Tim Evans (1/21) worked
hard to keep Bulls in the game, but it was a
four, followed by a massive six from Stingrays
skipper Shaun Tanner (11*) that gave the
Stingrays the perfect finish to their premiership
quest.
Brendan McCormack was awarded the David
Hookes Medal for his outstanding effort with
the bat that led the Stingrays to their first ever
First Grade premiership.

Above: The Southern Stingrays celebrate their first ever men’s First Grade premiership.

WEST END ONE-DAY CUP
GRAND FINAL

WEST END TWENTY20 CUP
GRAND FINAL

A stunning batting performance by Alex
Carey and a brilliant bowling performance
by Glenelg saw the Glenelg Seahorses defeat
Tea Tree Gully by 79 runs to claim the club’s
eighth West End One-Day Cup title.

Tea Tree Gully won their fourth Twenty20 title in
five years, as they proved too strong against
Adelaide University.

After winning the toss and electing to bat
first, Carey (83) led from the front before
Bulls captain Matthew Weaver bowled him
(2/37). The Glenelg captain partnered
with the experienced Tom Plant (43) for an
opening stand of 117. George Hankins (53)
kept the runs flowing for the Seahorses as
they continued to pick off Tea Tree Gully's
bowling attack. Sean Nottle (2/36) produced
quick wickets for Tea Tree Gully, but a strong
performance from Craig Dand (36*) saw
Glenelg reach 6/275 after their 50 overs.
Jack Pudney (3/36) and Lachlan Griffiths
(3/47) got the Seahorses off to a strong start,
having Tea Tree Gully at 6/56 early in the
innings. Tim Davey (81) held ground for Tea
Tree Gully, putting on an impressive 65-run,
8th wicket stand with Nick Winter (38). It kept
the Bulls in the game. But it was bowling from
Craig Dand (2/35) and Johan Botha (2/23)
that proved too good for the Bulls, seeing them
all out for 196 in 45.5 overs.
Alex Carey was awarded the Robert Zadow
medal, with his performance with the bat and
the gloves being deemed worthy of the Man of
The Match status.

Winning the toss and electing to bat, Adelaide
University seemed to get off to a slow start
thanks to some restrictive bowling from Sean
Nottle (2/23) and Tim Evans (2/21). Midway
through the innings the Blacks improved the
pace with captain Andy Delmont (60) and
Paul Allegretto (41) taking control. Some
strong late hitting from Peter Wilson (22*)
saw Adelaide University finish their 20 overs
at 5/169.
Joe Mennie’s (1/23) wicket of opening
batsmen Tim Evans on the third ball gave
Adelaide University plenty of confidence.
Captain Matthew Weaver (49) provided a
solid partnership before he fell to Tom
Cooper (2/32).
With Tea Tree Gully looking down the barrel of
defeat at 2/71, 18-year-old Patrick Page Jnr
stepped up for his team. Page took control
of the match with an amazing 73 runs off 52
balls. He then paired up with Isiah Borgas
(24*) before falling to Cooper, leaving the Bulls
needing six runs from the final over. Matthew
Cuconits (8*) helped his side to victory hitting
a big six with three balls to spare.

Above: Andrew Sinclair with Northern Districts players Tegan McPharlin and Neisha Iles.

WOMEN’S FIRST GRADE FINAL
Northern Districts maintained their strong
hold in the Women’s First Grade competition,
defeating Kensington by five wickets in the
grand final.
After winning the toss, Jets Captain Tegan
McPharlin made a bold decision to bowl first
on Park 25 Oval No. 1. Kensington got off to
a good start with Breezair Scorpions Bridget
Patterson (44) leading the way with the bat.
Captain Sarah Lowe (22) then accompanied
Patterson to see the Browns move into a
comfortable 1/72, before Lowe was caught off
the bowling of Stephanie Morrison (2/35).
After the run out of Jordan Doecke (10), the
Browns collapsed with a loss of seven wickets
for 28 runs. Kiara Stockley (2/15), Hannah Perry
(2/21) and Erika D’Cruz (2/12) ensured that
Kensington were dismissed for 121 in 41.1 overs.
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In the second innings, McPharlin (16) started
the innings off steadily and provided good
support for opening bat Brittany Perry (38).
Hannah Perry (29) teamed up with Brittany
Perry to ensure that the Jets were in the
commanding position. Thanks to the bowling
from Katelyn Pope (2/14), Northern Districts lost
two wickets for one run, but Chloe Scheer (7*)
and Stephanie Morrison (3*) ensured that the
Jets won the match, passing the Kensington
score with five wickets remaining.

WOMEN’S FIRST GRADE
TWENTY20 GRAND FINAL
Kensington were crowned back-to-back
champions in the Women's First Grade
Twenty20 competition, after a six-wicket win
against Sturt.
Sturt won the toss and elected to bat. A
reasonable start, with a partnership between
Annie O’Neil (16) and Rhianna Peate (16),
was slowed as the Browns quickly showcased
their bowling prowess. Monique Draycott
(3/6), Shae Daly (2/15), Katelyn Pope (1/23)
and Sarah Lowe (1/7) restricted Sturt to 77 runs
in 17.5 overs.
In reply, the Blues gained confidence when
Stacey Oates (1/22) dismissed Bridget
Patterson in the first over, followed by Casey
Galbraith (1/16) bowling Eliza Doddridge for
four runs. It took the efforts of captain Sarah
Lowe (31), keeper Jordan Doecke (17) and
a strong finish from Kelly Armstrong (11*) to
see the Browns ultimately cruise past the total,
losing only four wickets in 15.4 overs.

Hannah Perry was awarded the Player of the
Match medal with her all-round performance
of 2/21 and 29 runs.
Right: Kelly Armstrong Kensington DCC – Women’s First Grade runners-up.

WEST END 1ST GRADE
GRAND FINAL
Woodville Oval, 19 March and 20 March 2016

TEA TREE GULLY vs SOUTHERN DISTRICT
DAVID HOOKES MEDALLIST:
BL MCCORMACK (SOUTHERN
DISTRICT)
UMPIRES: LUKE UTHENWOLDT
AND CRAIG THOMAS
TOSS: TEA TREE GULLY
RESULT: SOUTHERN DISTRICT
WON BY 5 WICKETS

TEA TREE GULLY
1ST INNINGS

RUNS

BALLS

J Evans

c JL Barrett

b GD Putland

23

24

M Cuconits

c JL Barrett

b RJ Barrett

16

78

I Borgas

c D Sboro

b H Stone

13

45

+TJ Davey

st JL Barrett

b H Stone

35

53

P Page Jnr

c JM Ifould

b RJ Barrett

38

63

*MK Weaver

c D Sboro

b A Staunton

18

86

BJ Hutchinson

c D Sboro

b A Staunton

22

43

AJ Somerfield

c SW Tanner

b A Staunton

19

38

N Winter

not out

27

39

JA Haberfield

c & b GD Putland

4

8

SS Nottle

lbw H Stone

1

23

H Thoman
nb 0, w 0, b 0, lb 0
SUNDRIES
10
wickets for
216 (83.2 Overs)
TOTAL
24, 47, 64, 103, 132, 157, 184, 184, 202, 216
F/W
BOWLING GD Putland 18-7-38-2; H Stone 17.2-5-51-3; A Staunton 17-3-60-2;
TL Joraslafsky 11-5-19-0; RJ Barrett 8-1-32-2; SW Tanner 12-5-16-1

SOUTHERN DISTRICT
1ST INNINGS

RUNS

BALLS

b JA Haberfield

7

12

lbw MK Weaver

49

89

b TJ Davey

78

224

b TJ Evans

41

118

b JA Haberfield

23

50

H Stone

not out

3

3

*SW Tanner

not out

11

6

A Staunton

dnb

RJ Barrett

dnb

TL Joraslafsky

dnb

GD Putland

dnb

BJ Hutchinson

dnb

J Macey

dnb

N Bowen

c TJ Davey

+JL Barrett
BL McCormack

c N Winter

JM Ifould
D Sboro
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c P Page Jnr

nb 1, w 0, b 0, lb 5
SUNDRIES
5 wickets for
218 (83.3 Overs)
TOTAL
8, 76, 164, 197, 207
F/W
BOWLING JA Haberfield 19.4-3-60-2; N Winter 12-2-49-1; AJ Somerfield 11-4-30-0;
MK Weaver 11-3-25-1; TJ Evans 14-6-21-1; SS Nottle 9-5-21-0; BJ Hutchinson 7-2-7-0
Right: Tea Tree Gull fast bowler Jake Haberfield.

WEST END ONE DAY
CUP GRAND FINAL
Adelaide Oval, 21 February 2016

GLENELG vs TEA TREE GULLY
ROB ZADOW MEDALLIST:
A CAREY (GLENELG)
UMPIRES: JAMES EDWARDS
AND CORY BLACK
TOSS: GLENELG
RESULT: TEA TREE GULLY WON
BY 79 RUNS

GLENELG
1ST INNINGS
+A Carey

RUNS

BALLS

c MK Weaver

83

82

TC Plant

c P Page Jnr

b MK Weaver

43

60

G Hankins

c SS Nottle

b JA Haberfield

53

68

D Irvine

c AJ Somerfield

b SS Nottle

18

24

J Botha

lbw SS Nottle

3

6

JL Winter

b JA Haberfield

20

18

CM Dand

not out

36

18

LP Griffiths

not out

6

5

SB Rice

dnb

A Patel

dnb

JG Pudney

dnb

C Parker

dnb

nb 1, w 8, b 0, lb 4
SUNDRIES
6
wickets
275 (50 Overs)
TOTAL
17, 137, 169, 178, 220, 260
F/W
BOWLING JA Haberfield 10-0-62-2; N Winter 7-0-47-0; AJ Somerfield 7-0-40-0; BD Evans 2-0-12-0;
TM Head 2-0-17-0; EJ Evans 3.1-0-20-0; MK Weaver 10-0-37-2; SS Nottle 9-1-36-2

TEA TREE GULLY
1ST INNINGS
TJ Evans
c G Hankins

b JG Pudney

6

9

c JL Winter

b LP Griffiths

4

13

+TJ Davey

c J Botha

b LP Griffiths

81

88

lbw JG Pudney

2

7

b CM Dand

18

24

b CM Dand

0

10

b JG Pudney

19

27

b J Botha

38

67

JA Haberfield

not out

10

17

SS Nottle

lbw J Botha

0

3

c A Carey

AJ Somerfield
BD Evans
N Winter

60

10

TM Head

I Borgas
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4

*MK Weaver

P Page Jnr
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RUNS
b LP Griffiths

c A Carey

SUNDRIES
10 wickets
196 (45.5 Overs)
TOTAL
15, 15, 20, 29, 52, 56, 104, 169, 196, 196
F/W
BOWLING JG Pudney 9-1-36-3; LP Griffiths 10-1-47-3; SB Rice 3-0-18-0; CM Dand 6-0-35-2;
nb 0, w9, b 4, lb 1

J Botha 7.4-0-23-2; A Patel 10-0-32-0

WEST END TWENTY20
CUP GRAND FINAL
Pertaringa Oval, 31 January 2016

ADELAIDE UNIVERSITY vs TEA TREE GULLY
UMPIRES: JAMES EDWARDS
AND MICHAEL WILLIAMSON
TOSS: ADELAIDE UNIVERSITY
RESULT: TEA TREE GULLY WON
BY 6 WICKETS

ADELAIDE UNIVERSITY
1ST INNINGS
+J Weatherald
*A Delmont

c MK Weaver

TL Cooper

RUNS

BALLS

lbw TJ Evans

11

17

b TJ Evans

60

49

lbw N Winter

14

9

PL Allegretto

c I Borgas

b SS Nottle

41

25

J Mennie

st TJ Davey

b SS Nottle

0

1

PJ Wilson

not out

22

10

JR Hilditch

not out

11

9

WA Agar

dnb

O Morgan

dnb

JJ Logan

dnb

L Crocker

dnb

SB Rice

dnb

N Fox

dnb

nb 0, w 7, b 0, lb 3
SUNDRIES
5 wickets for
169 (20 Overs)
TOTAL
26, 55, 123, 134, 134
F/W:
BOWLING JA Haberfield 4-0-31-0; SS Nottle 4-0-23-2; BD Evans 4-0-35-0; TJ Evans 2-0-21-2;
N Winter 4-0-38-1; MK Weaver 2-0-18-0

TEA TREE GULLY
1ST INNINGS

RUNS

BALLS

b TL Cooper

49

34

b JM Mennie

0

3

b TL Cooper

73

52

+ TJ Davey

b AH Delmont

13

10

I Borgas

not out

24

16

M Cuconits

not out

8

2

BJ Hutchinson

dnb

BD Evans

dnb

JA Haberfield

dnb

SS Nottle

dnb

N Winter

dnb

M Cuconits

dnb

JW Chapman

dnb

CL Polyak

dnb

*MK Weaver

c WA Agar

TJ Evans
P Page Jnr

c O Morgan

nb 0, w 2, b 0, lb 3
SUNDRIES
4
wickets for
172 (19.3 Overs)
TOTAL
1, 71, 108, 162
F/W
BOWLING JM Mennie 4-0-23-1; O Morgan 3.3-0-35-0; TL Cooper 4-0-32-2; AH Delmont 4-0-36-1;
WA Agar 1-0-8-0; JJ Logan 2-0-15-0; L Crocker 1-0-20-0

WOMEN’S 1ST GRADE
GRAND FINAL
Park 25 No. 1, 19 March 2016

KENSINGTON vs NORTHERN DISTRICTS
PLAYER OF THE MATCH:
H PERRY (NORTHERN
DISTRICTS)

KENSINGTON
1ST INNINGS
BE Patterson

UMPIRES: BRUCE STRIBLEY
AND LYNTON DONISTHORPE
TOSS: NORTHERN DISTRICTS
RESULT: NORTHERN
DISTRICTS WON BY 5 WICKETS

st TJ McPharlin

E Doddridge

RUNS

BALLS

b H Perry

44

97

b SC Morrison

8

17

*SJ Lowe

c DR Brown

b SC Morrison

22

27

+J Doecke

run out (K Stockley)

10

42

5

K Pope

lbw K Stockley

0

4

K Armstrong

c K Stockley

b E D’Cruz

4

13

H Armstrong

b B Perry

0

2

2

AT Wiseman

c BA Perry

b E D’Cruz

1

4

S Daly

c KL Rowe

b H Perry

1

21

RA Church

not out

4

15

M Draycott

lbw K Stockley

0

8

nb 0, w 26, b 1, lb 0
SUNDRIES
10 wickets for
121 (41.4 Overs)
TOTAL
22, 72, 93, 95, 108, 108, 112, 114, 118, 121
F/W
BOWLING K Stockley 7.4-2-15-2; SC Morrison 10-1-35-2; DR Brown 3-0-23-0; H Perry 10-2-21-2;
E D’Cruz 9-0-12-2; BA Perry 2-0-14-1

NORTHERN DISTRICTS
1ST INNINGS
+TJ McPharlin

c E Doddridge

BA Perry
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BALLS

16

41

c & b K Armstrong

38

105

KL Rowe

c BE Patterson

b SM Daly

8

41

H Perry

c SM Daly

b K Pope

29

62

C Scheer

not out

7

21

E D’Cruz

lbw K Pope

0

1

SC Morrison

not out

3

11

K Stockley

dnb

DR Brown

dnb

NL Mentha

dnb

S Carmichael

dnb

E Armstrong
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RUNS
b AT Wiseman

dnb

SUNDRIES
5 wickets for
122 (46.6 Overs)
TOTAL
35, 56, 89, 114, 115
F/W:
BOWLING SJ Lowe 10-1-29-0; K Pope 7-0-14-2; AT Wiseman 3-0-11-1; M Draycott 10-2-23-0;
nb 0, w 15, b 0, lb 6

SM Daly 10-2-16-1; K Armstrong 3-0-14-1; E Doddridge 3.6-1-9-0

WOMEN’S 1ST GRADE
TWENTY20 GRAND FINAL
Adelaide Oval, 21 February 2015

STURT vs KENSINGTON
UMPIRES: BILL MARSHALL
AND ADRIAN DROSD
TOSS: STURT
RESULT: KENSINGTON WON
BY 6 WICKETS

STURT
1ST INNINGS

RUNS

BALLS

*+EM Bartlett

b SJ Lowe

4

7

A Price

b K Pope

0

4

AV O’Neil

lbw SM Daly

16

19

10

M Green

c M Draycott

b CM Daly

8

19

c & b M Draycott

16

19

b BE Patterson

7

19

not out

5

10

RJ Peate
C Galbraith

run out (J
Doecke)

E de Broughe
SL Oates

b M Draycott

0

1

S Tansell

st J Doecke

b M Draycott

0

11

S Carver

dnb

SUNDRIES
TOTAL

nb 1, w 18, b 1, lb 1
9 wickets for

77 (17.5 Overs)

14, 15, 33, 46, 66, 69, 69, 77

F/W
BOWLING K Pope 3-1-23-1; SJ Lowe 3-1-7-1; SM Daly 4-0-15-2; AT Wiseman 3-0-14-0;
M Draycott 2.5-1-6-3; K Armstrong 2-0-10-0

KENSINGTON
1ST INNINGS

RUNS

BALLS

BE Patterson

c EM Bartlett

b SL Oates

0

4

E Doddridge

b C Galbraith

11

13

41

*SJ Lowe

c EM Bartlett

b E de Broughe

31

33

+J Doecke

b A Price

17

15

K Pope

not out

6

13

K Armstrong

not out

11

20

AT Wiseman

dnb

SM Daly

dnb

M Draycott

dnb

H Armstrong

dnb

SUNDRIES
4 wickets for
78 (15.4 overs)
TOTAL
0, 9, 57, 57
F/W
BOWLING SL Oates 4-0-22-1; C Galbraith 3.40-16-1; S Carver 1-0-7-0; A Price 4-0-19-1;
nb 0, w 8, b 1, lb 0

E de Broughe 3-0-13-1

SENIOR GRADE
PREMIERSHIP TABLES
CLUB CHAMPIONSHIP
POS

CLUB

TOTAL POINTS

1

Tea Tree Gully

712.50

2

Adelaide University

600.00

3

Kensington

535.00

4

Sturt

515.00

5

East Torrens

462.50

6

Prospect

415.00

7

Adelaide

405.00

8

Glenelg

402.50

9

Northern Districts

367.50

10

West Torrens

352.50

11

Port Adelaide

345.00

12

Woodville

310.00

13

Southern District

307.50

WEST END MEN'S PREMIERSHIP TABLE – FIRST GRADE
POS

CLUB

1

Tea Tree Gully

%

MATCHES
PLAYED

OR WIN
2ND IN WIN

1ST INN
WIN

DRAW
OR TIE.

1ST INN
LOSS

OR LOSS
2ND

TOTAL
POINTS

1.5512

12

0

11

0

1

0

220

2

Sturt

1.2656

12

0

8

1

3

0

165

3

Southern District

1.1018

12

1

6

1

4

0

155

4

Kensington

1.1986

12

2

5

1

4

0

145

5

Glenelg

1.3456

12

1

5

2

4

0

140

6

Northern Districts

0.8504

12

0

7

0

4

1

140

7

Woodville

1.1279

12

1

5

1

4

1

135

8

Adelaide University

1.0633

12

1

4

2

5

0

120

9

Prospect

0.9784

12

1

4

2

5

0

120
110

10

East Torrens

1.0375

12

1

4

0

7

0

11

Port Adelaide

0.8278

12

0

3

0

8

1

60

12

Adelaide

0.7102

12

0

2

0

8

2

60

13

West Torrens

0.4995

12

0

1

0

8

3

20
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WEST END ONE DAY CUP
POS

CLUB

ROUNDS PLAYED

TOTAL POINTS

1

Adelaide University

3

45.0

%
1.1437

2

Tea Tree Gully

3

45.0

0.9324

3

Northern Districts

3

30.0

0.5482

4

Glenelg

3

30.0

0.2928

5

Southern District

3

30.0

0.2851

6

Prospect

3

30.0

0.1722

7

Port Adelaide

3

30.0

0.1119

8

East Torrens

3

15.0

-0.1885

9

Woodville

3

15.0

-0.2262

10

Sturt

3

15.0

-0.3140

11

Kensington

3

15.0

-0.5690

12

Adelaide

3

15.0

-0.7945

13

West Torrens

3

0.0

-0.0647

14

SACA Under 19

3

0.0

-0.1971

%

WEST END TWENTY20 CUP
POS

CLUB

ROUNDS PLAYED

TOTAL POINTS

1

Tea Tree Gully

12

210

1.7569

2

Adelaide University

12

200

1.3457

3

Glenelg

12

150

1.3552

4

Northern Districts

12

150

1.2206

5

Port Adelaide

12

140

0.9283

6

Kensington

12

115

1.0693

7

Sturt

12

115

0.8560

8

Southern District

12

100

1.0173

9

West Torrens

12

100

0.8973

10

Adelaide

12

95

0.7725

11

East Torrens

12

90

0.8090

12

Woodville

12

85

0.8086

13

Prospect

12

70

0.7301

SENIOR GRADE
PREMIERSHIP TABLES
WEST END PREMIERSHIP TABLE – SECOND GRADE
POS

CLUB

ROUNDS PLAYED

TOTAL POINTS

1

Tea Tree Gully

12

210

%
1.7569

2

Adelaide University

12

200

1.3457

3

Glenelg

12

150

1.3552

4

Northern Districts

12

150

1.2206

5

Port Adelaide

12

140

0.9283

6

Kensington

12

115

1.0693

7

Sturt

12

115

0.8560

8

Southern District

12

100

1.0173

9

West Torrens

12

100

0.8973

10

Adelaide

12

95

0.7725

11

East Torrens

12

90

0.8090

12

Woodville

12

85

0.8086

13

Prospect

12

70

0.7301

%

WEST END PREMIERSHIP TABLE – THIRD GRADE
POS

CLUB

ROUNDS PLAYED

TOTAL POINTS

1

Kensington

12

147.5

1.9599

2

Adelaide

12

145.0

1.3549

3

Adelaide University

12

135.0

1.2297

4

East Torrens

12

130.0

1.1795

5

West Torrens

12

122.5

1.4062

6

Tea Tree Gully

12

120.0

1.3413

7

Sturt

12

105.0

1.0155

8

Prospect

12

100.0

1.0333

9

Glenelg

12

60.0

0.8567

10

Woodville

12

60.0

0.7244

11

Port Adelaide

12

45.0

0.5185

12

Northern Districts

12

37.5

0.5757

13

Southern District

12

22.5

0.7269
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WEST END PREMIERSHIP TABLE – FOURTH GRADE
POS

CLUB

ROUNDS PLAYED

TOTAL POINTS

1

Tea Tree Gully

12

162.5

%
1.6950

2

Adelaide University

12

145.0

1.6428

3

East Torrens

12

132.5

1.3347

4

Sturt

12

130.0

1.2438

5

Kensington

12

127.5

1.4024

6

Prospect

12

125.0

1.2117

7

West Torrens

12

110.0

1.2501

8

Adelaide

12

105.0

0.8689

9

Port Adelaide

12

100.0

0.9748

10

Glenelg

12

52.5

0.6886

11

Northern Districts

12

40.0

0.6202

12

Southern District

12

30.0

0.5660

13

Woodville

12

30.0

0.5444

GRAND FINAL RESULTS – OTHER GRADES
West End Men’s Second Grade

Tea Tree Gully 10/104 defeated by Adelaide University 10/132 & 3/137

West End Men’s Third Grade

Kensington 10/107 defeated by Adelaide 6/177

West End Men’s Fourth Grade

Tea Tree Gully 10/107 defeated by Adelaide University 10/162

Women’s Second Grade

West Torrens 6/127 defeated Northern Districts Orange 10/73

Women’s Second Grade Twenty20 Cup

Northern Districts Orange 10/89 defeated by West Torrens 3/115

SACA Under 17 Shield

Kensington 6/106 defeated Adelaide 10/104

Under 16 Red

Kensington 10/77 defeated by Tea Tree Gully 10/78

Under 16 White

Kensington 10/179 defeated Adelaide 10/97

Under 14 Red

Kensington 4/156 defeated Sturt 10/150

Under 14 White

Sturt 9/234 defeated Adelaide 10/134

Ray Sutton Shield

Kensington 0/74 defeated Woodville 10/71

Under 12 Statewide Cup

Woodville and Tea Tree Gully (Grand Final abandoned due to extreme heat)

TEAMS OF
THE YEAR
PREMIER CRICKET TEAM OF
THE YEAR 2015/2016

UNDER 17 SHIELD TEAM
OF THE CARNIVAL 2015/16

Alex Carey (wk)

Glenelg

Euan Fletcher

Kensington

Joshua Barrett

Southern District

Connor Dudley

Prospect

Timothy Evans

Tea Tree Gully

Bailey Capel (wk)

West Torrens

Alex Keath

Prospect

Josh Hoffman

SACA U15

Sam Miller

Prospect

Kyle Giniotis

Northern Districts

Alex Gregory

Sturt

Harvey Brennan

Prospect

Jake Brown (C)

Kensington

Cameron Bullard

Adelaide

Simon Roberts

Sturt

Ben Lowden

East Torrens

Luke Robins

East Torrens

Connor Lock

Southern District

Jake Haberfield

Tea Tree Gully

Declan Bayly

Adelaide

Carl Tietjens

Woodville

Krutarth Suthar

Prospect

Ziggy Kulesza

Sturt

Adam Clements

Country Black

Coach of the Year
Peter Sleep

Tea Tree Gully

Tyler Martin

Tea Tree Gully

Mason Neagle

East Torrens

Umpire of the Year
James Edwards
Volunteer of the Year
Kevin Payne
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Adelaide

SENIOR TROPHY WINNERS AT A GLANCE
WEST END FIRST GRADE
BRADMAN MEDAL – PREMIER CRICKETER OF THE YEAR

Simon Roberts

Sturt

FRED GODSON MEDAL – WEST END ONE-DAY CUP

Sam Miller

Prospect

DARREN LEHMANN MEDAL – WEST END TWENTY20 CUP

Joe Gatting

Northern Districts

CW WALKER MEMORIAL WICKET KEEPING TROPHY

Brendan Connelly

Kensington

TALBOT SMITH FIELDING TROPHY

Danny Irvine and Shaun Rice

Glenelg

JASON GILLESPIE MEDAL

Gregory West

Prospect

LMS HARGRAVE TROPHY MOST OUTSTANDING
1ST GRADE PLAYER UNDER 23 YEARS OF AGE

Alex Gregory

Sturt

CRAIGIE MEMORIAL TROPHY –
1ST GRADE BATTING AVERAGE

Alex Carey

Glenelg – 812 runs @ 90.22

BATTING AGGREGATE TROPHY

Alex Carey

Glenelg – 812 runs @ 90.22

CRAIGIE MEMORIAL TROPHY –
1ST GRADE BOWLING AVERAGE

Simon Roberts

Sturt – 38 wickets @ 14.37

BOWLING AGGREGATE TROPHY

Simon Roberts

Sturt – 38 wickets @ 14.37

KC BUTLER MEDAL – 2ND GRADE CRICKETER OF THE YEAR

Matthew Perilli

Adelaide University

BATTING AGGREGATE TROPHY

Justin Ifould

Southern District – 410 runs @
45.56

BOWLING AGGREGATE TROPHY

Sean Mason

East Torrens – 36 wickets @ 17.42

SID DALY MEDAL – 3RD GRADE CRICKETER OF THE YEAR

Mitchell Lewis

East Torrens

BATTING AGGREGATE TROPHY

John Robins

East Torrens – 374 runs @ 34.00

BOWLING AGGREGATE TROPHY

Sam Powell

Adelaide – 31 wickets @ 11.90

MCLEOD/WILSON MEDAL – 4TH GRADE CRICKETER
OF THE YEAR

Daniel Cocks

East Torrens

BATTING AGGREGATE TROPHY

Graeme Yates

East Torrens – 449 runs @ 74.83

BOWLING AGGREGATE TROPHY

Daniel Cocks

East Torrens – 41 wickets @ 11.76

WEST END SECOND GRADE

WEST END THIRD GRADE

WEST END FOURTH GRADE

SENIOR MEN'S TEAM AWARDS
BRADMAN MEDAL TEAM AWARD – HIGHEST AGGREGATE
BRADMAN MEDAL VOTES

Tea Tree Gully District Cricket Club

SCRYMGOUR CLUB CHAMPIONSHIP SHIELD

Tea Tree Gully District Cricket Club

SPIRIT OF CRICKET AWARD

Prospect District Cricket Club

BANKSA UNDER 17 SHIELD
BATTING AGGREGATE TROPHY

Euan Fletcher

Kensington – 349 runs @49.86

BOWLING AGGREGATE TROPHY

Connor Lock

Southern District – 23 wickets
@ 10.39

CW WALKER WICKET KEEPING TROPHY

Sean McCullum

Kensington

WOMEN’S
PREMIERSHIP TABLES
WOMEN’S FIRST GRADE
POS

CLUB

ROUNDS PLAYED

TOTAL POINTS

1

Kensington

10

151.64

2

Northern Districts

10

127.39

3

Port Adelaide

10

118.17

4

West Torrens

10

118.07

5

Sturt

10

51.94

6

Southern District

10

40.61

WOMEN’S SECOND GRADE TWENTY20
POS

CLUB

ROUNDS PLAYED

TOTAL POINTS

1

Kensington

10

137.68

2

Sturt

10

110.99

3

West Torrens

10

110.35

4

Port Adelaide

10

108.98

5

Northern Districts

10

72.22

6

Southern District

10

40.61

WOMEN’S SECOND GRADE
POS

CLUB

ROUNDS PLAYED

TOTAL POINTS

1

West Torrens

9

145.29

2

Northern Districts Orange

9

124.67

3

Prospect

9

112.98

4

Adelaide University

9

95.69

5

Kensington Brown

9

80.54

6

Northern Districts Blue

9

75.87

7

Southern District

9

68.03

8

Kensington Gold

9

63.48

9

Sturt

9

52.08

10

Port Adelaide

9

49.72
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WOMEN’S SECOND GRADE TWENTY20
POS

CLUB

ROUNDS PLAYED

TOTAL POINTS

1

Northern Districts Orange

9

128.26

2

West Torrens

9

115.42

3

Prospect

9

114.43

4

Kensington Brown

9

114.34

5

Sturt

9

111.65

6

Port Adelaide

9

78.51

7

Adelaide University

9

51.12

8

Northern Districts Blue

9

49.34

9

Kensington Gold

9

36.33

10

Southern District

9

16.41

WOMEN’S TROPHY WINNERS AT A GLANCE
WOMEN’S FIRST GRADE
KAREN ROLTON MEDAL – PREMIER CRICKETER
OF THE YEAR

Alex Price

Sturt

BATTING AGGREGATE TROPHY

Bridget Patterson

Kensington – 464 runs @ 58.00

BATTING AVERAGE TROPHY

Bridget Patterson and
Lauren Ebsary

Kensington – 464 runs @ 58.00
West Torrens – 290 runs @ 58.00

BOWLING AGGREGATE TROPHY

Alex Price

Sturt – 20 wickets @ 9.05

BOWLING AVERAGE TROPHY

Alex Price

Sturt – 20 wickets @ 9.05

FIELDING TROPHY

Katelyn Pope

Kensington

WICKET KEEPING TROPHY

Tegan McPharlin

Northern Districts

LYN FULLSTON MEDAL – 2ND GRADE
CRICKETER OF THE YEAR

Caroline Ward and
Yolande Winson

West Torrens

BATTING AGGREGATE TROPHY

Caroline Ward

West Torrens – 345 runs @ 115.00

BOWLING AGGREGATE TROPHY

Leanne Murray

Adelaide University – 27 wickets @ 6.67

WOMEN’S SECOND GRADE

SENIOR WOMEN’S TEAM AWARDS
PRESIDENTS TROPHY – CLUB CHAMPIONSHIP

Kensington District Cricket Club

FELLOWS AWARD

Donna Clark

Southern District

DOT LAUGHTON TROPHY

Ella Wilson

Southern District

SPIRIT OF CRICKET AWARD

Northern Districts Cricket Club

JUNIOR
PREMIERSHIP TABLES
UNDER 16 RED GRADE
POS

CLUB

ROUNDS PLAYED

TOTAL POINTS

1

Kensington

11

162.50

2

Adelaide

11

127.50

3

Tea Tree Gully

11

112.50

4

West Torrens

11

97.50

5

Sturt

11

90.00

6

East Torrens

11

87.50

7

Glenelg

11

85.00

8

Woodville

11

82.50

9

Prospect

11

82.50

10

Southern District

11

52.50

11

Northern Districts

11

37.50

12

Port Adelaide

11

22.50

UNDER 16 WHITE GRADE
POS

CLUB

ROUNDS PLAYED

TOTAL POINTS

1

Tea Tree Gully

11

152.50

2

Kensington

11

142.50

3

East Torrens

11

127.50

4

Adelaide

11

112.50

5

Woodville

11

97.50

6

Glenelg

11

82.50

7

Sturt

11

82.50

8

Prospect

11

77.50

9

Northern Districts

11

52.50

10

Southern District

11

52.50

11

West Torrens

11

22.50

12

Port Adelaide

11

7.50
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UNDER 14 RED GRADE
POS

CLUB

ROUNDS PLAYED

TOTAL POINTS

1

Kensington

11

137.50

2

Sturt

11

122.50

3

Tea Tree Gully

11

120.00

4

Northern Districts

11

112.50

5

Adelaide

11

97.50

6

Woodville

11

82.50

7

Southern District

11

82.50

8

Glenelg

11

77.50

9

East Torrens

11

77.50

10

Prospect

11

67.50

11

West Torrens

11

45.50

12

Port Adelaide

11

7.50

UNDER 14 WHITE GRADE
POS

CLUB

ROUNDS PLAYED

TOTAL POINTS

1

Kensington

11

162.50

2

Southern District

11

152.50

3

Sturt

11

137.50

4

Adelaide

11

127.50

5

Northern Districts

11

122.50

6

Tea Tree Gully

11

105.00

7

Glenelg

11

75.00

8

Prospect

11

52.50

9

East Torrens

11

47.50

10

Woodville

11

37.50

11

West Torrens

11

22.50

12

Port Adelaide

11

7.50

JUNIOR
PREMIERSHIP TABLES
PREMIER CRICKET JUNIOR PLAYER OF THE ROUND
Round 1

Wilson Otto

Adelaide

Round 2

Fletcher Pannell

Tea Tree Gully

Round 3

Cooper Luke

East Torrens

Round 4

Mathew Dnistriansky

Tea Tree Gully

Round 5

Joshua Hoffman

Glenelg

Round 6

No nomination

Under 14 Red

Round 7

William Bowering

Glenelg

Round 8

Adam Clements

Kensington

Round 9

Deakin Davis

Northern Districts

Round 10

Rhys Gaylard

Woodville

Round 11

Will Waterworth

Prospect

JUNIOR TROPHY WINNERS AT A GLANCE
UNDER 16 RED
BATTING TROPHY

Jed Spence

Kensington – 435 runs @ 48.33

BOWLING TROPHY

Adam Clements

Kensington – 30 wickets @ 8.33

BATTING TROPHY

Harry Edmonds

Kensington – 252 runs @ 84.00

BOWLING TROPHY

Kyle Brazell

Tea Tree Gully – 27 wickets @ 5.44

BATTING TROPHY

Christian Leddicoat

Kensington – 587 runs @ 73.38

BOWLING TROPHY

Liam Greber

Kensington – 21 wickets @ 10.14

BATTING TROPHY

Riley Thilthorpe

Sturt – 306 runs @ 61.20

BOWLING TROPHY

Neel Puri

East Torrens – 22 wickets @ 12.95

UNDER 16 WHITE

UNDER 14 RED

UNDER 14 WHITE

JUNIOR GRADE CLUB AWARD
SPIRIT OF CRICKET AWARD

Adelaide Cricket Club
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Right: Kensington captain, Sarah Lowe..
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SOUTH AUSTRALIAN CRICKET ASSOCIATION INC
ABN 94 694 912 780
BOARD OF MANAGEMENT'S REPORT
The Board of Management present their report together with the financial report of South Australian
Cricket Association Inc, (the Association) for the year ended 30 June 2016 and auditor's report thereon. This
financial report has been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards, Interpretations and
other authoritative pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards Board and the Associations
Incorporation Act (SA) 1985.
The Names of Members of the Board of Management
The names of members of the Board of Management in office at any time during or since the end of the
year are:
A. Sinclair

President

R.W. Hill Smith

Vice President from 21 March 2016

A.M.J. Hilditch
S. Niehuus
A. Slattery
D. L. Marsh
R. Phillips
N. Adcock
R. Snewin
A. O’Dea

Appointed 10 May 2016

C. Rhodes

Appointed 10 May 2016

S.D.H. Parkinson

Retired 28 September 2015

A.T. Sincock

Retired 29 February 2016

Hon Dr J.C. Bannon - A.O.

Retired 16 October 2015

Dr K.R. Griffiths

Retired 28 September 2015

G. Bain

Appointed 7 September 2015, Retired 27 January 2016

The Board of Management have been in office since the start of the year to the date of this report unless
otherwise stated.
Results
The surplus of the Association for the year amounted to $6,236,313 (2015: $4,346,611).
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SOUTH AUSTRALIAN CRICKET ASSOCIATION INC
ABN 94 694 912 780
BOARD OF MANAGEMENT'S REPORT
Review of operations
The Association continued to engage in its principal activity, the results of which are disclosed in the
attached financial statements.
Significant changes in state of affairs
There were no significant changes in the Association's state of affairs that occurred during the financial
year, other than those referred to elsewhere in this report.
Principal activities
The principal activity of the Association during the year was to deliver the sustainable growth and
development of all levels of cricket in South Australia and remain committed to the delivery of the highest
standard of sport, entertainment and events to our members.
After balance date events
Particulars of matters or circumstances that have arisen since the end of the financial year which
significantly affected or may significantly affect the operations of the Association, the results of those
operations or the state of affairs of the Association in future financial years are as follows:
Additional agreement
An agreement has been reached between Cricket Australia (CA) and the Association that commenced in the
2015/16 year and provides for a commitment of cricket matches at Adelaide Oval in exchange for a
financial commitment from the Association. Accordingly, a written agreement has been entered into
between CA and the Association prior to the 2016/17 cricket season. The guaranteed payment the
Association receives from CA is not anticipated to be affected as a result of the aforementioned change.
No other matters or circumstances have arisen since the end of the financial year which significantly
affected or may significantly affect the operations of the Association, the results of those operations, or the
state of affairs of the Association in future financial years.
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SOUTH AUSTRALIAN CRICKET ASSOCIATION INC
ABN 94 694 912 780
STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2016
Note

Revenue and other income
Operating Revenue
Other revenue and income
Less: expenses
Cricket expenses
Event expenses
SMA related costs
Grounds and Maintenance expenses
Employee benefits expense
Administration expenses
Depreciation expense
Amortisation of intangible assets
Loss on disposal of plant and equipment
Relocation costs due to development
Advertising expense
Finance costs
Other expenses

2016
$'000

4
4

5
14
13

2015
$'000

40,555
1,611
42,166

37,948
2,037
39,985

(6,999)
(7,209)
(2,383)
(442)
(14,071)
(1,962)
(283)
(760)
(11)
(937)
(145)
(728)
(35,930)

(4,743)
(9,209)
(3,729)
(533)
(12,043)
(2,915)
(129)
(761)
(15)
(777)
(121)
(664)
(35,639)

6,236

4,346

-

-

6,236

4,346

Current year surplus
Other comprehensive income for the year
Total comprehensive income

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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SOUTH AUSTRALIAN CRICKET ASSOCIATION INC
ABN 94 694 912 780
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT 30 JUNE 2016
Note

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other receivables
Inventories
Other financial assets

2016
$'000

7
8
9
10

2015
$'000

2,347
1,506
171
27,038

1,677
1,813
163
19,659

31,062

23,312

625
57,326
2,681

58,086
1,960

Total non-current assets

60,632

60,046

Total assets

91,694

83,358

6,095
6
753

3,938
4
777

6,854

4,719

7
164

15
191

171

206

7,025

4,925

84,669

78,433

15,538
10,000
59,131

15,319
3,740
59,374

84,669

78,433

Total current assets
Non-current assets
Trade and other receivables
Interest in joint venture
Intangible assets
Property, plant and equipment

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Borrowings
Provisions

8
11
13
14

15
21
16

Total current liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Borrowings
Provisions

21
16

Total non-current liabilities
Total liabilities
Net assets
Members funds
Board designated future fund reserve
Board designated facility improvement fund reserve
Accumulated surplus

17
18
19

Total members funds

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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SOUTH AUSTRALIAN CRICKET ASSOCIATION INC
ABN 94 694 912 780
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN MEMBERS FUNDS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2016

Board
Designated
Future Fund
Reserve
$'000

Board
Designated
Facility
Improvement
Fund Reserve
$'000

Accumulated
Surplus
$'000

8,663

3,740

61,684

74,087

Surplus for the year attributable to
members of the entity-Restated

-

-

4,346

4,346

Total comprehensive income attributable
to members of the entity

-

-

4,346

4,346

-

-

(6,656)

(6,656)

6,656

-

-

6,656

15,319

3,740

59,374

78,433

Balance as at 1 July 2014

Transfer to reserves
Transfer from surplus to Board
Designated Future Fund Reserve
Balance as at 30 June 2015

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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SOUTH AUSTRALIAN CRICKET ASSOCIATION INC
ABN 94 694 912 780
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN MEMBERS FUNDS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2016

Board
Designated
Future Fund
Reserve
$'000

Board
Designated
Facility
Improvement
Fund Reserve
$'000

Accumulated
Surplus
$'000

15,319

3,740

59,374

78,433

Surplus for the year attributable to
members of the entity

-

-

6,236

6,236

Total comprehensive income for the year

-

-

6,236

6,236

Transfers to reserves
Transfer from surplus to Board
Designated Future Fund Reserve
Transfer from surplus to Board
Designated Facility Improvement Fund
Reserve

-

-

(6,479)

(6,479)

219

-

-

219

-

6,260

-

6,260

15,538

10,000

59,131

84,669

Balance as at 1 July 2015

Balance as at 30 June 2016

Total
Member's
Fund
$'000

The Board of Management approved the transfer of surplus to two reserves as follows:
Board Designated Facility Improvement Fund Reserve - The general purpose of the fund is to help ensure
the long-term financial sustainability of the organisation's strategic investment into promoting and
developing cricket in South Australia.
Board Designated Future Fund Reserve - The general purpose of the fund is to help ensure the long-term
financial stability of the organisation and position it to respond to varying economic conditions and changes
affecting the organisation's financial position and the ability of the organisation to continuously carry out its
mission.
The sum of these reserves is supported by the Financial Assets summarised in Note 10.
The use and management of these funds are governed by the policy statements approved by the Board of
Management.

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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SOUTH AUSTRALIAN CRICKET ASSOCIATION INC
ABN 94 694 912 780
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2016
Note

Cash flow from operating activities
Cash received from members, events and grants
Payments to suppliers and employees
Interest received
Other revenue
Bank Charges
Dividend received

2016
$'000

2015
$'000

40,265
(32,680)
512
875
(134)
224

39,417
(33,952)
350
927
(123)
747

9,062

7,366

Cash flow from investing activities
Payment for property, plant and equipment
Payment for investments
Net movement in term deposits

(1,013)
(219)
(7,160)

(528)
(1,496)
(5,000)

Net cash provided by / (used in) investing activities

(8,392)

(7,024)

Reconciliation of cash
Cash at beginning of the financial year
Net increase/(decrease) in cash held

1,677
670

1,335
342

Cash at end of financial year

2,347

1,677

Net cash provided by operating activities

20(a)

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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SOUTH AUSTRALIAN CRICKET ASSOCIATION INC
ABN 94 694 912 780
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2016
NOTE 1: STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The financial report is a general purpose financial report that has been prepared in accordance with
Australian Accounting Standards, Interpretations and other applicable authoritative pronouncements of the
Australian Accounting Standards Board and the Associations Incorporation Act (SA) 1985.
The financial report was approved by the Board of Management as at the date of the Board of
Managements' report.
South Australian Cricket Association Inc is a not-for-profit entity for the purpose of preparing the financial
statements.
The following is a summary of the material accounting policies adopted by the Association in the
preparation and presentation of the financial report. The accounting policies have been consistently
applied, unless otherwise stated.

(a) Basis of preparation of the financial report
Historical cost convention
The financial report has been prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified by revaluations to
fair value for certain classes of assets and liabilities as described in the accounting policies.
Significant accounting estimates
The preparation of the financial report requires the use of certain estimates and judgements in applying the
entity's accounting policies. Those estimates and judgements significant to the financial report are disclosed
in Note 3.

(b) Income tax
No provision for income tax has been raised as the Association is exempt from income tax under Division 50
of the Income Tax Assessment Act 1997.

(c) Inventories
Inventories acquired for catering and general merchandise are measured at the lower of cost and net
realisable value.
For inventory acquired at no or nominal consideration, cost is the current replacement cost at the date of
acquisition.
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SOUTH AUSTRALIAN CRICKET ASSOCIATION INC
ABN 94 694 912 780
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2016
NOTE 1: STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(d) Property, plant and equipment
Each class of plant and equipment is carried at cost less, where applicable, any accumulated depreciation
and any accumulated impairment losses.
Plant and equipment is measured on the cost basis.
Depreciation
The depreciable amount of all property, plant and equipment is depreciated over their estimated useful
lives commencing from the time the asset is held ready for use. Land and the land component of any class
of property, plant and equipment is not depreciated.
Leasehold improvements are depreciated over the shorter of either the unexpired period of the lease or
the estimated useful lives of the improvements.
Class of fixed asset
Plant and equipment at cost
Leasehold Improvements - Structural
Improvements
Leasehold Improvements - Other

Depreciation rates
10-40%
2%

Depreciation basis
Straight line
Straight line

10-20%

Straight line

(e) Leases
Leases are classified at their inception as either operating or finance leases based on the economic
substance of the agreement so as to reflect the risks and benefits incidental to ownership.
Finance leases
Leases of fixed assets, where substantially all the risks and benefits incidental to the ownership of the asset,
but not the legal ownership, are transferred to the Association are classified as finance leases. Finance
leases are capitalised, recording an asset and a liability equal to the fair value or, if lower, the present value
of the minimum lease payments, including any guaranteed residual values. The interest expense is
calculated using the interest rate implicit in the lease and is included in finance costs in the statement of
profit or loss. Leased assets are depreciated on a straight line basis over their estimated useful lives where
it is likely that the Association will obtain ownership of the asset, or over the term of the lease. Lease
payments are allocated between the reduction of the lease liability and the lease interest expense for the
period.
Operating leases
Lease payments for operating leases, where substantially all the risks and benefits remain with the lessor,
are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease.
Lease incentives received under operating leases are recognised as a liability and amortised on a straightline basis over the life of the lease term.
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SOUTH AUSTRALIAN CRICKET ASSOCIATION INC
ABN 94 694 912 780
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2016
NOTE 1: STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(f) Financial instruments
Initial recognition and measurement
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the Association becomes a party to the
contractual provisions to the instrument. For financial assets, this is equivalent to the date that the
Association commits itself to either purchase or sell the asset (i.e. trade date accounting is adopted).
Financial instruments are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs except where the instrument
is classified 'at fair value through profit or loss in which case transaction costs are expensed to the profit or
loss immediately.
Derecognition
Financial assets are derecognised where the contractual right to receipt of cash flows expires or the asset is
transferred to another party whereby the entity no longer has any significant continuing involvement in the
risks and benefits associated with the asset.
Financial liabilities are derecognised where the related obligations are either discharged or expire. The
difference between the carrying value of the financial liability extinguished or transferred to another party
and the fair value of consideration paid, including the transfer of non-cash assets or liabilities assumed, is
recognised in profit or loss.
Classification
The Association classifies its financial assets in the following categories: financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss, loans and receivables, held-to-maturity investments, and available-for-sale financial assets.
The classification depends on the nature of the item and the purpose for which the instruments were
acquired. Management determines the classification of its financial instruments at initial recognition.
Fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets are classified at fair value through profit or loss when they are held for trading for the
purpose of short-term profit taking, are derivatives not held for hedging purposes, or when they are
designated as such to avoid an accounting mismatch or to enable performance evaluation by key
management personnel. Investments in listed securities are carried at fair value through profit or loss.
They are measured at their fair value at each reporting date and any increment or decrement in fair value
from the prior period is recognised in profit or loss of the current period. Fair value of listed investments
are based on closing bid prices at the reporting date.
Held-to-maturity investments
Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative financial assets that have fixed maturities and fixed or
determinable payments, and the Association intends to hold the investments to maturity. They are
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method.
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SOUTH AUSTRALIAN CRICKET ASSOCIATION INC
ABN 94 694 912 780
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2016
NOTE 1: STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(f) Financial instruments (Continued)
Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not
quoted in an active market. Loans and receivables are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest rate method.
Available-for-sale
Available-for-sale financial assets include any financial assets not included in the above categories or are
designated as such on initial recognition. Available-for-sale financial assets are subsequently measured at
fair value. Unrealised gains and losses arising from changes in fair value are taken directly to equity. The
cumulative gain or loss is held in equity until the financial asset is de-recognised, at which time the
cumulative gain or loss held in equity is recognised in profit or loss.
Non-listed investments for which the fair value cannot be reliably measured, are carried at cost and tested
for impairment.
Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities include trade payables, other creditors and loans from third parties including intercompany balances and loans from or other amounts due to Board of Management - related entities.
Non-derivative financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost, comprising original debt
less principal payments and amortisation.
Financial liabilities are classified as current liabilities unless the group has an unconditional right to defer
settlement of the liability for at least twelve months after the reporting period.
Impairment of financial assets
Financial assets are tested for impairment at each financial year end to establish whether there is any
objective evidence for impairment as a result of one or more events ('loss events') having occurred and
which have an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial assets.
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SOUTH AUSTRALIAN CRICKET ASSOCIATION INC
ABN 94 694 912 780
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2016
NOTE 1: STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(g) Impairment of non-financial assets
Goodwill, intangible assets not yet ready for use and intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are not
subject to amortisation and are therefore tested annually for impairment, or more frequently if events or
changes in circumstances indicate that they might be impaired.
For impairment assessment purposes, assets are generally grouped at the lowest levels for which there are
largely independent cash flows ('cash generating units'). Accordingly, most assets are tested for impairment
at the cash-generating unit level. Because it does not generate cash flows independently of other assets or
groups of assets, goodwill is allocated to the cash generating unit or units that are expected to benefit from
the synergies arising from the business combination that gave rise to the goodwill.
Assets other than goodwill, intangible assets not yet ready for use and intangible assets with indefinite
useful lives are assessed for impairment whenever events or circumstances arise that indicate the asset
may be impaired.
An impairment loss is recognised when the carrying amount of an asset or cash generating unit exceeds the
asset's or cash generating unit's recoverable amount. The recoverable amount of an asset or cash
generating unit is defined as the higher of its fair value less costs to sell and value in use.
For equity accounted investments, the entity estimates it share of the present value of the estimated future
cash flows expected to be generated by the associate/ joint venture or the present value of estimated
dividends to be received from the investment and ultimate disposal. The legal status of the associate/joint
venture is considered to determine the investee’s ability to distribute operating profits and any surplus
assets of the investee.
Impairment losses in respect of individual assets are recognised immediately in profit or loss unless the
asset is carried at a revalued amount such as property, plant and equipment, in which case the impairment
loss is treated as a revaluation decrease in accordance with the applicable Standard. Impairment losses in
respect of cash generating units are allocated first against the carrying amount of any goodwill attributed to
the cash generating unit with any remaining impairment loss allocated on a pro rata basis to the other
assets comprising the relevant cash generating unit.
The recoverable amount is assessed on the basis of the expected net cash flows which will be received from
the assets employment and subsequent disposal. The expected net cash flows have been discounted to
present values in determining recoverable amounts.
For an asset measured at cost, an impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss where the carrying amount
of the asset exceeds its recoverable amount.
Reversal of impairment loss for an asset measured at cost other than goodwill is recognised immediately in
profit or loss.
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SOUTH AUSTRALIAN CRICKET ASSOCIATION INC
ABN 94 694 912 780
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2016
NOTE 1: STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(h) Interests in joint arrangements
Joint arrangements represent the contractual sharing of control between parties in a business venture
where unanimous decisions about the relevant activities are required. Joint arrangements are classified as
either joint operations or joint ventures based on the rights and obligations of the parties to the
arrangement.
Joint ventures
The association's interest in joint ventures are brought to account using the equity method after initially
being recognised at cost. Under the equity method, the profits or losses of the joint venture are recognised
in the association's profit or loss and the association's share of the joint venture's other comprehensive
income is recognised in the association's other comprehensive income. Details of the association's interests
in joint ventures are disclosed in Note 12.

(i) Employee benefits
(i) Short-term employee benefit obligations
Liabilities arising in respect of wages and salaries, annual leave, accumulated sick leave and any other
employee benefits (other than termination benefits) expected to be settled wholly before twelve months
after the end of the annual reporting period are measured at the (undiscounted) amounts based on
remuneration rates which are expected to be paid when the liability is settled. The expected cost of shortterm employee benefits in the form of compensated absences such as annual leave and accumulated sick
leave is recognised in the provision for employee benefits. All other short-term employee benefit
obligations are presented as payables in the statement of financial position.
(ii) Long-term employee benefit obligations
The provision for other long-term employee benefits, including obligations for long service leave and annual
leave, which are not expected to be settled wholly before twelve months after the end of the reporting
period, are measured at the present value of the estimated future cash outflow to be made in respect of
the services provided by employees up to the reporting date. Expected future payments incorporate
anticipated future wage and salary levels, durations of service and employee turnover, and are discounted
at rates determined by reference to market yields at the end of the reporting period on high quality
corporate bonds that have maturity dates that approximate the terms of the obligations. Any
remeasurements for changes in assumptions of obligations for other long-term employee benefits are
recognised in profit or loss in the periods in which the change occurs.
Other long-term employee benefit obligations are presented as current liabilities in the statement of
financial position if the entity does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement for at least twelve
months after the reporting date, regardless of when the actual settlement is expected to occur. All other
long-term employee benefit obligations are presented as non-current liabilities in the statement of financial
position.
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SOUTH AUSTRALIAN CRICKET ASSOCIATION INC
ABN 94 694 912 780
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2016
NOTE 1: STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(j) Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand and at banks, short-term deposits with an original maturity
of three months or less held at call with financial institutions, and bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are
shown within borrowings in current liabilities on the statement of financial position.

(k) Revenue
Revenue from sale of goods is recognised when the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods
have passed to the buyer and the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the transaction can be
measured reliably. Risks and rewards of ownership are considered passed to the buyer at the time of
delivery of the goods to the customer.
Revenue from the rendering of services is recognised upon the delivery of the service to the customers.
Membership fees are recognised as revenue when no significant uncertainty as to its collectibility exists, if
the fee relates only to membership and all other services or products are paid for separately, or if there is a
separate annual subscription. Membership fees are recognised on a basis that reflects the timing, nature
and value of the benefit provided if the fee entitles the member to services or publications to be provided
during the membership period, or to purchase goods or services at prices lower than those charged to nonmembers.
Revenue from organising and hosting events is recognised in the period in which the events are held.
Dividend revenue is recognised when the right to receive a dividend has been established. Dividends
received from associates and joint venture entities are accounted for in accordance with the equity method
of accounting.
Interest revenue is recognised when it becomes receivable on a proportional basis taking in to account the
interest rates applicable to the financial assets.
All revenue is measured net of the amount of goods and services tax (GST).

(l) Contributions - Government Grants and Donations
A non-reciprocal contribution or grant is recognised when the Association obtains control of the
contribution or grant and it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Association, and the
amount of the contribution or grant can be measured reliably.
If conditions attached to the contribution or grant that must be satisfied before the Association is eligible to
receive the contribution, recognition of contribution or income is deferred until those conditions are met.
A non-reciprocal donation is recognised when the right to receive a donation has been established.
When the Association receives grants but is obliged to give directly approximately equal value to the
contributor, recognition of grant income will be deferred until the delivery of service.
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SOUTH AUSTRALIAN CRICKET ASSOCIATION INC
ABN 94 694 912 780
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2016
NOTE 1: STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(m) Goods and services tax (GST)
Revenues, expenses and purchased assets are recognised net of the amount of GST, except where the
amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from the Tax Office. In these circumstances the GST is
recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of an item of the expense. Receivables
and payables in the statement of financial position are shown inclusive of GST.
Cash flows are presented in the statement of cash flows on a gross basis, except for the GST component of
investing and financing activities, which are disclosed as operating cash flows.

(n) Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs including interest expense calculated using the effective interest method, finance charges
in respect of finance leases, and exchange differences arising from foreign currency borrowings to the
extent that they are regarded as an adjustment to interest costs.
Borrowing costs are expensed as incurred.

(o) Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Association has a legal or constructive obligation, as a result of past
events, for which it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will result and that outflow can be
reliably measured.

(p) Going concern
The financial report has been prepared on a going concern basis.

(q) Comparatives
Where necessary, comparative information has been reclassified and repositioned for consistency with
current year disclosures.

(r) Intangibles
Intangible assets are initially recognised at fair value. After initial recognition, intangible assets are carried
at cost less accumulated amortisation and any impairment losses.
Intangible acquired by way of a government grant are initially recognised at fair value in accordance with
AASB 1004. Such intangibles are amortised over their estimated useful lives and are carried at cost less
accumulated amortisation and any impairment losses.
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SOUTH AUSTRALIAN CRICKET ASSOCIATION INC
ABN 94 694 912 780
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2016
NOTE 1: STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(s) Adoption of new and amended accounting standards that are first operative
The Association has adopted AASB 11 Joint Arrangements, AASB12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities,
and AASB 13 Fair Value Measurement for the financial year beginning on 1 July 2014.
The adoption of these standards did not have any impact on the financial report other than additional
disclosures.

NOTE 2: ACCOUNTING STANDARDS ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
The AASB has issued a number of new and amended Accounting Standards and Interpretations that have
mandatory application dates for future reporting periods, some of which are relevant to the Association.
The Association has decided not to early adopt any of these new and amended pronouncements. The
Association's assessment of the new and amended pronouncements that are relevant to the Association
but applicable in future reporting periods is set out below.
AASB 9: Financial Instruments (December 2014), AASB 2014-7: Amendments to Australian Accounting
Standards arising from AASB 9 (December 2014), AASB 2014-8: Amendments to Australian Accounting
Standards arising from AASB 9 (December 2014) - Application of AASB 9 (December 2009) and AASB 9
(December 2010) (applicable for annual reporting periods commencing on or after 1 January 2018).
These Standards will replace AASB 139: Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. The key
changes that may affect the Association on initial application of AASB 9 and associated amending Standards
include:


simplifying the general classifications of financial assets into those carried at amortised cost and
those carried at fair value;



permitting entities to irrevocably elect on initial recognition to present gains and losses on an equity
instrument that is not held for trading in other comprehensive income (OCI);



simplifying the requirements for embedded derivatives, including removing the requirements to
separate and fair value embedded derivatives for financial assets carried at amortised cost;



requiring an entity that chooses to measure a financial liability at fair value to present the portion of
the change in its fair value due to changes in the entity's own credit risk in OCI, except when it
would create an 'accounting mismatch';



introducing a new model for hedge accounting that permits greater flexibility in the ability to hedge
risk, particularly with respect to non-financial items; and



requiring impairment of financial assets carried at amortised cost to be based on an expected loss
approach.

Although the Board of Management anticipate that the adoption of AASB 9 may have an impact on the
Association's financial instruments, including hedging activity, it is impracticable at this stage to provide a
reasonable estimate of such impact.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2016
AASB 15: Revenue from Contracts with Customers, AASB 2014-5: Amendments to Australian Accounting
Standards arising from AASB 15, AASB 2015-8: Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards Effective Date of AASB 15 and AASB 2016-3: Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards Clarifications to AASB 15 (applicable for annual reporting periods commencing on or after 1 January
2018).
AASB 15 will provide (except in relation to some specific exceptions, such as lease contracts and insurance
contracts) a single source of accounting requirements for all contracts with customers, thereby replacing all
current accounting pronouncements on revenue.
These Standards provide a revised principle for recognising and measuring revenue. Under AASB 15,
revenue is recognised in a manner that depicts the transfer of promised goods or services to customers in
an amount that reflects the consideration to which the provider of the goods or services expects to be
entitled. To give effect to this principle, AASB 15 requires the adoption of the following 5-step model:


identify the contract(s) with a customer;



identify the performance obligations under the contract(s);



determine the transaction price;



allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations under the contract(s); and



recognise revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies the performance obligations.

AASB 15 also provides additional guidance to assist entities in applying the revised principle to licences of
intellectual property, warranties, rights of return, principal/agent considerations and options for additional
goods and services.
Although the Board of Management anticipate that the adoption of AASB 15 may have an impact on the
Association's reported revenue, it is impracticable at this stage to provide a reasonable estimate of such
impact.
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SOUTH AUSTRALIAN CRICKET ASSOCIATION INC
ABN 94 694 912 780
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2016
AASB 16: Leases (applicable for annual reporting periods commencing on or after 1 January 2019).
AASB 16 will replace AASB 117: Leases and introduces a single lessee accounting model that will require a
lessee to recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for all leases with a term of more than 12
months, unless the underlying asset is of low value. Right-of-use assets are initially measured at their cost
and lease liabilities are initially measured on a present value basis. Subsequent to initial recognition:


right-of-use assets are accounted for on a similar basis to non-financial assets, whereby the right-ofuse asset is accounted for in accordance with a cost model unless the underlying asset is accounted
for on a revaluation basis, in which case if the underlying asset is:



investment property, the lessee applies the fair value model in AASB 140: Investment Property to
the right-of-use asset; or



property, plant or equipment, the lessee can elect to apply the revaluation model in AASB 116:
Property, Plant and Equipment to all of the right-of-use assets that relate to that class of property,
plant and equipment; and



lease liabilities are accounted for on a similar basis as other financial liabilities, whereby interest
expense is recognised in respect of the liability and the carrying amount of the liability is reduced to
reflect lease payments made.

AASB 16 substantially carries forward the lessor accounting requirements in AASB 117. Accordingly, under
AASB 16 a lessor would continue to classify its leases as operating leases or finance leases subject to
whether the lease transfers to the lessee substantially all of the risks and rewards incidental to ownership
of the underlying asset, and would account for each type of lease in a manner consistent with the current
approach under AASB 117.
Although the Board of Management anticipate that the adoption of AASB 16 may have an impact on the
Association’s accounting for its operating leases, it is impracticable at this stage to provide a reasonable
estimate of such impact.
AASB 2016-2: Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Disclosure Initiative: Amendments to
AASB 107 (applicable for annual reporting periods commencing on or after 1 January 2017).
This Amending Standard amends AASB 107: Statement of Cash Flows to require entities to provide
disclosures that enable users of financial statements to evaluate changes in liabilities arising from financing
activities, including both changes arising from cash flows and non-cash changes. To the extent necessary to
satisfy this objective, entities will be required to disclose the following changes in liabilities arising from
financing activities:


changes from financing cash flows;



changes arising from obtaining or losing control of subsidiaries or other businesses;



the effect of changes in foreign exchange rates;



changes in fair values; and



other changes.
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SOUTH AUSTRALIAN CRICKET ASSOCIATION INC
ABN 94 694 912 780
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2016
This Standard is not expected to significantly impact the Association’s financial statements.

NOTE 3: SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS
Certain accounting estimates include assumptions concerning the future, which, by definition, will seldom
represent actual results. Estimates and assumptions based on future events have a significant inherent risk,
and where future events are not as anticipated there could be a material impact on the carrying amounts of
the assets and liabilities discussed below:
(a)Impairment of non-financial assets other than goodwill
All assets are assessed for impairment at each reporting date by evaluating whether indicators of
impairment exist in relation to the continued use of the asset by the entity. Impairment triggers include
declining product or manufacturing performance, technology changes, adverse changes in the economic or
political environment or future product expectations. If an indicator of impairment exists the recoverable
amount of the asset is determined. No indicators of impairment were noted.
(b)Fair value measurements
Certain financial assets and liabilities are measured at fair value. Fair values have been determined in
accordance with fair value measurement hierarchy. Refer to Note 26.

NOTE 4: REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME

Operating Revenue
- Cricket revenue
- Members subscriptions
- Catering-related revenue
- Ground revenue

Other revenue
- Interest
- Dividends
- Other
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22,264
10,311
4,245
3,735
40,555

17,622
10,199
6,597
3,530
37,948

512
224
875
1,611

350
747
940
2,037

42,166

39,985

SOUTH AUSTRALIAN CRICKET ASSOCIATION INC
ABN 94 694 912 780
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2016
Note

2016
$'000

2015
$'000

NOTE 5: OPERATING PROFIT
a) Current year surplus has been determined after:
Bad debts
- trade debtors
Employee benefits:
- Short term benefits
- Other employee benefits

Remuneration of auditors for:
- Audit of the financial report
- Other non-audit services

NOTE 6: KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL COMPENSATION
Compensation received by key management personnel of the Association
- short-term employee benefits

NOTE 7: CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash on hand
Cash at bank

(27)

2

14,798
(727)

12,043
-

38
22
60

36
29
65

1,738
1,738

1,678
1,678

2,347

1,677

NOTE 8: TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
CURRENT
Trade debtors
Accumulated impairment loss

Other receivables
Other debtors
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542
542

1,176
(27)
1,149

964
964

664
664

SOUTH AUSTRALIAN CRICKET ASSOCIATION INC
ABN 94 694 912 780
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2016
Note

2016
$'000

2015
$'000

NOTE 8: TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)
1,506

1,813

625

-

NON CURRENT
Loans to SMA
Impairment of trade receivables

Trade receivables are non interest bearing with generally 30 days terms. An impairment loss is recognised
when there is objective evidence that an individual trade receivable is impaired. The impairment losses have
been included within other expenses within profit or loss. All trade receivables that are not impaired are
expected to be received within trading terms.
Movements in the accumulated impairment losses were:
2016
$'000
Opening balance at 1 July
Charge for the year
Amounts written off
Closing balance at 30 June

2015
$'000
27
(27)
-

25
2
27

Aged analysis
Trade receivables ageing analysis at 30 June is:
Gross
2016
$'000
Not past due
Past due 31-60 days
Past due 61-90 days
Past due more than 91 days

Impairment
2016
$'000
351
9
4
178
542
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Gross
2015
$'000
-

880
82
78
136
1,176

Impairment
2015
$'000
27
27

SOUTH AUSTRALIAN CRICKET ASSOCIATION INC
ABN 94 694 912 780
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2016
Note

NOTE 9: INVENTORIES
At cost
Merchandise

2016
$'000

2015
$'000

171

163

10,228

10,009

16,810
27,038

9,650
19,659

NOTE 11: INTEREST IN JOINT VENTURES - EQUITY ACCOUNTED INVESTMENTS
Net interest in the Commercial Operations Trust

-

-

Net interest in the Adelaide Oval SMA Ltd

-

-

NOTE 10: OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Shares in listed corporations and trusts
All financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are held for trading.
Held to maturity financial assets
Other investments

The interest in Adelaide Oval SMA Ltd (SMA) is carried at $1.
The interest in Commercial Operations Trust (Roof Climb at Adelaide Oval) is carried at $1.
Adelaide Oval SMA Ltd (SMA)
The Association and South Australian National Football League (SANFL) have agreed to associate with
each other as the promoters of SMA.
The SMA is a not for profit company limited by guarantee. The SMA's constitution states, no part of its
income or property may be paid, transferred or distributed, directly or indirectly, by way of dividend,
bonus, fee or otherwise, to any of the Members. Further, as per the promoters agreement, neither the
Association nor SANFL has any right or entitlement to any legal or beneficial interest in the income or
property of SMA.
Commercial Operations Trust (Roof Climb at Adelaide Oval)
The Association is a beneficiary of a share of distributions from Commercial Operations Trust based on its
Net Profit or Loss in accordance with the provisions of the agreement between the Association, SMA and
South Australian National Football League (SANFL).
The investment in the Commercial Operations Trust has been fully impaired as it is not reasonably certain
to generate and retain a surplus to which the Association has an unconditional right, and is to be operated
as a service entity for the management of the Roof Climb at Adelaide Oval for the benefit of the Association
and its Joint Venture partner the SANFL.
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NOTE 12: INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES AND JOINT ARRANGEMENTS

(a) Summarised financial information for the association's interest in SMA and Commercial Operations Trust
2016
$'000

2015
$'000

SMA
Total current assets
Total non-current assets
Total current liabilities
Total non-current liabilities
Net assets

8,584
16,110
(15,933)
(7,468)
1,293

17,521
14,840
(20,699)
(8,133)
3,529

Trading Revenue
Trading Expenses
Trading Deficit
State Government grants and contributions
Less: Government asset write down
Service Fees from JV partners
Total comprehensive income
Opening net assets
Add: Total comprehensive income
Closing net assets

66,546
(70,655)
(4,109)
4,393
(7,051)
4,531
(2,236)
3,529
(2,236)
1,293

62,479
(67,960)
(5,481)
6,743
(6,347)
6,913
1,828
1,701
1,828
3,529

50.0%

50.0%

647

1,764

Association's % share of net assets
Association's share of net assets
(Impairment)/ reversal of impairment

(647)
-

-

(1,764)
-

The above Joint Venture financial information is unaudited. The Joint Venture related party transactions are
disclosed at Note 23.
The Association provides financial support to the SMA in the event of 'financial difficulties' - refer Note 22.
Commercial Operations Trust
During the 2016 financial year all activity of the roof climb at Adelaide Oval was conducted within SMA and
no transactions occurred within Commercial Operations Trust from its commencement to the date of this
report.
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Note

NOTE 13: INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Licences at cost
Accumulated amortisation
Total intangible assets

2016
$'000

59,100
(1,774)
57,326

2015
$'000

59,100
(1,014)
58,086

(a) Reconciliations
Intangible assets acquired by government grants
The Association was granted a licence agreement on the 17 November 2011 for 80 years by the
Government of South Australia for priority use of Adelaide Oval for cricket purposes during the period 8
October – 14 March annually.
The intangible assets were valued by an independent valuation dated 8 August 2012. The net fair value of
intangible assets at that date has been valued principally using the discount cash flow methodology
considering the earnings associated with the core use of the Adelaide Oval (redeveloped) and the various
other spaces of real estate allocated to the Association.
Given that the license granted is in relation to new and improved patron facilities and accommodation, the
key assumptions used in the valuation when the asset was initially recognised are as follows:
• Retention of international and domestic cricket matches;
• Growth to attendances at some international cricket matches
• Revenue derived from the introduction of a new venue membership product enabling
patron access to cricket and football fixtures;
• Enhanced quantity and quality of corporate facilities;
• Improved indoor cricket training facilities;
• Office accommodation and function spaces at no cost;
• The cash flow forecast used in the valuation relates to the period 2014 - 2034; and
• The value has been based on the incremental value of cash flows.
Reconciliation of the carrying amounts of intangible assets at the
beginning and end of the current financial year:
Licences at cost
Opening balance
Amortisation expense
Closing balance

58,086
(760)
57,326
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58,847
(761)
58,086
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Note

2016
$'000

2015
$'000

NOTE 14: PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Leasehold improvements
At cost
Accumulated depreciation

1,396
(272)
1,124

1,152
(185)
967

Capital works in progress
Total leasehold improvements

650
1,774

210
1,177

Plant and equipment
Plant and equipment at cost
Accumulated depreciation
Total Plant and equipment

1,555
(648)
907

1,498
(715)
783

Total property, plant and equipment

2,681

1,960

Leasehold improvements
Opening carrying amount
Additions
Disposals
Depreciation expense
Closing carrying amount

1,177
695
(5)
(93)
1,774

956
258
(37)
1,177

Plant and equipment
Opening carrying amount
Additions
Disposals
Depreciation expense
Closing carrying amount

783
324
(10)
(190)
907

605
270
(92)
783

(a) Reconciliations
Reconciliation of the carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment
at the beginning and end of the current financial year:
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Note

NOTE 15: TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
Unsecured liabilities
Trade creditors
Other creditors and accruals

2016
$'000

2015
$'000

617
5,478
6,095

166
3,772
3,938

NOTE 16: PROVISIONS
CURRENT
Annual leave
Long service leave

(a)
(a)

414
339
753

469
308
777

NON CURRENT
Long service leave

(a)

164

191

Provision for long-term employee benefits - A provision has been recognised for employee benefits relating
to long service leave for employees. In calculating the present value of future cash flows in respect of long
service leave, the probability of long service leave being taken is based upon historical data. The
measurement and recognition criteria for employee benefits have been included in Note 1(i).
(a) Aggregate employee benefits liability
(b) Number of employees at year end

917
59
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Note

2016
$'000

2015
$'000

NOTE 17: BOARD DESIGNATED FUTURE FUND RESERVE
15,538

Board designated future fund reserve

15,319

The Board of Management approved the transfer of surplus to set up the above reserve.
The general purpose of the fund is to help ensure the long-term financial stability of the organisation and
position it to respond to varying economic conditions and changes affecting the organisation's financial
position and the ability of the organisation to continuously carry out its mission.
The use and management of the funds is governed by a policy statement approved by the Board of
Management.

2016
$'000

2015
$'000

NOTE 18: BOARD DESIGNATED FACILITY IMPROVEMENT FUND RESERVE
Board designated facility improvement fund reserve

10,000

3,740

The Board of Management approved the transfer of surplus to set up the above reserve.
The general purpose of the fund is to help ensure the long-term financial sustainability of the organisation's
strategic investment into promoting and developing cricket in South Australia.
The use and management of the fund is governed by a policy statement approved by the Board of
Management.

2016
$'000
NOTE 19: ACCUMULATED SURPLUS
Accumulated surplus at beginning of year
Surplus of current year
Transfers to reserves
Accumulated surplus at end of the year

59,374
6,236
(6,479)
59,131
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2015
$'000
61,684
4,346
(6,656)
59,374
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Note

2016
$'000

2015
$'000

NOTE 20: CASH FLOW INFORMATION
(a) Reconciliation of cash flow from operations with current year surplus
Current year surplus
Adjustments and non-cash items
Depreciation
Amortisation of intangible assets
Net loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment
Fair value adjustment to financial instruments
Changes in assets and liabilities
(Increase) / decrease in receivables
(Increase) / decrease in inventories
Increase / (decrease) in payables
Increase / (decrease) in provisions
Increase / (decrease) in GST
Cash flows from operating activities

6,236

4,346

283
760
(11)
(11)

129
761
(146)

(318)
(8)
2,157
(51)
25
9,062

1,955
(163)
246
111
127
7,366

76
39
115

88
61
149

NOTE 21: CAPITAL AND OTHER COMMITMENTS
(a) Operating lease commitments
Non-cancellable operating leases contracted for but not capitalised in the
financial statements:
Payable
- not later than one year
- later than one year and not later than five years
- later than five years
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Note

2016
$'000

2015
$'000

NOTE 21: CAPITAL AND OTHER COMMITMENTS (CONTINUED)
South Australian Cricket Association Inc. had the following significant
operating leases during the year ended 30 June 2016. They are:
• The lease of an oﬃce/warehouse situated at Unit 3, 22 Ware Street,
Thebarton SA 5031 which has a lease term ending on 7 May 2017 and
provides that the minimum lease payments shall be increased by the All
Groups Adelaide Consumer Price Index;
• The lease of the Womens' Memorial Playing Field comprising the whole
of the land comprised and described in Certificate of title Volume 5247
Folio 595, being a 21 years lease expiring on 30 June 2029 having a
repayment of $1.00 p.a. payable on demand; and
• The Sporting Licence of Park 25 comprising the whole of the land
referred to as "Park 25" in the Adelaide Parklands, Port Road, Adelaide, is a
5 year Licence expiring on 31 August 2017 providing for minimum annual
lease payments of $3,955 commencing in the 2012/13 financial year.
(b) Capital commitments
The Association did not have any capital commitments as at 30 June 2016 (30 June 2015: Nil), or any
interest in capital commitments through its interest in the SMA.
(c) Finance leasing commitments
Payable
- not later than one year
- later than one year and not later than five years
Minimum lease payments
Consisting of
- Capital (Current)
- Capital (Non-current)
- Interest
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7
8
15

7
15
22

6
7
2
15

4
15
3
22
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Note

2016
$'000

2015
$'000

NOTE 22: CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
(i) The Promoters Agreement between the Association, SMA and SANFL provides a vehicle for financial
support from the Association and SANFL to SMA in the event of 'financial difficulties'.
(ii) It is possible that recent variations and ongoing negotiations relating to commercially confidential
supplier agreements may result in the outflow of economic benefits to third parties between the 2016 and
2024 financial years in a form that has been agreed. The outflow is not considered material on an annual
basis, and no outflow occurred in the 2016 financial year.
NOTE 23: RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(a) Transactions with Joint Venture
Total Revenue
Total Expenses

11,572
(7,017)

8,752
(8,789)

The following balances owing between Adelaide Oval SMA Limited and the Association are included in the
Association's Statement of Financial Position:
Amounts due by SMA
644
774
Amounts due to SMA
(533)
(158)

(b) S.D.H. Parkinson - Sam Parkinson Marketing
Goods were provided by Sam Parkinson Marketing, a related entity of S.D.H. Parkinson, on commercial
terms and conditions.
Value of transactions
23
19
(c) Andrew Sinclair - Cowell Clarke
Legal services were rendered to Adelaide Oval SMA Limited by Cowell Clarke, a related entity of Andrew
Sinclair, on commercial terms and conditions.
Value of transactions
9
(d) R.W. Hill Smith - Samuel Smith & Son Pty Ltd
Goods were provided to Adelaide Oval SMA Limited by Samuel Smith & Son Pty Ltd, a related entity of R.W.
Hill Smith, on commercial terms and conditions.
Value of transactions (Sales)
122
171
Value of transactions (Payments)
(11)
-

- 32 -

SOUTH AUSTRALIAN CRICKET ASSOCIATION INC
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2016
Note

2016
$'000

2015
$'000

NOTE 23: RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)
(e) R. Phillips - Honorarium
An Honorarium was received from the Association in connection with services rendered as grade cricket
talent spotter on commercial terms and conditions.
Value of transactions
5
3
(f) D.L. Marsh - Grant Thornton
Internal audit services were provided by Grant Thornton, a related entity of D.L. Marsh, on commercial
terms and conditions.
Value of transactions
30

-

NOTE 24: FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
The Association is exposed to a variety of financial risks comprising:
(a) Market price risk
(b) Interest rate risk
(c) Credit risk
(d) Liquidity risk
(e) Fair values
The members of the Board of Management have overall responsibility for identifying and managing
operational and financial risks.
The Association holds the following financial instruments:
2016
$'000

Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other receivables
Other financial assets
Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables
Borrowings
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2015
$'000

2,347
2,131
27,038
31,516

1,677
1,813
19,659
23,149

6,095
13
6,108

3,938
19
3,957

SOUTH AUSTRALIAN CRICKET ASSOCIATION INC
ABN 94 694 912 780
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2016
NOTE 24: FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
(a) Market price risk
Market price risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in market prices (other than those arising from interest rate risk or currency risk).
The Association does not have a material exposure to market price risk.

Sensitivity
Investments in listed securities at fair value through profit or loss are measured at fair value at reporting
date based on current bid prices. If security prices were to increase/decrease by 10% from fair values as at
the reporting date, assuming all other variables that might impact on fair value remain constant, then the
impact on profit for the year and equity is as follows:
Listed securities

2016
$'000
1,023
1,023

+/- 10% price variation
Impact on surplus

2015
$'000
1,001
1,001

(b) Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate as
a result of changes in market interest rates.
The Association's exposure to interest rate risk in relation to future cashflows and the effective weighted
average interest rates on classes of financial assets and financial liabilities is limited to its cash and cash
equivalents (Note 7) and Held to Maturity financial assets (Note 10), which attracted interest at a weighted
average rate of 2.50%. (2015: 2.55%).
The Association does not have a material exposure to currency risk.

(c) Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will cause a financial loss for the other party by
failing to discharge an obligation. Credit risk is managed and reviewed regularly by management. It arises
from exposures to customers and through deposits with financial institutions.
The maximum exposure to credit risk, excluding the value of any collateral or other security, at balance
date of recognised financial assets is the carrying amount of those assets, net of any provisions for
impairment of those assets, as disclosed in statement of financial position and notes to financial
statements.
The Association does not have any material credit risk exposure to any single debtor or group of debtors
under financial instruments entered into by the Association.
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NOTE 24: FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
The Association minimises concentrations of credit risk in relation to trade receivables by undertaking
transactions with a large number of customers.
(i) Cash deposits
Credit risk for cash deposits is managed by holding all cash deposits with major Australian financial
institutions having a credit rating of not less than BBB+ or being an Approved Deposit Taking Institution
(ADI)
(ii) Trade receivables
Credit risk for trade receivables is managed by setting credit limits and completing credit checks for new
customers. Outstanding receivables are regularly monitored for payment in accordance with credit terms.
The ageing analysis of trade and other receivables is provided in Note 8. As the Association undertakes
transactions with a large number of customers and regularly monitors payment in accordance with credit
terms, the financial assets that are neither past due nor impaired, are expected to be received in
accordance with the credit risk.

(d) Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that an entity will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with
financial liabilities.
The Association manages liquidity risk by monitoring forecast cash flows and ensuring that cash outflows
are closely matched to forecast inflows.

(e) Fair values
The net fair values of listed investments have been valued at the quoted market bid price at balance date
adjusted for transaction costs expected to be incurred. For other assets and liabilities the net fair value
approximates their carrying value. No financial assets are readily traded on organised markets in
standardised form other than listed investments. Financial assets where the carrying amount exceeds net
fair values, have not been written down as the Association intends to hold these assets to maturity.
The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities approximates their carrying amounts as disclosed in
statement of financial position and notes to financial statements.
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Note

2016
$'000

2015
$'000

NOTE 25: CAPITAL MANAGEMENT
The Board of Management controls the capital of the Association in order to maintain a good debt-toequity ratio and to ensure that the Association can fund its operations and continue as a going concern.
The Association's debt and capital includes financial liabilities, supported by financial assets.
The Board of Management effectively manage the Association's capital by assessing the Association's
financial risks and adjusting its capital structure in response to changes in these risks. These responses
include the effective management of debt levels and the restructure of their debt liability, if any.
There have been no changes in the strategy adopted by the Board of Management to control the capital of
the Association since the prior year. This strategy is to ensure that there is sufficient cash to meet trade and
sundry payables and borrowings, as and when they fall due.
The gearing ratios for the years ended 30 June 2016 and 30 June 2015 are calculated below:
Trade and other payables
6,095
Borrowings
13
Less cash and cash equivalents
(2,347)
Net debt
3,761

3,938
19
(1,677)
2,280

Total Members Funds
Total Debt plus Members Funds
Gearing Ratio (Net Debt/Net Debt + Total Members Funds)

78,433
80,713
2.82%
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84,670
88,431
4.25%

SOUTH AUSTRALIAN CRICKET ASSOCIATION INC
ABN 94 694 912 780
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2016
NOTE 26: FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT
(a) Fair Value Hierarchy
Assets and liabilities measured and recognised at fair value have been determined by the following fair
value measurement hierarchy:
Level 1:

Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2:

Input other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or
liability, either directly or indirectly

Level 3:

Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data

The following table provides the fair value classification of those assets and liabilities held by the group that
are measured either on a recurring or non-recurring basis at fair value.

2016

Level 1
$'000

Level 2
$'000

Level 3
$'000

Total
$'000

Recurring fair value measurements
Financial assets
Financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss
Shares in listed corporations

10,228

-

-

10,228

Total financial assets

10,228

-

-

10,228

Financial assets
Financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss
Shares in listed corporations

10,009

-

-

10,009

Total financial assets

10,009

-

-

10,009

2015
Recurring fair value measurements
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NOTE 27: EVENTS SUBSEQUENT TO REPORTING DATE
An agreement has been reached between Cricket Australia (CA) and the Association that commenced in the
2015/16 year and provides for a commitment of cricket matches at Adelaide Oval in exchange for a
financial commitment from the Association. A written agreement was entered into on 17 August 2016
between CA and the Association. The guaranteed payment the Association receives from CA is not
anticipated to be affected as a result of the aforementioned change.
There have been no other matters or circumstances which have arisen since 30 June 2016 that have
significantly affected or may significantly affect:
(a)
(b)
(c)

the operations, in financial years subsequent to 30 June 2016, of the Association, or
the results of those operations, or
the state of affairs, in financial years subsequent to 30 June 2016, of the Association.

NOTE 28: ASSOCIATION DETAILS
The registered office of the Association is:
South Australian Cricket Association Inc
Adelaide Oval
War Memorial Drive
North Adelaide SA 5006
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SOUTH AUSTRALIAN CRICKET ASSOCIATION INC
ABN 94 694 912 780
REPORT BY MEMBERS OF THE BOARD OF MANAGEMENT
In accordance with Section 35(5) of the Associations Incorporations Act (SA) 1985, the Board of
Management of South Australian Cricket Association Inc hereby states that during the financial
year:
a. (i) no officer of the Association
(ii) no firm of which an officer is a member; and
(iii) no body corporate in which an officer has a substantial financial interest,
Has received or become entitled to receive a benefit as a result of a contract between
the officer, firm or body corporate and the Association, except for the following:

(a) S.D.H. Parkinson - Sam Parkinson Marketing
Goods were provided by Sam Parkinson Marketing, a
related entity of S.D.H. Parkinson, on commercial terms
and conditions.

2016
$’000

2015
$’000

23

19

9

-

122
(11)

171
-

5

3

30

-

(b) Andrew Sinclair - Cowell Clarke
Legal services were rendered to Adelaide Oval SMA
Limited by Cowell Clarke, a related entity of Andrew
Sinclair, on commercial terms and conditions.
(c) R.W. Hill-Smith - Samuel Smith & Son Pty Ltd
Goods were provided to Adelaide Oval SMA Limited by
Samuel Smith & Son Pty Ltd, a related entity of R.W. Hill
Smith, on commercial terms and conditions.
Value of transactions (Sales)
Value of transactions (Payments)
(d) R. Phillips - Honorarium
An Honorarium was received from the Association in
connection with services rendered as a grade cricket
talent spotter on commercial terms and conditions.
(e) D.L. Marsh - Grant Thornton
Internal audit services were provided by Grant
Thornton, a related entity of D.L. Marsh, on commercial
terms and conditions.

b. no officer of the Association has received directly or indirectly from the Association any
payment or other benefit of pecuniary value.
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Above: Strikers fans young and old meet their heroes at Adelaide Oval.

Above: Betty Fullston with South Australian Premier, the Hon. Jay Weatherill at the launch of the Lyn Fullston Lawns.

THE BEER BEHIND CRICKET
IN SOUTH AUSTRALIA.
it pays to be a local
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